
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Development 
Control Board

Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman)
Councillor I D Armitt (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor S H Brown

Councillor J Burrell
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor S R Jarnell

Councillor J Jones
Councillor P Kelly

Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor C S McLean

Councillor D J Mote
Councillor R S L Perfitt
Councillor M I Peters

Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor Mrs R F Storey

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Thursday 13 December 2018 at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Managing Director
5 December 2018



INTRODUCTION
The function of the Development Control Board is to consider planning applications and also to take 
enforcement action against breaches of planning control and related matters.  

AGENDA LAYOUT
Reports on a planning application describes the application site, the proposed development, any 
relevant planning history, responses from those who have been consulted on the application along with 
any other comments received, and, lastly, a report on the main planning issues relevant to the 
application.  The reports also contain a recommendation to the Board Members, generally either for 
refusal or approval. The recommendation appears at the beginning and at the end of each report. There 
is a narrative by the Planning Officer of his/her consideration and the reason for refusal, or the 
conditions to be attached to an approval, are set out at the end of the report. 

UPDATE
The main agenda is printed some time before the Board meeting. The Update is a document which is 
prepared the day before the meeting and circulated to Members. It provides information about 
applications to be considered at the meeting which has emerged since the agenda was printed. This 
could include further comments from interested parties, recent changes to the application and 
amendments to the recommendation. Copies of the Update are made available to the public.

THE MEETING
The Chairman and Vice-Chairman sit on the dais at the front of the Council Chamber.  Planning Officers 
sit on their right and a legal representative and the Committee Co-ordinator usually sit on their left.  

The Chairman may take agenda items in an order which reflects the degree of public interest.   

The Chairman will propose each item and invite Members to indicate if they would like to discuss. If an 
item is not proposed for discussion, the Chairman will ask Members to vote in accordance with the 
Officer recommendation. However, those items where a member of the public has registered to speak 
against the Officer recommendation will be discussed by the Board.  There will be no need for public 
speakers to address the Board if the speaker was going to support the Officer recommendation. 

For items for discussion, the Planning Officer will usually make a presentation, describing the proposal, 
outlining the main planning considerations and concluding with the recommendation.  Where a request 
to speak has been made by 12 noon on the designated date, and granted, the Chairman will invite 
speakers to sit in a designated area equipped with microphones. Where the Officer’s recommendation is 
to allow the application, the objectors will have the opportunity to speak first, followed by any supporter.  
The reverse order will apply in cases where the Officer’s recommendation is that the application be 
refused. Each speaker will be allowed three minutes to make their points.  

Members or Officers may clarify any points with the speaker(s) before Members consider the 
application. Thereafter, no public speaking will be allowed and the speaker(s) will be asked to return to 
the public gallery.

The Chairman has the discretion to curtail or extend speaking in individual cases if it is considered 
appropriate.

SITE MEETINGS
If it becomes apparent during the Board’s deliberations on an application that the Board cannot fully 
appreciate the impact of a proposal without seeing the site first, Members may decide to defer the 
application so that a site meeting can be held.  If agreed, the item will not be discussed further at this 
meeting. 



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

 AGENDA

Thursday 13 December 2018

Update

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board 
or Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 8 
November 2018 

(Pages 5 - 10)

4. References from other committees 

5. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there 
are any urgent items and their position on the agenda.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

6. 18/01074/OUT Stone Lodge Complex, Cotton Lane, Stone, 
DA2 6PD 

(Pages 11 - 58)

Proposal
Outline application for erection of an 8 form entry secondary 
school, up to 140 residential dwellings in total across 2 sites and 
provision of 19ha of public open space (all matters reserved 
except access)

Recommendation
Approval

7. 18/00954/COU  Meeting Room Below 91 Hilltop Gardens, 
Dartford, Kent, DA1 5JF 

(Pages 59 - 66)

Proposal
The change of use of the meeting lounge to a 2 bedroomed 
adapted property and the use of the communal lawn as a private 
garden, with associated boundary treatment.

Recommendation

https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PDM0CSBQHT000
https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PCHCFVBQLQQ00


Approval

8. 18/01149/ FUL 7 New Barn Road, Southfleet, Kent, DA3 7LQ (Pages 67 - 74)

Proposal
Application to raise the height of the roof and erection of 
extensions for the conversion of the existing bungalow into five 
bedroomed two - storey detached dwelling.

Recommendation
Approval

9. 18/01141/VCON  Land adjacent to 1 North Road Dartford 
Kent DA1 3LS 

(Pages 75 - 80)

Proposal
Application for the variation of Condition 2 of planning 
permission DA/15/01167/FUL (granted on appeal) to allow the 
formation of a larger parking bay.

Recommendation
Approval

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION IN PUBLIC

10. Development Control Quarterly Statistics (Pages 81 - 88)

11. Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers (Pages 89 - 112)

https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PEH35BBQ00L00
https://publicaccess.dartford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PEGVEKBQKWM00


Appendix
UPDATE

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD
13th December 2018

Item 6 Stone Lodge complex, Cotton Lane 18/01074/OUT

UPDATED PROPOSAL

Two amended plans have been received which seek to address the concerns of KCC 
highways particularly in respect of the access from London Road into residential site 2.  KCC 
Highways have considered these amended plans and advise that they are acceptable. 

Paragraph 7 of the main report notes that appropriately 7 on-street car parking spaces are 
proposed to be provided along London Road to accommodate vehicles that are currently 
parked on the pavement illegally.  The applicant’s agent has confirmed that there may need 
to be a reduction in the number of on-street parking space following an initial Road Safety 
Audit which identifies that the vehicles might be within the visibility splays of the London 
Road access to residential site 2.  Condition 24 requires this on-street parking to be provided 
prior to the occupation of the school site to ensure that the pedestrian and cycle route to the 
school is safe and attractive.  I am of the view that although a reduction in the number of on-
street parking spaces is regrettable, this would not amount to a significant highway safety or 
amenity concern.  

CONDITIONS

The applicant has had an opportunity to consider the proposed conditions and has 
highlighted some concerns with a small number of them.  

Condition 53 and 82 relate to residential travel plans which are required by the highways’ 
authorities.  The applicant has made comments in respect of the practicalities of securing a 
meaningful travel plan on these fairly small residential sites. I would suggest the following 
amendments to the suggested conditions in the main report;

Conditions 53 and 82

The details pursuant to condition 1 (reserved matters) for the residential site 1/2 shall 
include, a Residential Travel Plan which should cover the following issues:

- Measures to be taken to encourage walking, cycling, use of public transport and reduce 
car travel by residents.

- The appointment of a Travel Plan co-ordinator during the design, pre-construction, 
construction and sale periods.

- Programme for implementation.



- A strategy for the monitoring and if necessary, the review of the Travel Plan in 
collaboration with KCC Highways and Highways England.

The approved Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
implementation programme.

Reason: To encourage sustainable methods of transport and to ensure that the impact 
of the proposal on the free and safe flow of traffic on the local and strategic highway 
network is kept to a minimum and to minimise the impact of the development on air 
quality in accordance with in accordance with Policies DP3, DP4 and DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan.

Conditions 31, 57 and 86 relate to lighting design for the school and residential sites.  The 
applicant has asked for the condition to be altered so that it is more specific in respect of the 
‘sensitive areas’ for bats and badgers.  I therefore suggest an alternative wording to that set 
out in the main agenda report as follows:

Conditions 31, 57 and 86

Prior to occupation of the school site hereby approved, details of any proposed external 
lighting (including floodlighting) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Such details shall include times of use for the floodlights, 
siting, angles, levels of illumination and any shields and shall identify those 
areas/features that are particularly sensitive for badgers and bats (including known 
roosts and setts, foraging and commuting habitat) and provide a map clearly showing 
the dark areas/corridors which are to be retained within the development. Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

In the interests of road safety, residential amenities, protection of wildlife and preserving 
the setting of the listed building to the west in accordance with Policies DP2, DP3, DP5, 
DP13 and DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

Conditions 94, 95, 99, 100 seek to secure further information in respect of archaeology and 
ecological requirements but only refer to the public open space.  I ask Members to agree to 
the inclusion of reference to the public car parks under these conditions to ensure that 
archaeology and ecology are also considered for the car park areas.  Further archaeology 
and ecology details for school and residential sites are secured under separate conditions.  

Conditions 94, 95, 99, 100

94 No development of the public open space or public car parks shall take place until the 
applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a 
programme of heritage interpretation work in accordance with a written specification and 
timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

94 To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and recorded 
in accordance with Policy DP12 of the adopted Local Plan.



95 No development of the public open space or public car parks shall take place until the 
applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of:
i archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and 
written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority; and 
ii following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure 
preservation in situ of important archaeological remains and/or further archaeological 
investigation and recording in accordance with a specification and timetable which has 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority

95 To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and recorded 
and that due regard is had to the preservation in situ of important archaeological remains 
in accordance with Policy DP12 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

99 Prior to the commencement of development on the public open space and public car 
parks, the results of a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal ('PEA') for that site shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written approval. The PEA shall include a 
review of the existing ecological survey data to assess if they are still valid or make 
recommendations as to any updated specific species surveys that need to be carried 
out. Where identified as necessary pursuant to the PEA, no works shall commence until 
the necessary detailed further specific species surveys have been carried out and the 
results of those surveys have been submitted as an update to the PEA and the Local 
Planning Authority has approved the updated PEA in writing.

99 In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy DP25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

100 Prior to the commencement of development on the public open space and public car 
parks, (including any ground works, site or vegetation clearance) a site-wide Ecological 
Mitigation Plan ('SWEMP') setting out proposed ecological mitigation relating to the 
development informed by the approved submitted surveys pursuant to condition (98) 
above shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
SWEMP shall include the following: 

(iii) An over view of the habitats/species present at the site; 
(ii) Details of the required ecological mitigation; 
(iii) An assessment as to whether ecological mitigation necessitates sensitive lighting 
design; 
(iv) Proposed methodology for implementation of the ecological mitigation for each 
species and /or habitats; 
(v) Maps and plans to show the extent and location of proposed mitigation works; 
(vi) Timetables for implementation of proposed mitigation works sufficient to 
demonstrate that the works are aligned with the proposed timetable for works relating to 
construction; 
(vii) Persons responsible for implementing the mitigation works, including times during 
construction when specialist ecologists will need to be present on site to undertake / 
oversee the mitigation works; 
(viii) Interim management and monitoring proposals to ensure that habitats 
created/enhanced as part of the SWEMP will be managed appropriately.  

The ecological works as set out in the SWEMP shall only be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details.



100 In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy DP25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

I also note that some of the conditions listing the drawings numbers will need to be changed 
following the receipt of the amended plans to deal with the amendments required by Kent 
Highways.  The recommendation before members would allow minor amendments to 
conditions under delegated powers and will allow the necessary changes to the drawing 
numbers version.  

RECOMMENDATION

That the recommendation remain as set out in the main agenda but that the following 
conditions: 53, 82, 31, 57, 86, 94, 95, 99, and 100; are amended in accordance with the 
details set out above. 



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

MINUTES of the meeting of the Development Control Board held on Thursday 8 
November 2018 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman)
Councillor I D Armitt JP (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor B Garden
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor P Kelly
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor R S L Perfitt
Councillor M I Peters
Councillor D J Reynolds

55. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Bardoe, 
Burrell, Hayes, Jones, Mote and LJ Reynolds and Mrs Storey.  Councillor 
Tom Maddison who had intended to appear as a substitute for Councillor 
Jones also tendered apologies as he was unwell.

The Board noted the appointment of Councillors Garden and DJ Reynolds as 
substitutes for Councillors Mote and LJ Reynolds respectively.

56. FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE AND ARRANGEMENTS AND 
CONSTRAINTS RELATING TO FILMING OR RECORDING THE MEETING. 

The Clerk to the Board explained the fire evacuation procedure and the 
arrangements and constraints relating to the filming or recording of the 
Meeting.

57. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest received.

58. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 11 
OCTOBER 2018 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the Development Control Board held on 11 October 2018 
be confirmed as a correct record of that meeting.



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 8 NOVEMBER 2018

2

59. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES 

The Chairman reported that there were no items referred for the Board to 
consider.

60. URGENT ITEMS 

It was noted that there were no urgent items for the Board to consider.

61. 18/01044/REM ST MARY'S CHURCH HALL, CHURCH HILL, STONE, 
KENT.  DA9 9BP 

The Board received a report on the submission, for approval, of reserved 
matters relating to access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale 
pursuant to Condition 1 of outline planning permission DA/14/01805/OUT 
relating to the demolition of the existing hall and erection of four 3 bedroom 
and two 2 bedroom apartments with communal parking, storage and amenity 
spaces.

Members’ attention was drawn to the update circulated, and in particular a 
proposed additional Condition relating to accessibility of ground floor 
properties.

RESOLVED

That the Application be approved subject to:

I. the Conditions, Reasons and Informatives set out in the Report; and 

II. the additional Condition and Reason set out in the update report.

62. 18/00941/FUL 1 BANKSIDE CLOSE, BEXLEY, KENT.  DA5 2HE 

The Board considered a report on an application for the erection of two storey 
side and single storey side extensions, together with the provision of roof 
lights in the front and rear elevations of the property.

Concern was expressed that the use of obscured glass should be stipulated in 
the Conditions for the glazing to the north – west elevation of the extension 
should the application be approved. 



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 8 NOVEMBER 2018

3

RESOLVED

That the application be approved subject to 

I. the Conditions and Reasons set out in the report.

II. the following additional Condition 
“05

Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved the windows in the 
north-west elevation of the single storey extension shall be fixed shut and 
obscure glazed with a minimum obscurity level of 3 as referred to in the 
Pilkington Texture Glass Range leaflet, or nearest equivalent as may be 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The windows shall remain 
fixed shut and the obscured glazing shall be maintained as such thereafter.

05
To safeguard the privacy of adjoining residents in accordance with Policies 
DP2 and DP5 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan;” 

63. 18/00732/VCON 22 THE LAURELS, LONGFIELD, KENT. 

The Board received a report on an application for a variation of Condition 2 
(approved drawings) of planning permission DA/16/01187/FUL in respect of 
alterations to an extension at this property.

It was noted that a report on this application had been deferred at the meeting 
of the Board held on 11 October 2018 to allow Officers and the applicant the 
opportunity to further discuss the application.

Members’ attention was also drawn to the update circulated.

The Chairman introduced Mrs Mulvihill who spoke against the application and 
Mr Dovey who supported it.

RESOLVED

I. That the details of the variation to Condition 2 of application 
DA/16/01187/ FUL, be approved; and,

II. A fresh planning consent be granted, 18/00732/VCON; subject to the 
Conditions and Reasons set out the report to the Board  

64. GUIDANCE NOTE FOR DEVELOPERS: CHARGING POINTS FOR 
ELECTRIC VEHICLES 

The Board received a report which presented a proposed Management 
Advice Note relating to the installation of electric vehicle charging points when 
determining relevant planning applications in the future.



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 8 NOVEMBER 2018

4

It was reported that Government Policy was moving toward reductions in 
numbers of conventional combustion engine vehicles and the cessation of the 
sale of Diesel engine cars and vans by 2040.  According it was logical to 
introduce planning policies to support this.

An Advice Note had therefore been produced to provide developers with 
further information regarding the provision of electric vehicle charging points 
within developments, which clarified the relevant requirements within the 
adopted Parking Standards SPD. 

Additionally it was explained that that the principles contained in the Note 
were to be included as material considerations when determining future 
relevant planning applications across the Borough. 

It was also proposed that the Note should be passed to the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation with a request that it adopts the principles as being 
Material Considerations when dealing with any relevant planning applications 
within Dartford Borough.

The Board welcomed the proposals but asked if they could be extended so 
that the requirement for the provision of Electric Vehicle Charging Points be 
applied to include larger householder extensions. 

RESOLVED 

I. That the Development Management Advice Note on Electric Vehicle 
Charging Points, amended to include larger householder extensions, 
be noted and forwarded to Cabinet for  endorsement and inclusion as 
a material consideration for development management purposes 
when considering any relevant planning applications; and,

II. That the Cabinet be asked to pass the Note to the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation with a request that it be treated the as a 
material consideration for development management purposes when 
considering any relevant planning applications within Dartford Borough.

65. DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

Members received, for information, a report on the decisions taken by Officers 
under delegated powers for the period 27 September to 24 October 2018.

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

The meeting closed at 8.17 pm



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

THURSDAY 8 NOVEMBER 2018

5

Councillor D E HUNNISETT
CHAIRMAN





DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

13 December 2018

Reference: 18/01074/OUT Officer: Mrs Emma Eisinger

Location: Stone Lodge Complex
Cotton Lane
Stone
Kent

Proposal: Outline application for erection of an 8 form entry secondary school, up to 140 
residential dwellings in total across 2 sites and provision of 19ha of public open 
space (all matters reserved except access)

Applicant: Dartford Borough Council/Mr Tony Phillips

Agent: Wood Plc/Mrs Stephanie Chettle-Gibrat

Parish / Ward: Stone Parish Council / Stone

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval of outline planning permission subject to the conditions set out below (allowing for 
minor amendments to the wording of these conditions under delegated powers) and a Section 
106 Agreement securing the obligations set out at paragraph 131 of this report (allowing for 
minor changes to the obligations under delegated powers).

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) The total site area is approximately 26ha and is located approximately 1.1 miles to the 
east of Dartford Town Centre.  The land is currently open/undeveloped with 'heathland like' 
vegetation and sits to the east of Cotton Lane and to the north of London Road.  The land is 
owned by Dartford Borough Council and is used informally for recreational purposes, mainly 
dog-walking. 

(2) The land levels vary considerably across the site but generally rise upwards to the 
centre of the site from London Road on the western side.  The eastern part of the site is cut 
through by a steep sided former river valley running through the centre of the site.  The northern 
part of the site where it meets Cotton Lane is the lowest point. The Dartford Judo and Bowls 
clubs sit on land to the north of the proposed school site and there are new residential 
developments on the west side of Cotton Lane.  The application site lies approximately 124 
metres to the east of the grade II listed Stone House Hospital and the grade II listed chapel of 
St Luke at Stone House Hospital. The application site once formed part of a larger area of land 
that was originally used as a farm for the former Stone House Hospital and so there is an historic 
link between the two.  Residential properties lie opposite the application site to the south as 
well as The Welsh Tavern Public House.  There is also a local convenience shop on the corner 
of London Road and Hillhouse Road.

(3) Two Overhead Power Lines cross the site with supporting pylons located within the 
centre of the site and close to the southern boundary within the proposed smaller residential 
site (site 2).   The site also lies within a Minerals Safeguarding Zone as set out in the Kent 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2016) for River Terrace Deposits (sharp sand and gravel).   
The site is identified as having archaeological potential and lies within Source Protection Zone 
3 for groundwater.  There are former landfill sites to the north, east and northwest of the 
application site. An underground oil pipeline passes through the eastern part of the site a few 
metres to the east of the proposed smaller residential site.  A medium pressure gas pipeline 
runs along London Road to the south.  



(4) Vehicular accesses to the site would be from London Road which is within an Air 
Quality Management Area (AQMA) and Cotton Lane.  

(5) Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar Site and South Thames Estuary and Marshes 
SSSI lies 7.11 miles to the east of the application site.  The Darenth Wood SSSI lies 1.2 miles 
to the southeast of the application site.  The West Thurrock Lagoon & Marshes SSSI lies 1.3 
miles to the north of the application site.  The Inner Thames Marshes SSSI lies 2.9 miles to the 
northwest of the application site.  

THE PROPOSAL

(6) The proposal is for outline planning permission with all matters reserved except for 
access, for the development of up to 140 dwellings on two separate parcels of land and for the 
development of an 8 form entry secondary school.

(7) The larger residential site (2ha) (known as site 1) would be located to the east of the 
existing bowls club with access from London Road and an emergency, pedestrian and cycle 
access via Cotton Lane.  A smaller area of housing (1ha) (known as site 2) would be located 
on the north side of London Road with access directly from London Road.  The application 
documents indicate that both residential parcels would provide dwellings at a density of 45 
dwelling per ha - i.e. approximately 45 dwellings on the smaller parcel fronting London Road 
and approximately 90 dwellings on the larger parcel to the east of the Bowls Club.   The 
applicant has confirmed that 30% of these dwellings would be affordable of which half would 
be for shared ownership and half would be for affordable/social rented.  The maximum height 
of the residential properties is proposed to be 8 metres/2.5 storeys – although this is not set.

(8) The proposed 8 form entry secondary school is to be provided on an area of 3.2ha 
within the southwest corner of the site. The total number of pupils at the school would be 1200 
in addition to a 250 place sixth form.   It is expected that there would be approximately 100 full-
time equivalent members of staff. The school site will be owned by the Secretary of State for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government and it is intended that it would be leased on a 
125 years agreement to the Endeavour Trust for the Stone Lodge Academy. Vehicular access 
to the school is proposed from London Road.  The set parameters for the school building show 
a maximum of 3 storeys (up to 13m high) and a floor area of 10,700 m2.  The indicative plans 
show that it would be located towards the southeast portion of the site.  The indicative plan also 
shows a car park with 200 spaces for staff and visitors and an external play area of 22,600 m2.  
The proposed access to the school is designed to cater for a high volume of vehicles with a 
mini roundabout at the end and a layby which is intended to be used for coach parking.  The 
access has also been designed to cater for future use by the larger residential development 
(residential site 1).

(9) The remaining area of the application site (19ha) is proposed as public open space 
with new footpaths running through the site and new access points from Cotton Lane and 
London Road.  Public Right of Way DR9 would need to be diverted as this currently cuts through 
the proposed school site.  The diverted footpath is proposed to enter the site from Cotton Lane 
close to the boundary with the Bowls Club and continue in an easterly direction cutting across 
the proposed 2ha residential parcel of land (residential site 1).  There is currently an application 
being considered by KCC Public Rights of Way team for this diversion but this will be dependant 
upon planning permission being granted.

(10) Two public car parks are proposed within the site to serve the proposed public open 
space.  These would be located off London Road and at the top of Cotton Lane.  Each car park 
would provide at least 20 spaces.  There are no details provided as to whether there would be 
restrictions on the use of these car parks in respect of maximum number of hours or whether 
payment would be required.  On street parking for approximately 7 vehicles is proposed along 
an approximately 40 metre stretch of London Road.  This is to cater for vehicles that currently 
park illegally on the footway of London Road in connection with residential and business 
premises close by.  



(11) The proposal would necessitate various works to the existing highway.  These include 
works to facilitate the access to the smaller residential site (site 2) from London Road; a 
signalised junction (including pedestrian crossings) on London Road into the main access to 
the school site and residential site 1; widening of footway along eastern side of Cotton Lane to 
create a shared cycleway/footway; enhanced footway/cycle way along London Road and 
Cotton Lane; realignment of existing London Road/Cotton Lane traffic signal junction to widen 
the pedestrian/cycle waiting area on the north-eastern corner; providing an additional turning 
lane from Cotton Lane, lengthening two lanes on London Road; two uncontrolled pedestrian 
crossings on Cotton Lane; relocation of bus stops on London Road to the west and extending 
the 30 mph speed limit on Cotton Lane beyond Bow Arrow Lane. 

(12) The overhead powerlines are planned to be 'undergrounded' by UK Power Networks.  
The timescale for this is not certain at the moment.

(13) In terms of phasing of the development, the school site and public open space is 
planned to come forward first with both residential sites following later on.  Members should 
note that this is subject to change and that all elements of the development will be subject to 
the submission of reserved matters applications.  

(14) An amended Masterplan has been submitted which shows a different route for the 
diverted PROW DP9 following comments from KCC PROW Officer and to show more practical 
links to the adjacent land to the east.

RELEVANT HISTORY

(15) 04/00362/FUL Erection of a detached 2 storey building to provide a judokwai centre 
together with associated courtyard, parking spaces and vehicle access and landscaping - 
approved.

(16) 04/00432/OUT Outline application for the redevelopment of land to provide recreation 
and leisure facilities, to include a 2 storey sports centre with associated parking, 2 synthetic turf 
pitches and floodlighting, 4 adult football pitches, 4 tennis courts and floodlighting, an ecology 
and wildlife sanctuary, an adventure playground, together with a new vehicular access, 
alterations to existing vehicular accesses and pedestrian accesses with a network of pedestrian 
and cycle paths and landscaping across the site - approved but not implemented. 

(17) 06/00076/FUL Erection of 6m high grass finished boundary screens, together with a 
new single storey pavilion with front canopy and the creation of a six rink bowls lawn with a 
2.5m high boundary hedge and associated car parking - approved.

(18) In 2016, a request for a screening opinion was submitted to determine whether an 
Environmental Impact Assessment would be required to support an outline planning application 
for redevelopment to provide a range of uses through provision of new secondary school, rugby 
club, housing and informal and formal recreation space.  The proposals are considered as 
Schedule 2 development.  It was concluded that the development did not require the submission 
of an Environmental Statement as it did not have a significant impact on the environment.  

(19) 17/02105/FUL - the development of the northwest corner of the Stone Lodge site as a 
Rugby Club with 2 sports pitches and a 2 storey clubhouse.  This was approved by the 
Development Control Board on 15th March 2018. Work is currently underway on the 
construction of the Rugby Club.

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(20) Sports England    - note that the proposed development does not fall within their remit 
to comment but they do provide general guidance on the provision of new sports facilities and 
note that new housing will generate demand for sports facilities in the local area.  In a second 
set of comments, they queried the distance of the residential site 1 from the closest rugby pitch 
on the adjacent site.  Clarification was provided and Sport England confirmed that they had no 
objection. 



(21) Health & Safety Executive  - The site lies outside the consultation zone for major hazard 
sites or major hazard pipelines.  

(22) NHS/Community Health Partnerships    - Note that the development will place additional 
pressures on GP services in the area and that additional funding is required to address this.  
This funding would help to facilitate a new health hub in Dartford Town Centre, a new primary 
care facility in Greenhithe/Stone and provide additional capacity at individual GP Practices.  
The CCG will enter into discussions with the Council to collect money through CIL to address 
the need and deliver the improved and new facilities.  

(23) Kent Highway Services have no objection to the development subject to conditions to 
secure the various highway mitigation works required to ensure that there would be no harmful 
impact on highway safety and amenity.  They note however that the current access for 
residential site 2 would not be able to accommodate a refuse vehicle exiting the site and request 
a revised plan to address this.  They note that a travel plan will be submitted and ask that a 
contribution of £1000 per year for five years is made to KCC Highways for monitoring the 
actions within this document. They also note that a new school peak hour bus service is 
required and request a contribution of £47,540 per year for three years to support this service.  
They note that a Road Safety Audit has been submitted and that this does not show any clusters 
of incidents that highlight any existing issues on the local highway network. They consider the 
trip generation from the development and the impact on the local highway network noting the 
mitigation measures required to address impacts identified.  They notes that the transport 
consultant has considered mitigation measures for junctions affected by the development. 
However, due to the constraints of the junctions, physical mitigation such as increased flares - 
is limited. Therefore, in the majority of cases mitigation would need to be in the form of traffic 
signals. Where traffic flows generated by the development are low at the junction, the 
justification for large schemes (as signal junctions) is minimised. In addition, they note that KCC 
do not want to introduce traffic signals in these locations due to the nature of the A226 which is 
a key route, where delays (caused by traffic signals) should be minimised. Instead, recognising 
the high proportion of model shift that is being sought by Dartford Borough Council, KCC 
requested that a package of measures are introduced to encourage modal shift. These include 
new pedestrian and cycle infrastructure on the existing network, vouchers towards public 
transport tickets or new bikes (for residents), an additional school bus service and enforceable 
Travel Plans.  They note that parking provision is at an acceptable level.  They ask that one of 
the plans is amended to remove reference to the removal of parking (which is on third party 
land) for the public house opposite the site as this cannot be prevented through the application 
or by KCC.  

(24) Highways England    - They note that there was missing information with the application 
as initially submitted. Additional information was provided by the applicant to address this and 
HE responded with some queries over the data.  The developer provided clarification on all of 
the queries raised and HE accept that the development would have a negligible impact on the 
Strategic Road Network.   They therefore raise no objection to the development subject to 
conditions to secure a Travel Plan for both the residential and school sites.  

(25) Stone Parish Council    - no comments received.

(26) Arriva Southern Counties Ltd   - No comments received. 

(27) KCC Public Rights of Way (PROW) Officer - The site is of high importance to local 
residents.  A condition must be included within any consent to secure an improvement to this 
PROW.  New surfacing works should be carried out by the developer to an agreed specification. 
Any ongoing maintenance of the other footpaths across the site would be the responsibility of 
the developer and not them.  They confirm that the developer has submitted an application to 
them for the diversion of DR9 as is currently cuts across the proposed school site.  They initially 
had concerns about the diversion route through the larger residential site noting that the 
realigned route should be given preference in the road layout so that it is away from vehicular 
traffic.  They advise that consideration should therefore be given to a green access corridor 



through the residential site.  The planning application and the PROW diversion application have 
been amended to address these concerns.  The PROW officer does not object to the 
development providing careful consideration is given to the interaction between the PROW and 
roads within residential site 1 at the reserved matters stage. They recommend conditions to 
ensure that no development takes place over the alignment of DR9 until an Order for its 
permanent diversion has been made and confirmed and that the surfacing works are secured.  

(28) Thames Water Utilities    - note that there is an inability of the existing foul water network 
infrastructure to accommodate the needs of this development.  They request a condition to 
ensure that no properties are occupied until confirmation has been provided that either all 
wastewater network upgrades have been completed or, a housing and infrastructure phasing 
plan has been agreed with them to allow additional properties to be occupied.  The surface 
water details indicate that there will no be discharge to the public network and as such they 
have no objection.  They also note that there is an inability of the water network infrastructure 
to accommodate the needs of the development and seek to secure a condition to prevent 
occupation of the properties until water network upgrades have been completed or to secure a 
housing and infrastructure plan.  The presence of a strategic water main is noted and various 
minimum building distances set out.  

(29) Environment Agency    - The site lies on a principal aquifer and partially over a Source 
Protection Zone (3).  This means that the controlled waters are sensitive to pollution and there 
is a high/medium risk of pollution from the previous uses of this site.  In light of this, the proposed 
development will be acceptable if certain planning conditions are included.  These conditions 
seek to secure a remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of 
the site, a verification report demonstrating that the remediation strategy has been effective, 
prevention of piling or other foundations using penetrative methods and to ensure that there is 
no infiltration of surface water into the ground without the written consent of the LPA.  They 
note that the submitted reports provide them with confidence that it should be possible to 
suitably manage the risk posed to controlled waters by this development with further details 
provided at the condition stage and prior to the commencement of development.  

(30) Kent Fire Brigade    - no comment.

(31) KCC Biodiversity - They are satisfied with the range of surveys which have been carried 
out. The documents have detailed the following has being recorded during the surveys: 7 
species of bats foraging; 29 species of breeding birds ; Common lizards and grass snake; 430 
invertebrate species - 27 of which are Nationally scarce, 6 Red Data book and 1 is a priority 
species and foraging/commuting badgers. The 2012 habitat survey assessed the grassland on 
site as neutral grassland but not the quality required to be a priority habitat - this was backed 
up by the findings of the botanical and invertebrate report which indicated that the quality of the 
grassland had declined due to a lack of management. They have reviewed the mitigation 
strategy and due to the area of open space proposed they are satisfied that the proposed 
ecological mitigation can be implemented and if the site is managed appropriately in the long 
term the ecological interests of the site can be retained.  In respect of bats, they are satisfied 
that no emergence surveys are required.  However, if trees are to be removed as part of the 
development, a detailed tree assessment and emergence surveys will be required.  They 
strongly recommend that the development is designed to retain the trees on site. There is a 
need to ensure that dark areas are retained at the site to limit the impact on bats.  The proposed 
management of the open space is likely to enhance this area for biodiversity and the application 
provides opportunities to incorporate features into the built design which are beneficial to 
wildlife. They suggest that the reserved matters plans must demonstrate what ecological 
enhancements will be incorporated in to the built development and landscaping within these 
areas. The submitted information is sufficient to determine the outline planning application 
however there will be a need for more detailed information to be submitted at the reserved 
matters stage.

(32) KCC Heritage-Archaeology    - There are Listed Buildings nearby, including Stone 
House Hospital and its chapel to the west and St Mary's Church, Stone c.1km to the east. There 
is also a locally important War Memorial just beyond the south east corner of the site. Although 
parts of the site have been subject to previous ground disturbance, there is potential for 



significant heritage assets to be affected by this complex development scheme. The 
archaeological and historical resources within the site are multi-period and range from potential 
early prehistoric remains through to WWII structures and activity. The heritage assets of this 
site need to be appropriately dealt with through appropriate mitigation for buried and upstanding 
archaeology, historic buildings and historic landscapes. In addition to mitigation for heritage 
assets, this development presents an opportunity for heritage enhancement measures, 
especially within the public open space. A wide variety of exemplary positive heritage measures 
could be achieved with this scheme particularly through liaison with the local community groups 
and the new school. As such the approach to heritage issues for this scheme needs to be multi-
phased and broad-ranging. It is essential for this scheme to be supported by a Heritage 
Framework Strategy for dealing with the historic environment and key heritage assets.  
Following the receipt of a Historic Landscape Assessment and Geoarchaeological Assessment 
KCC Archaeology have no objection subject to conditions to secure the submission of further 
field evaluation works and safeguarding measures as well as a condition to secure a Heritage 
Interpretation programme.  

(33) Alltree Consultancy Ltd   - Encourages the retention of as many trees as possible.  In 
response to the submitted Tree Report, they accept its findings and note that there are mature 
Oaks within the site that will not tolerate close disturbance.  These might need to be protected 
in the future.  

(34) Environmental Health - The noise assessment is accepted and its findings agreed.  If 
external areas are used for teaching, careful consideration should be given to the noise 
environment for the students and teachers with the use of acoustic screening if necessary.  In 
respect of the residential part of the development, it should be easy for the developer to choose 
a suitable design, construction and/or mitigation measures to meet relevant noise exposure 
requirements.  In terms of air quality, they accept the submitted Air Quality Assessment and 
note that there is an overestimation of pollution levels when compared to recent monitoring 
carried out by the Council.  The assessment is accepted as representing a conservative 
approach.  The assessment demonstrates that some existing receptors are likely to experience 
adverse effects as a result of the development and therefore mitigation measures are required.  
They are satisfied with the submitted air quality mitigation costs calculator that sets out the 
required mitigation to minimise the impact of the development.  In terms of contaminated land, 
they accept the submitted assessment and recommendations for intrusive site investigations.  
This site investigation should also consider the risk from offsite sources including the nearby 
landfill sites. 

(35) Natural England    - no comment.

(36) KCC Minerals & Waste    - no comment.

(37) Esso Petroleum Company Ltd    - no comment.

(38) UK Power Networks    - Note that a substation is located within 6m of the proposed 
development.  They object to the development because the developer has not served notice 
on them under the Party Wall Act 1996 - this is not a planning matter and should not therefore 
form part of the consideration of this planning application. 

(39) Kent Police Crime Prevention    - no comment.

(40) Gravesham Borough Council    - No objection to the proposal and no comments.  

(41) KCC SUDs Team - satisfied with the principles proposed, namely the use of infiltration 
to deal with surface water run-off from the development and the omittance of any properties 
within the area shown as surface water flow path.  As a part of the full application they expect 
a site wide surface water master strategy to be submitted which clearly demonstrates the 
principles proposed for each of the forthcoming development areas.  They recommend 
conditions to secure the submission of a detailed sustainable surface water drainage scheme 
for the whole site, the submission of an operation and maintenance manual for the sustainable 
drainage scheme, to secure a Verification Report and to ensure that infiltration is only allow 



within those parts of the site where information is submitted to demonstrate that there is not 
resultant risk to controlled waters and/or ground stability.  

(42) Kent Wild Life Trust    - no comments received

(43) The Ramblers Association    - no comments received

(44) Housing Strategy Manager    - Agrees with the Affordable Housing Statement. 

(45) KCC Education & Libraries    - Seek to secure contributions towards community 
learning (£5,316.14); library bookstock (£6,722.21); social care (£6,599.60) and 2 wheelchair 
adaptable homes.  They note that primary and secondary school contributions would be 
secured via CIL.  Lastly, they have asked that an informative is added to highlight the 
importance of providing high speed fibre optic broadband within the site. 

(46) National Grid Plant Protection    - No objection noting that there is a High Voltage 
Transmission Overhead Line and Tower in close proximity to the application site.  

(47) Southern Gas Networks  - there is a medium pressure gas pipeline close to the site.  
There should be no mechanical excavation taking place above or within 0.5m of the pipeline.

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(48) Site notices were posted on and around the application site and there was also a press 
notice issued.  In total 17 representations have been received, 13 of which object, 2 support 
and 2 make general observations. A summary of their comments is as follows:

o The development will generate additional traffic on the roads which are already 
frequently congested, especially when the Dartford Crossing becomes congested;

o The pollution and other environmental considerations have not been fully analysed;
o No details of the impact on local buses and concern that the existing provision is too 

infrequent;
o The new secondary school is needed and would help to build a community atmosphere;
o It is about time that this land was put to good use;
o There should be a large proportion of affordable housing in the residential parts;
o Concern over the adequacy of infrastructure to support the housing in respect of GP 

Practices and dentists;
o Cotton Lane to the north of the site is a single track road and is dangerous for residents 

- it should be widened and lit;
o Stone Crossing Railway Station is too small to cope with additional residents and the 

trains are too infrequent;
o Generally supportive of the proposed open space;
o The development would 'severely' impact on the residents who use the fields for 

walking/dog walking;
o They are already advertising for school places for the proposed school - is it already a 

'done deal'?
o The existing 40mph speed limit on Cotton Lane and lack of pavement/lighting is 

dangerous;
o Local roads are often used for parking at school run times for The Brent Primary School.  

This will be made worse by the proposed development;
o The 'desire line' shown on the original masterplan would pass through an existing 

building on the adjacent land and this is impractical;
o Increases in air pollution as a result of the development and placing a school in an area 

already affected by air pollution is wrong;
o The part of London Road where the proposed access for the school would be provided 

is an accident 'hot spot';
o Noise levels from the proposed school have not been considered;
o Views across the site from the residential site opposite would be altered.



(49) One of the representations is made on behalf of the Stone Triangle Community 
Association and the Chair of the Stone Neighbourhood Development Plan. They are seriously 
concerned about the traffic problems that would result if the development is approved.  Traffic 
is already particularly bad at school drop-off and pick-up times and the proposed secondary 
school will exacerbate the existing problems.  They consider that air pollution will be 
exacerbated and will result in a serious threat to human health.

RELEVANT POLICIES

(50) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(51) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy adopted 2011

CS1: Spatial Pattern of Development
CS4: Ebbsfleet to Stone Priority Area
CS9: Skills and Training
CS10: Housing Provision
CS11: Housing Delivery
CS14: Green Space
CS15: Managing Transport Demand
CS17: Design of Homes
CS18: Housing Mix
CS19: Affordable Housing
CS21: Community Services
CS22: Sports, Recreation and Cultural Facilities
CS23: Minimising Carbon Emissions
CS24: Flood Risk
CS25: Water Management

(52) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017

DP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
DP2: Good Design
DP3: Transport Impacts of Development
DP4: Transport Access and Design
DP5: Environmental and Amenity Protection
DP6: Sustainable Residential Locations
DP8: Residential Space and Design in New Development
DP9: Local Housing Need
DP11: Sustainable Technology and Construction
DP12: Historic Environmental Strategy
DP13: Designated Heritage Assets
DP21: Securing Community Facilities
DP24: Open Space
DP25: Nature Conservation and Enhancement

(53) Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016.

CSM 1: Sustainable Development
CSM 5: Land-won Mineral Safeguarding
DM 7: Safeguarding Minerals Resources
DM 9: Prior Extraction of Minerals in Advance of Surface Development.

(54) Kent Minerals and Waste Safeguarding Supplementary Planning Document 2017.

(55) Dartford Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document 2012



(56) The NPPF is also a material consideration. The following chapters and paragraphs are 
of particular relevance: chapter 2 - achieving sustainable development; paragraph 54-56 - 
planning conditions and obligations; chapter 5 - delivering a sufficient supply of homes; chapter 
8 - promoting healthy and safe communities; chapter 9 - promoting sustainable transport; 
chapter 11 - making effective use of land; chapter 12 - achieving well-designed places; chapter 
14 - meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change; chapter 15 - 
conserving and enhancing the natural environment;  chapter 16 - conserving and enhancing 
the historic environment and chapter 17 - facilitating the sustainable use of minerals.

(57) Also a material planning consideration is the 'Stone Lodge Marketing Brief' 2015 
(endorsed by Cabinet on 22nd October 2015).  This identifies an area of 32ha for future 
development and highlights a number of constraints and opportunities for the site.  This clearly 
steers development of the site as recreational use but acknowledges that there may need to be 
enabling development such as housing to achieve the Council's aspirations for the site. In this 
case, 'a centre of excellence for sport and recreation' with a contribution to the Green Grid 
network is promoted.  

(58) The Electric Vehicle Charging Points Advice Note which sets out the level of EV 
charging points to be provided for residential and other development within the Borough was 
considered by the Development Control Board in November.  It is being reported to the Cabinet 
on 6th December 2018 with a recommendation that they endorse the document as a material 
planning consideration.   

COMMENTS

Key Issues

(59) I consider the key issues to be the principle of the development, the impact on highway 
safety and amenity; visual amenities and the landscape impact; the impact on heritage assets; 
the impact on residential amenities; housing mix, type and density; the impact on air quality; 
the impact on mineral resources; the impact on ecology/biodiversity as well as other matters 
including the key elements of the Section 106 Agreement; surface water drainage, flooding and 
contaminated land.  

Principle of development

(60) The development site lies within one of the key priority areas for development within 
the Borough.  Policy CS1 (Spatial Pattern of Development) identifies Ebbsfleet to Stone for 
development and seeks to "integrate existing communities with the new facilities that these 
developments can provide".  Policy CS4 (Ebbsfleet to Stone Priority Area) focuses on this 
priority area for development and seeks to promote sites that link together existing and new 
communities and provide a wide choice of jobs, retail, leisure and community facilities.  New 
residential development is planned for at Stone as well as "a distinctive network of 
multifunctional green spaces defining each community and serving recreational and biodiversity 
functions.  This will include natural habitat enhancement and making existing spaces publically 
accessible at…the eastern side of Stone Lodge…". Policy CS4 also requires proposals at Stone 
to demonstrate that adequate traffic management measures are put in place to address 
capacity issues on London Road, taking into account all proposed developments in Stone. 
Measures may include provision for local highway and public transport improvements. 

(61) I note that the residential use of some of the site is accepted in principle under Polices 
CS1 and CS22 (where non sporting development is needed to enable sport and recreational 
uses).  In addition, the provision of housing within the Ebbsfleet to Stone Priority Area is set out 
in Policy CS10 (Housing Provision). The site has been assessed under the Strategic Housing 
Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) (2010).   Stone Lodge is identified (developable) as 
having potential for providing 530 dwellings over an area of 32ha.  These are estimated to be 
delivered between 2015/16-2024/25.  The site was concluded to be 'developable' under this 
assessment as a way of enabling recreational use of the wider site and is included within the 
longer term housing delivery figures for the Borough.  It is not therefore a 'windfall' site. The 



proposed number of houses under the current scheme would be less than the proposed number 
under the SHLAA by approximately 360.  This is largely because of the proposal for the school 
which occupies 3.2ha of the site area.  I do not have any particular concerns about the reduced 
number of dwellings proposed for this site given this Council's strong position in respect of 
housing land supply and good housing delivery rates.  In addition, I consider that the provision 
of a much needed school for this part of the Borough should be given significant weight. It is 
widely understood that the boom in birth rates that was witnessed nationally, and has led to 
extensive pressure on primary school provision, is now leading to a pressing need to plan and 
deliver enhanced secondary age provision (which coincides with accelerating overall population 
expansion in Dartford). In their most recent response on the Dartford Local Plan, the education 
authority (KCC) confirm the issue of a "shortage" of land for schools is a challenge and that 
they seek a statement of intent that land will be allocated in future to this end. The proposed 
school at Stone Lodge will address this need to a great extent.  Policy CS9 is devoted to skills 
and training, which remains a salient issue in the Borough; and adequate secondary school 
provision must be regarded as an essential prerequisite to achieving local skills objectives 
which have widespread support in applicable policies for Dartford.  The significant weight that I 
attach to the provision of the secondary school as part of this application is therefore justified 
in my view.  

(62) Policy CS21 (Community Services) seeks to ensure that new facilities benefit existing 
and new communities.  The school would be seen as a significant benefit in this respect. Policy 
CS22 (Sports, Recreation and Cultural Facilities) seeks to extend sports and recreational 
facilities in the Borough.  Stone Lodge is identified under this Policy and seeks to secure centres 
of excellence for sport and recreation.  The public open space element of the development 
would provide recreational space and the school would provide playing fields with sports 
facilities and would therefore be compliant with Policy CS22.  

(63) The application site is identified under Policy CS14 (Green Space) as a 'Proposed 
Green Space in Development Sites.'  Under this policy, development is expected to contribute 
towards the Green Grid network of green spaces. The Dartford Proposals Map identifies the 
application site as a Biodiversity Opportunity Area.  This links back to Policy CS14 and also 
Policy DP25 (Nature Conservation and Enhancement).  This policy seeks to ensure that 
development preserves and, wherever possible, enhances existing habitats and ecology 
quality.  The proposal would include a large area of public open space which includes a 
significant area of land for wildlife protection and enhancement.  I therefore consider that the 
development would comply with these Policies.  

(64) The proposed development would be primarily for public open space in terms of the 
amount of land it occupies within the overall area of the site.   This is supported by policies CS1, 
CS4, CS22, CS14, CS22, CS14 and DP25 and the proposal would be compliant with the 
Development Plan in this respect.  These policies seek to ensure that the principle element of 
the development of the Stone Lodge site should be the provision of public open space/use of 
the land for recreation with other development coming forward to support/enable this. The 
application is accompanied by a Public Open Space Management Plan.  This sets out the future 
vision for the use of the open space and details of how it will be managed. It is also 
acknowledged that the development of part of the Stone Lodge site as a Rugby Club (separate 
application) has helped to fulfil some of the recreational aspirations for this site. 

(65) Overall, therefore, I consider that the proposed development would be acceptable in 
principle.

Highway safety and amenity: 

(66) The submitted Transport Assessment (TA) assesses the impact of the development on 
local and strategic roads that would be affected by the proposal, including Junction 1A of the 
M25 (Dartford Crossing).  

(67) The TA considers the potential increase in traffic as a consequence of the development.  
The traffic data predicts that as many as 638 AM peak car trips associated with student drop 
off would be generated by the proposed school and 641 in the school PM peak.  In terms of the 



public open space, the TA predicts that approximately 170 trips would be generated on 
Saturdays and Sundays and approximately 10 trips on weekdays.  For the residential sites, the 
TA predicts that there would be approximately 100 trips at the AM peak and 95 in the PM peak.  
The TA then examines the distribution of traffic on the local highway network to consider the 
capacity of those roads to cater for the predicted increases in traffic. This looks at where 
students will be travelling from and to with the majority coming from the Temple Hill area and 
The Bridge.  The TA considers that the greatest network constraint within the area is the junction 
capacity and examines the capacity of each junction which might be affected by the 
development taking into account other committed development in the area.  The TA applies a 
'nil detriment' approach to the junctions meaning that the development should not result in the 
transport network being worse off with the development than it would be without it.  Mitigation 
has been identified as being required on the London Road/Cotton Lane junction.  This would 
require an additional turning lane from Cotton Lane, increasing the length of two lanes on 
London Road and increasing the width of the footway in the north-western corner of the junction.  
This mitigation would be secured by a Grampian condition.   

(68) The TA identifies some impact on The Brent/Watling St/St Vincent's Road roundabout.   
KCC Highways have considered the mitigation measures required for this junction and note 
that it would actually only increase capacity for a small number of cars.  The cost in terms of 
providing this mitigation as well as the disruption to the road network during the construction of 
these mitigation works is not considered to be worthwhile.  KCC Highways have suggested that 
a better approach would be to consider a wider package of mitigation measures with resources 
being better directed towards enabling and encouraging a modal shift away from the car.  They 
are of the view that this would have more of a mitigation impact than the 'tweaking' of The Brent 
roundabout or other junctions close to the site.  

(69) For Junction 1a of the M25, the TA notes that the impact of the development flows is 
negligible in terms of capacity implications and that there are no physical mitigation measures 
required.  This has factored in planned signal optimisation.   Highways England have carefully 
considered the TA and agree with its findings.  They have no objection to the scheme subject 
to securing Travel Plans for the school and residential sites.  I have recommended conditions 
to secure these.  

(70) In terms of buses, nine services pass through the area surrounding the site.  It is 
generally agreed that there are a good number of services passing the site at a good frequency 
serving a variety of destinations.  The existing bus stops on the north and south sides of London 
Road would need to be relocated slightly to the west to as a consequence of the new signalised 
junction to the school access road.  KCC Highways have confirmed that there is sufficient 
capacity on the local bus routes passing the site but they have identified the need for an 
additional AM journey on the 497 route and have identified a need for an additional PM journey 
on a Friday.  KCC Highways have asked for a contribution (£142,740) from the developer to 
ensure that this an additional return journey can be provided.  The contribution would be used 
to subsidise the bus company (Arriva) for one return journey per day for three years after which 
time that particular journey is expected to be viable.  It is important that this the bus provision 
for the school is of a good quality and frequency so that it is an attractive option for students 
(and staff) travelling to and from the site.  The TA relies on the bus provision and a good uptake 
of this mode of transport to the site to demonstrate that there would be no significant harm to 
the highway network.  The developer has committed to the payment of this contribution via the 
Section 106 agreement as well as other highway mitigation measures discussed in this section 
of the report.

(71) The TA sets out details of a Walking and Cycling Audit which considered the quality of 
the pedestrian and cycle networks on the main routes to and from the application site.  This 
identified the needs for improvement works to these routes which include: two new pedestrian 
crossings to Cotton Lane; a widened footway/cycle way along Cotton Lane; clearance of 
vegetation from the existing footway/cycle ways.  These works would be secured by Grampian 
conditions as the works are off-site.   There would also be provision of an on-site footpath linking 
the school site to the eastern edge of the site in anticipation of a connecting path across Stone 
Pit 1 to Stone Crossing Station.



(72) The TA has considered the accessibility of local services, amenities and public 
transport points in respect of the proposed residential sites.  It concludes that the site is within 
walking distance of a number of services and facilities including primary schools, as well as bus 
stops, Dartford and Stone Railway Stations.  This accessibility will reduce the need for the use 
of the car for future occupants of the residential sites.  The site is therefore considered to be 
sustainably located.

(73) The TA considers accident data on surrounding roads and concludes that most of the 
accidents were caused by driver error. Therefore, it is concluded that driver awareness is the 
main cause rather than the highway infrastructure. Overall there are no trends suggesting that 
the proposed development would exacerbate this situation.

(74) KCC Highways have accepted the design of the proposed access from London Road 
to the school and residential site 1 but have requested an amended plan to address concerns 
about refuse vehicles exiting the new access for residential site 2.  An amended plan will has 
been requested.  An amended plan deleting reference to the removal of the parking for the 
Welsh Tavern opposite the site has also been requested as there are no powers to remove this 
parking.    The Road Safety Audit will need to be adjusted to account for these amendments.  

(75) In terms of parking for the proposed uses, the residential sites will be expected to meet 
the requirements of the Parking Standards SPD.  This would be fully considered at the reserved 
matters stage.  I have not identified any issues at this outline stage which indicate that these 
parking standards could not be met.  I have asked the applicant to provide an indicative layout 
showing the parking layout and numbers for the school site as I am mindful that the site is fairly 
small for an 8 form entry secondary school.  The indicative plan shows that 200 parking spaces 
can be provided within the site.  At this outline stage, this provides comfort that it is possible to 
achieve this number of spaces along with the school building and playing fields.  In terms of the 
adequacy of the 200 parking spaces, the applicant has sought to demonstrate that this would 
be sufficient to cater for the needs of staff, students and service vehicles.  The Parking 
Standards SPD requires 1 space per 15 pupils for staff parking and 2 spaces per classroom for 
visitor parking.  This would total 145 parking spaces.  The proposal would therefore exceed this 
requirement.  The additional parking will cater for some drop-off and collection at the start and 
end of the school day but it is also planned to use the circulation spaces within the car park for 
drop-off and pick-up activity.  I am confident that with good management of the school car park, 
especially at the start and end of the school day, instances of parking on local residential roads 
would be minimised.  I have recommended a condition to ensure that a car park management 
plan for the school is submitted which will set out measures to ensure that parking spaces are 
used in the most efficient way possible and the there is a controlled drop-off and pick-up 
arrangement.  

(76) The parking for the public open space would be sufficient to cater for its use and I would 
anticipate that most of its users would be from the local area and therefore within walking 
distance.  As noted above, there are no details in respect of parking restrictions within these 
car parks.  This would essentially be a matter for the applicant (Dartford Borough Council) to 
consider further based on how they are used.  The on-street parking would provide a formalised 
option for parking associated with the commercial uses on London Road as opposed to parking 
on the pavement which currently takes place along that part of London Road.  Designing out 
this illegal parking is important, I consider, in seeking to improve the pedestrian and cycle 
environment in the vicinity of the school.  Again, no details of the how this parking would be 
controlled have been provided but I anticipate that DBC will monitor its use and implement 
parking controls if deemed necessary.  

(77) Cycle parking would be provided in each of the elements of the development and the 
adequacy of this cycle parking would be considered at the reserved matters stage. 

(78) An important part of the highway mitigation package is securing a robust Travel Plan.  
Both KCC Highways and Highways England have asked that a Travel Plan is provided, 
particularly for the school and that this is monitored.  The TA provides a draft Travel Plan for 
both the school site and the residential sites. The Travel Plan seeks to promote the use of public 
transport, walking and cycling and discourage the use of the car.  A Travel Plan coordinator is 



appointed to drive forward various initiatives to achieve this. If the Travel Plan is effective then 
it can have a meaningful impact in terms of reducing car trips to and from the site.  I have 
recommended a condition to secure the submission of a Travel Plan for the school site and the 
residential sites.  The Section 106 agreement will also secure a Travel Plan monitoring fee 
which will be used to ensure that the Travel Plan is being implemented at the site and to monitor 
its effectiveness.  

(79) Overall, I consider that, with the mitigation measures set out above, the development 
would not have a harmful impact on highway safety or amenity.  

Visual amenities/Landscape character:

(80) The current landscape/appearance of the site is one of openness and natural 
vegetation and features with some evidence of its past uses in the form of concreate trackways 
and the disused access from London Road.  The boundary of the site onto London Road is 
dominated by a retaining concrete wall at an approximate height of 1.8 metres and mature/semi-
mature trees and scrub sitting above.  I understand that this retaining wall would be retained 
except where the new access to the residential site 2 would be provided. 

(81) The application is accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment.  This 
concludes that Stone Lodge has a relatively constrained visual envelope as a result of the 
density of surrounding built form and tree cover within and around the site.  However, there are 
views of the site along its western and southern boundaries. It notes that the proposed school 
development will give rise to an increase in built form on the site, but is likely to be screened or 
filtered by vegetation to some extent. The report advises that the proposed development should 
be enhanced by new landscaping which will improve the appearance of the public realm along 
London Road. Suggested landscaping includes sensitive treatment of the site boundaries, 
particularly those which border the public realm to the west and south. These details will come 
forward at reserved matters stage.

(82) It is my strong view that the vegetation that sits above the retaining wall along London 
Road should be retained and enhanced.  This not only has benefits in terms of the visual impact 
of the school and residential development but is essential for wildlife (mainly bats) and provides 
a strong buffer from London Road to minimise noise and air pollution effects.  Any future 
detailed scheme will need to factor this in and I therefore recommend that the landscaping 
condition specifically mentions the retention of the existing trees as well as the planting of new 
trees along the southern boundary.  

(83) The design of the proposed school building will be considered at the detailed design 
stage/reserved matters stage.  However, we have been provided with a parameters plan for the 
school site itself which shows the approximate location of the school building within the site.  It 
would be approximately 75 metres from the western boundary of the school site and therefore 
set away from the residential development to the west.  There is a 3 storey flatted development 
on the opposite side of London Road accessed from Bevis Close and 3 storey flats directly 
fronting London Road opposite the proposed access for the school.  Because of the higher 
ground level of the school site and the separation distances from surrounding buildings, the 
school building would be largely viewed as a stand-alone structure within the immediate 
landscape (although there would be joint views with the listed tower at the former Stone House 
Hospital site - an assessment on the impact on this listed building is set out in detail below).  
The proposed school building would be 3 storeys high and a maximum height of 13m.  The 
ground level of the school building would already be set above the level of London Road.  As 
such, it is likely to be an imposing building that has the potential to contribute significantly to the 
character and appearance of the area.  This could be an asset to the area.  However, I consider 
it must be well designed and it must consider the impact on the listed buildings - especially the 
tower to the former hospital building (as discussed below).  These issues can be adequately 
considered at the reserved matters stage.  

(84) Any proposed school will undoubtedly require the provision of security fencing around 
the boundaries of the site.  It is important that the details of this fencing are provided at the 
reserved matters stage so that the visual impact can be assessed.  I am of the strong view that 



any such fencing should be positioned behind reinforced planting along the south and west 
boundaries. If this is not achieved, the security fencing will become a very prominent and 
imposing feature within the street scene which could detract from the appearance of the area.    

(85) The levels of the site mean that the new school access will be likely to require some 
cutting into the bank and re-grading.  I have requested section drawings for this as this is not a 
reserved matter and full details should be provided. It is also possible that a retaining wall will 
be required within the school site to create a level surface for the proposed parking area.  Such 
details are not required at the outline stage but will be required as part of the reserved matters 
application as well as details of proposed land levels.  The visual impact of any retaining walls 
will therefore be considered at that time.  It may be possible to secure a 'green wall' if the 
retaining wall adjacent to the access is considered to be an imposing feature. 

(86) No details of the design or layout of the proposed residential sites have been provided 
at this stage.  The Planning Statement notes that the residential properties are more likely to 
take the form of flats and/or townhouses with a maximum building height of 2.5 storeys or 8 
metres to achieve a density of 45 dwelling/ha.  This is only an indication at this stage.  The 
larger residential site (site 1) would be located away from main roads but would be visible from 
the diverted public right of way DR9, the proposed school site and the open space area.  The 
location of this residential site would limit the encroachment into the existing open space and is 
well positioned in this respect.  The layout and design of the dwellings will need to consider the 
diverted PROW by incorporating a green corridor as suggested by the PROW Officer as well 
as exploiting connections to the open space.  It will also need to consider possible noise impacts 
from the proposed school and the approved rugby club.  

(87) The smaller residential site (site 2) would be accessed off London Road and is 
separated from the school and other residential site by distance and the difference in ground 
levels.  I therefore consider that its ultimate design could be quite different to dwellings on site 
1.  The layout will need to take into account trees to be retained along the southern and northern 
boundaries and should also exploit connections to the public open space.  

(88) I have not recommended a condition to limit the height of the residential buildings 
because I am of the view that these matters can confidently be dealt with at the reserved matters 
stage and will allow flexibility in the final design.  

(89) The visual impact of the car park at the top of Cotton Lane would be fairly limited noting 
that there is already a car park with hardstanding provided (although it is blocked off at present).  
The proposed car park off London Road is not set in terms of size or exact location.  The visual 
impact of this car park will need to be assessed at the reserved matters stage but should allow 
for the retention and reinforcement of trees and planting along the southern boundary.

(90) Overall, based in the information provided, I consider that the impact of the 
development on visual amenities and landscape character is likely be acceptable.  Further 
details will be considered at the reserved matters stage for each separate element of the 
development.  

Impact on Heritage Assets:

(91) The development has been advertised as being within the setting of a listed building.  
There are two listed buildings close to the application site - the grade II listed Stone House 
Hospital and the grade II listed chapel of St Luke at Stone House Hospital both of which are 
approximately 124 metres to the west of the application site.  In accordance with Policy DP13 
of the Development Policies Plan (2017) development affecting the setting of a designated 
heritage asset should have special regard to the desirability of preserving that asset or its 
setting.  In determining planning applications, the Local Planning Authority will pay close regard 
to the significance of the heritage asset. Any decisions relating to listed buildings and their 
settings must address the statutory considerations of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as well as satisfying the relevant policies within the National 
Planning Policy Framework and the Local Plan.



(92) The significance of a heritage asset should be considered in terms of its special 
architectural or historic interest.  In this case, the contribution of the setting to the significance 
of the two aforementioned listed buildings is a key consideration.  

(93) The application site once formed part of a larger area of land that was originally used 
as a farm for the former Stone House Hospital and so there is an historic link between the two.  
From the application site there are some views of the tower to the main Stone House Hospital 
building and the church spire to the listed chapel.  I have assessed whether these vertical 
features are dominant within the landscape.  Whilst there is no doubt that given its height in 
relation to the surrounding historic buildings, the tower would have at one time been a dominant 
feature within the landscape, this is no longer the case.  There are now a number of competing 
tall buildings and features within the immediate area that mean that the tower is one of a number 
of vertical features in the area.  

(94) Views of the application site from the listed buildings would only be likely to be afforded 
from the upper floors of the main Stone House Hospital building.  A setting to a listed building 
can change overtime and it is clear to me that the setting to these listed buildings has changed 
significantly since their first use.  The historic functional connection with the application site 
ceased many years ago and in more recent years, a sensitively designed large housing 
development has been built within the curtilage of the Stone House Hospital site. Further 
residential development has been built to the north of the former hospital site.  The Judo Club 
and Bowls Club buildings provide some separation between the proposed larger residential 
parcel and the listed buildings.  These intervening features have further severed the relationship 
between the listed buildings and the application site in my view. 

(95) The school site would be directly opposite the Stone House Hospital building.  Although 
there is little detail at this outline stage, I have carefully considered how the proposed school 
development might impact on the setting of the listed building and as part of this, I have 
considered whether the proposed 3 storey school building would interfere with views of the 
hospital tower from London Road if approaching from the east.  The applicant was asked to 
provide a further assessment focusing on this particular impact.  This notes that views of the 
tower and spire are present as you travel along London Road in a westerly direction from 
Alamein Gardens.  Views of the tower are also gained from Stone Recreation Ground which is 
230m southeast of the application site.  From this view, the tower is viewed within the context 
of the electricity pylons.  The report notes that the visibility of the ventilation tower, a noticeable 
architectural landmark visible from a considerable distance to the east, contributes to the 
historic interest of the listed building, "standing out as a distinctive local landmark where it is 
visible, even when partially obscured". The school building up to 3 storeys and 13m in height 
would add a new structure to a presently unoccupied area of land resulting in a change to the 
views from the east of the site and the report notes that the new school building would "compete 
for views with the tower".  Views of the tower from the Stone Recreation Ground would be 
precluded, although this may occur from other planned development at St James Pit. The report 
concludes that the school would not give rise to harm to the setting of the listed buildings.  

(96) I am not convinced that there would be no harm to the setting of the listed hospital 
building given the historic links between the formal hospital site and the application site but 
mainly because the new school building at a height of 13 metres would compete for views with 
the hospital tower when travelling towards the tower from the east. However, I am comforted 
by the fact that views of the tower would not be likely to be obscured along the majority of the 
length of London Road. I am also content that the proposal would have no harm to the setting 
of the listed church.  I therefore conclude that the level of harm would not be substantial.  
Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states: "Where a development proposed will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its 
optimum viable use."  I set out above the significant weight that I consider should be attached 
to the benefit of providing a much needed secondary school for this part of the Borough.  I am 
also conscious that the details of the school development are yet to be submitted for 
consideration at the reserved matters stage.  Based on the parameters plan submitted for the 
school site, I am of the view that the school building, if carefully positioned and designed, could 



minimise the impact on the setting of the listed hospital building.  Further consideration of the 
impact on the setting of the listed buildings would be given at the detailed stage.  Based on the 
information submitted with this outline planning application, I am of the view that the harm that 
I have identified would be less than substantial and that the benefits of the development would 
outweigh that harm.  

(97)  For the proposed housing, despite the historic connection between the listed buildings 
and the application site, given the separation distance, the recent housing and Judo and Bowls 
Club developments, the number of tall vertical features within the landscape and the open 
nature of the majority of the proposed development, I am of the view that this element of the 
development would not harm the two listed building at the hospital site. 

(98) In terms of archaeological potential, the application is accompanied by an 
Archaeological Desk Based Study and an Historic Landscape Assessment which includes 
details of a Geoarchaeological Assessment of the site and a Heritage Strategy.  The Desk 
Based Study indicates that the site lies within an area of high potential for significant 
archaeological finds and that it has not been subject to quarrying meaning that there is good 
potential for the survival of below ground deposits.  

(99) The reports conclude that the proposed development will have the greatest impact on 
buried archaeological remains within the residential developments, school, and access roads. 
These areas correspond with Palaeolithic Character Areas.  They identify the need for further 
trial trenching or strip, map and sample recording across the site.  Further archive research is 
recommended to ascertain the nature and location of WWII activities on the site.  Preservation 
in situ of any finds is not recommended but will require recording. In terms of enhancement, the 
report recommends that views across the site from the Stone House Hospital site are retained 
in some form and that there is consideration given to a pedestrian connection from the open 
space to the war memorial which is located on land outside of the application site to the east.  
It also recommends that the connection of this site to WWII in respect of providing a tactical 
viewpoint across the Thames should be exploited within the development.  Lastly, it notes that 
any 'embedded' heritage artwork within the open space is considered further at the detailed 
design stage.  

(100) KCC Archaeology have accepted the submitted reports and do not object subject to 
conditions to secure further archaeological work across the site and the submission of a 
programme for the interpretation of archaeology within the public open space.  I therefore 
consider that the development would have an acceptable impact on potential archaeology.  

Impact on residential amenities:

(101) I do not anticipate that the proposed residential developments would have any undue 
impact on existing residential properties in the vicinity of the application site.  The proposed 
school site would be likely to generate a level of noise and activity that would be discernible 
from residential properties close by - specifically the properties within the former Stone House 
Hospital Site off Martin Road and also the flats fronting London Road, opposite the proposed 
access to the school site and the larger residential site.  The submitted Noise Assessment for 
the school site considers the impact of the school on local residents.  This notes that there are 
outdoor playing pitches proposed within the school site and considers the potential cumulative 
effect of the rugby club and the school site. It concludes that due to the separation and position 
of the rugby pitches and the school sports pitches, there would be unlikely to be a combined 
impact leading to harm.  The closest residential properties to the potential location of the playing 
fields are approximately 30 metres away.  The report suggests that for distance of 50 metres 
or less, acoustic fencing should be provided along the boundaries of the school site in order to 
reduce the noise but suggests that the effectiveness of this mitigation would need to be verified 
at the detailed stage.  I therefore recommend that a further Noise Assessment is required at 
the reserved matters stage to consider the exact position of the playing fields in relation to the 
existing residential properties to the west and the proposed residential properties within site 1.  
The submitted report also considers the impact on the school from road and other noise sources 
and concludes that this site is appropriate.   



(102) The level of activity at the start and end of each school day may be a cause for concern 
to the residents of the flats that are directly opposite the proposed school access.  There may 
also be concern about the potential for anti-social behaviour.  I would expect that such issues 
will be able to be controlled to some extent by the school itself through careful management of 
the school finish times which could be staggered and also teachers being on duty supervising 
activities outside the school site.  I have recommended a condition to secure details of the 
school times and to encourage staggering at the end of the school day.  This will also benefit 
the local roads.  Moreover, I am mindful that this is an urban area with a busy road separating 
the proposed school site and the existing residential properties.  The levels of activity would 
therefore be absorbed more easily into this environment in my view.

(103) The application is accompanied by a Noise and Vibration Assessment which considers 
the impact of existing noise sources on the proposed residential properties.  This report notes 
that the position of dwellings on the perimeter of the site with amenity spaces kept to the rear, 
will attenuate noise levels throughout the site (effectively acting as a sound barrier to the noise 
sources).  It recommends that properties on the western and south eastern residential area site 
boundaries should be fitted with closed, standard double glazing and acoustically rated trickle 
vents.  The report also notes that noise from the rugby club is not likely to have an adverse 
impact on the proposed residential properties at site 1.  Given the fact that the exact layout of 
the residential sites is unknown at this stage, I recommend that a further Noise Assessment is 
required to ensure that appropriate mitigation measures can be incorporated within the scheme.  

(104) Details of lighting for the proposed school (including floodlights), residential and public 
open space are not provided at this stage.  I have recommended a condition to secure details 
of the lighting across the site which will consider the impact on local residents as well as the 
visual impact and wildlife.  

(105) Overall, I consider that the proposed development would be likely to have an 
acceptable impact on the residential amenities of existing residents and future residents of the 
scheme.  

Housing mix, type and density:

(106) Policy CS18 requires that the proportion of houses to flats is kept at an approximate 
ratio of 70:30 over the plan period. It requires that new developments of 100 homes or more to 
provide 70% of family homes with two bedrooms or more and 30% as flats.  There is no reason 
why this cannot be achieved at this site at the density proposed.  Compliance with this policy 
will be considered in full at the reserved matters stage. 

(107) Policy CS19 seeks to ensure that the needs of households requiring affordable housing 
are met and seeks to secure 30% of units as affordable housing for site of 15 units or more 
dwellings.  The applicant has confirmed that they will enter into a Section 106 agreement to 
secure 30% affordable homes equally across the two sites.  They have also confirmed that 
these affordable homes would be split equally between social rented and shared ownership 
accommodation.  This would comply with Policy CS19.   

(108) Policy DP8 seeks to secure wheelchair adaptable/accessible dwellings within 
residential developments.  I have recommended conditions for the residential sites to secure at 
least one of this type of dwelling on each of them. 

(109) In terms of density, Policy CS17 notes that sites will be developed at a variety of 
densities depending on their location and accessibility to public transport.  The Policy broadly 
indicates that in urban areas, a density between 35-55 dwellings/ha would be appropriate. This 
proposal would provide dwellings at a density of 45 dwellings/ha and so complies with Policy 
CS17.  However, is it possible that the density will fluctuate between the two sites at the 
reserved matters stage.  The maximum number of dwellings at 140 is set within the description 
of the planning application and, if approved, this could not be exceeded at the reserved matters 
stage.  



(110) Matters such as private and communal external amenity space will be considered at 
the reserve matters stage.  However, I am mindful that both residential sites will have access 
to the public open space which is intended to be provided with play features for children. Links 
to this open space from the residential areas will be important, especially if there is little or no 
communal amenity space within the residential sites themselves.  At this stage, there is too little 
information available as to the timing of the delivery of the sites and also whether the residential 
sites will need to rely on the public open space. I would expect such matters to be carefully 
considered at the reserved matters stage with consideration given to the timing of the provision 
of the open space in relation to the delivery of the residential sites at that time.  If the open 
space does not look likely to be delivered before the occupation of the residential properties, 
adequate provision would need to be made within the residential sites for open space.  This 
should be considered at the reserved matters stage.

(111) Overall, I consider that the housing mix, density and type would be compliant with our 
adopted Policies. 

Impact on Air Quality:

(112) The application is accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) which considers 
the impact of the proposed development on air quality.  It is important to note that the AQA 
does not assume that air quality will generally improve in the future and as such is based on a 
worst case scenario and on current levels of pollution. Members should be clear that on other 
sites we have accepted the premise that air quality will generally improve as vehicle engines 
become cleaner and Dartford benefits from low emission zones in London etc.  For the Stone 
Lodge development, the AQA concludes that there would be a 'moderate adverse' impact on 
levels of air pollution within the local area.  Both the school and residential development won't 
be likely to reach full capacity in terms of occupancy for some years - 2027 for the school when 
it is assumed that levels of air pollution will have reduced.  

(113) Given the levels of traffic associated with the proposed school site, the main impact on 
air quality will be from traffic associated with the school.  The AQA suggests various mitigation 
measures that could be put in place to minimise the impact on air quality.  These mitigation 
measures are separated in terms of specific measures for the school and residential/public 
open space developments.  The mitigation measures for the school include: off-site pedestrian 
and cycle improvement works, including pedestrian crossing points to encourage modal shift 
away from the car; improvements to the local road network to ease congestion (which is one of 
the main contributory factors to air pollution); extending the 30mph zone along Cotton Lane to 
improve safety for pedestrians and cyclists; a Travel Plan to include information packs, cycle 
discount scheme, promotion of car sharing etc. to encourage a model shift.  The 
residential/open space mitigation measures include: a Travel Plan; cycle parking and general 
improvements to the pedestrian and cycle routes.    Mitigation measures for limiting the impact 
from construction dust are also suggested and this would be secured in the condition requiring 
the submission of a Construction Management Plan.  All of the mitigation measures set out 
above are incorporated into conditions suggested below.   

(114) The package of mitigation measures also includes the provision of 100% electric car 
(EV) charging points for the residential sites.  For the school, a total of 10 double charging 
points would be provided and 20 parking spaces for electric vehicles once the school is at full 
capacity.  I have recommended a condition to allow the provision of EV charging points within 
the school to be provided in a phased way but ensuring that the cables for EV charging points 
are provided for the whole site at day one.  

(115) The submitted AQA also considers the impact of the existing and predicted levels of air 
pollution of the users of the school i.e. the staff and pupils (noting that children are more 
sensitive to the effects of air pollution) and also the occupants of the residential properties  - 
'receptors'.   This concludes that the predicted levels of air pollution for all residential receptors 
within the development site would be below the required threshold.   In terms of the school, if 
classrooms are within 20m of the roads within the AQMA, the report recommends that 
ventilation to them is drawn from air that is away from these roads.  I have recommended a 
condition to address this.



(116) Environmental Health have accepted the findings of the AQA noting that it takes a 
conservative approach because improvements in air quality have not been factored in.  They 
are also satisfied with the mitigation measures proposed.  I consider that the mitigation 
measures will provide a meaningful way of reducing the air quality impact from the 
development.  Any air quality impact should also be balanced against the significant need for 
the secondary school as discussed above. 

Ecology/biodiversity/public open space:

(117) The applicant has submitted a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening 
statement.  Policy DP25 sets out that large developments within 10km of European Protected 
sites will be required to undertake a HRA.  The statement submitted by the applicant's agent 
demonstrates that the application site is more than 10km away from the closest RAMSAR; 
Special Protection Area and Special Area of Conservation.  I am therefore satisfied that there 
is no need for a HRA for this development.  

(118) The submitted Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy identifies the presence 
of reptile, bats and common nesting birds at the site. This is supported by surveys which have 
been submitted also. Badger activity has also been recorded at the site but no setts have been 
identified.  In terms of nesting birds, the document commits to ensuring that any site clearance 
would take place outside of the main bird breeding season (March-August).  In terms of reptiles, 
much of the habitat will be retained/restored within a dedicated Wildlife Area which would be 
protected and managed to maintain its suitability for reptile species.  The Wildlife Area will act 
as a receptor site for the reptiles that are translocated from the development footprint.  The 
areas to be developed will be fenced off during construction.  Any removal of reptile habitat will 
be done under supervision by a suitably qualified ecologist and will be carried out in accordance 
with a method statement to avoid contravention of the relevant legislation.  Groundworks will 
be timed to avoid the reptile hibernation period (generally November-March).  In terms of bats, 
the document suggests that a 30m wide wildlife/dark corridor is maintained along the southern 
part of the western boundary of the site, along the southern boundary and extending through 
the centre of the site.  This would require the existing tree line to be planted up using mature 
native species and would retain connectivity between the Wildlife Area and known maternity 
roosts.  I note however that there would be at least 2 main access points cutting across this 
corridor on the southern boundary and that the central corridor as should in the submitted plan 
would run along a steep embankment adjacent to the school access.  It is likely that this corridor 
would need to be adapted to fit in with the detailed proposals once they are submitted at the 
reserved matters stage.  I have recommended a condition to address this.  Any trees to be 
removed within the wider site will be surveyed for roosting bats.  If the roosts are identified, and 
the tree cannot be retained, a licence from Natural England will be obtained and replacement 
roosting opportunities provided.  To enhance available roosting opportunities, at least 10% of 
the new buildings will incorporate built-in bat boxes or suitable roost features into the walls 
and/or roof structure.  Lighting will be designed sensitively and there would be no construction 
activity requiring additional lighting between April to October inclusive to avoid the main bat 
active season.

(119) By way of enhancement, a new 20m diameter pond is shown to be provided to the 
northern end of the open space.  Additional hedgerow and tree planting within the site will be 
provided together with habitat creation including log/brash piles.  The management of the open 
space to maintain important grassland, woodland and scrub already within the site will also form 
part of the enhancement strategy.  

(120) A Public Open Space Management Plan has been submitted with the application.  It 
notes that given the outline status of the application, a more detailed management plan will be 
necessary at the reserved matters stage.  The aim of the management plan is to set out a 
course of action which will discourage anti-social use and encourage positive community 
involvement in the site.  The vision for the management of the open space will be to retain and 
reinforce the existing landscape and vegetation with additional pedestrian routes provided 
through the site.  There would be 3 metre wide shared pedestrian and cycle paths along the 
main routes (with a central view point) while secondary routes would meander through the other 



parts of the site. The main paths would be surfaced so that prams and wheelchairs can use 
them. It is possible that handrails and steps would be necessary along steep sections of the 
path.  Bins and benches would be provided within the open space.  Notice boards, 
waymarkings, interpretation panels and informal play features are also suggested.  Two car 
parking areas would be provided for the open space, one to the north and one to the south.  
Each car park would have a small maintenance compound provided.  The submitted Open 
Space Management Plan touches very lightly on the potential for links to the historic 
environment at this site.  The KCC Archaeological Officer has suggested that more could be 
done to connect the future open space to the heritage of the site.  The applicants has responded 
by submitting a Heritage Framework Strategy which includes ideas for interpretation of the 
history of the site. I have also recommended a condition to secure the submission of a 
programme of heritage interpretation works for the public open space. 

(121) The application is accompanied by a Tree Survey and Constraints Report.  This report 
notes that further consideration will be required at the design stage of the development in the 
form of an Arboricultural Impact Assessment but the submitted tree constraints survey shall be 
used to inform and influence the design of the development.  Forty-six records of trees have 
been identified across the site comprising of forty individual trees and six tree groups.  Fourteen 
of these trees were considered to fall within category A (most significant in terms of quality of 
tree and value to amenity).  There were a number of common Oak trees located on the northern 
boundary of the proposed smaller residential area (site 2).  The report notes that any 
development within the root protection area of these trees is likely to cause longer-term decline 
of these trees.  There are twenty-seven category B trees (trees of moderate quality), many of 
which are in groups.  A large number of the category B trees are located close to the southern 
boundary of the smaller residential site (site 2). It is accepted that some of the trees within the 
site that hold a more limited value will need to be removed but I note that most trees of good 
quality could be retained even on the school and residential sites.  In order to retain the category 
A and B trees within the site, I have recommended conditions to secure their retention during 
and after construction and highlight the need to ensure that the landscaping details submitted 
at reserved matters stage include the retention of these trees.  The category A trees will be 
considered for protection under a Tree Preservation Order which will be important to secure 
before the smaller residential site is developed.    

(122) Overall, I consider that the development would not be harmful to ecology and 
biodiversity which would be enhanced in some areas of the site, particularly the open space.  

Minerals resources: 

(123) The application site lies within a minerals safeguarding area as there is potential for 
River Terrace Deposits (sharp sand and gravel) across the majority of the site.  Policy DM7 of 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 seeks to safeguard these minerals to ensure that 
these resources are not depleted as this could negatively impact on the delivery of development 
in the future.   Policy DM7 does however list a number of criteria whereby development is 
allowed within safeguarded areas and where prior extraction is not required.  One of these 
criteria is where development is on a site allocated in the adopted development plan.  In this 
case, the Stone Lodge site is identified under Policy CS4 for development (mixed use to support 
recreational use) and CS10 for the provision of housing.  It is my view that this is an allocation 
for the purposes of policy DM7 of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan.  As such, I consider 
that the development of the application site for non-mineral purposes is not obstructed by the 
minerals safeguarding policies and that prior-extraction is not required.

Other issues 

(124) As this application is made by the Dartford Borough Council and involves development 
on land in its ownership, the General Regulations 1992 apply.  These regulations have recently 
been amended to ensure that any planning permission granted by a Local Planning Authority 
to itself, is bound to the land as opposed to the previous regulations which bound the permission 
to the Local Authority only.  



(125) A Phase 1 contaminated land assessment has been submitted with the application.  
This considers the potential for contaminated land and geotechnical/land stability issues. The 
assessment concludes that potentially significant contamination linkages have been identified 
in relation to Made Ground, infilled ground and natural ground (where potential sources of 
contamination have been identified). Where required, the report suggests that direct contact 
ingestion, inhalation of dusts and vapours pathway may be negated by capping with 
hardstanding and through the installation of adequate gas / vapour protection measures in 
buildings in affected areas of the site. The report concludes that the potential sources of 
contamination are not so significant that they would preclude residential development.  The 
Phase 1 assessment is accompanied by a preliminary geotechnical assessment.  This 
recommends that an intrusive ground investigation is carried out at the site. The data obtained 
will inform detailed design for any proposed development and identify any abnormalities 
associated with the ground conditions encountered. Furthermore, there is a risk of ground 
instability form former chalk pits and historic railway tunnels on site and immediately adjacent 
to the site. The planned development for Stone Lodge situates buildings away from these areas.   
I have recommended conditions to secure further ground investigations and suitable 
remediation where necessary.  

(126) A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) for the site is submitted with this application. The FRA 
has demonstrated that Stone Lodge is located in Flood Zone 1 as defined by the Environment 
Agency. Some areas within the wider masterplan site have some vulnerability to surface water 
flooding. For example, in the north-eastern part close to Cotton Lane north where there is a 
localised topographic hollow. It is assumed that the primary method of surface water disposal 
is via infiltration.  The report also identifies that there is a low risk of groundwater flooding within 
the low-lying valley bottom areas in the wider masterplan site. To ensure no additional risk of 
surface water flooding is created by the development of the site, the FRA concludes that a 
surface water management strategy will be required.  The Proposed Drainage Strategy sets 
out that the development will utilise infiltration components to discharge the surface water run-
off. Permeable paving has been proposed where applicable to provide an additional treatment 
stage to the SuDS network. All of the site-specific constraints regarding the use of infiltration 
devices as a method of surface water disposal have been considered and are deemed to be of 
low risk, with additional mitigation measures suggested where necessary.  I have 
recommended a condition to ensure that details of the surface water drainage are provided 
prior to the commencement of development.  This will need to ensure that there would be no 
mobilisation of pollution to groundwater.  I have suggested suitable conditions along the lines 
of that suggested by the EA.  

(127) Thames Water have noted the need for their infrastructure to be upgraded in order to 
cater for the development in terms of foul waters and potable water.  I have recommended 
conditions to ensure that there is no occupation of the residential units until a strategy for the 
disposal of foul waters (which might consists of tankers taking the foul water off site) and the 
provision of potable water to the residential sites.  Thames Water are content with the wording 
of these conditions.

(128) Policy CS23 seeks to secure BREEAM 'Excellent' for non-residential development over 
1000 m2 or any future equivalent. The BREEAM certification is a sustainability assessment 
method for development as a way of minimising carbon emissions.  The standards have been 
altered since Policy CS23 was adopted.  The current accepted rating (which is the same as the 
old "excellent" rating) is now 'Very Good'.   I have recommended a condition to secure this for 
the school building. Water efficiency is also a key issue in Dartford and Policy DP11 seeks to 
secure a water efficiency level of 110 litres per person per day for all new dwellings.  I have 
recommended conditions to secure this for the residential sites within this development.  

(129) The diversion of PROW DR9 is being considered separately to this planning application 
by KCC.  They have raised some concerns about how the diverted route would interact with the 
larger residential site (site 1) in the indicative masterplan shows that it would be crossed by 3 
roads.  As this application is in outline form only with layout to be considered as a reserved 
matter, it is reasonable to allow the development to proceed at this stage and to 'flag-up' this 
issue now so that any future residential scheme is designed to address these concerns.  I have 



recommended a suitably worded informative.   The new route of the PROW would integrate 
with the proposed connections through the public open space.  

PLANNING OBLIGATION 

(130) Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 provides 
that a planning obligation can only constitute a reason for granting consent if the obligation is:
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development; and
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

All applications finally determined after the 6th April must clearly demonstrate that any planning 
obligation that is used to justify the grant of consent must meet the three tests.

(131) The development would require a Section 106 agreement to secure various financial 
contributions to address shortfalls in infrastructure as well as securing affordable housing.  A 
summary of the planning obligations to be included within the Section 106 agreement is as 
follows:

o 30% affordable housing  - 50% of which would be social rented and 50% of which would 
be shared ownership;

o Measures to secure a proportional mix for the affordable homes to reflect the housing 
mix across the residential site(s);

o Travel Plan monitoring fee - £5,000
o KCC Highways contribution towards securing a modal shift  - £142,740 (to be used to 

subsidised one return bus journey per day on a service passing the application site at 
a suitable AM and PM time over a 3 year period);

o community learning - £5,316.14; 
o library bookstock - £6,722.21; 
o social care - £6,599.60.

(132) The applicant has agreed to all of the above obligations.  I am satisfied that they will all 
meet the three tests set out above. 

FINANCIAL BENEFITS 

(133) Under section 75ZA of the Town and Country Planning Act officer reports to the 
Development Control Board are required to include a list of 'financial benefits' which are likely 
to be obtained by the authority as a result of the development. A 'financial benefit' must be 
recorded regardless of whether it is material to the Council's decision. Government advice is 
that the decision maker should consider whether it is a material consideration in the 
consideration of a planning application.

(134) In this particular case the following are the 'financial benefits' which I am aware of:
Community Infrastructure Levy:  CIL is charged on the net increase in floorspace of the 
proposed development. In this case the development does not specify a floorarea which would 
be set at the reserved matters stage.   Any CIL amount would be subject to indexation to be 
paid on implementation. As Members are aware the CIL money achieved from developments 
goes into a pot and must be used to fund infrastructure to support development in the area, this 
includes new schools and strategic junction improvements where the money will be paid to the 
authorities responsible for providing these services.  In addition 15 % of the CIL payment will 
be passed to Stone Parish Council in accordance with CIL Regulations. I consider that this is a 
material consideration with regard to this proposal, as if the development were to commence, 
CIL monies received will assist in the delivery of  infrastructure projects that supports local 
development.

(135) New Homes Bonus: is a grant paid by central government to local councils to reflect 
and incentivise housing growth in their areas. It is based on the amount of extra Council Tax 
revenue raised for new homes. Allocations are set by Government each year and so the amount 



of New Homes Bonus is not fixed for this proposal.  I consider this is not a material consideration 
with regard to the determination of the planning application.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

(136) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(137) In determining the application regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty 
(PSED) as set down in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, in particular with regard to the 
need to:
-Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited 
under the Act;
-Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and
- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant characteristic and persons who 
do not share it. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine objectives 
of the Duty.
It is considered that the application proposals would not conflict with the objectives of the Duty.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT REQUIREMENTS

(138) In relation to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations) 2017) the proposal is Schedule 2 development. A screening opinion has been 
adopted which concludes that the proposal is not ' EIA development'. 

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

(139) Having considered the comments from local residents, comments from consultees and 
the relevant planning policies, I am of the view that the proposed development should be 
approved.  This report sets out that the scheme would comply with adopted planning policies 
and would be acceptable in principle providing a much needed secondary school to serve the 
population of Dartford.  I have given significant weight to the benefits of providing this secondary 
school in the overall planning balance.  

(140) I have carefully considered the highway impacts of the development.  KCC Highways 
and Highways England are in agreement that the development, with appropriate mitigation, 
would not have a detrimental impact on highway safety and amenity.  The mitigation measures 
would be secured via planning conditions and the Section 106 agreement.  

(141) The potential impact of the development on visual amenities and landscape character 
has been considered. Care will need to be taken at the reserved matters stage to secure a 
planted frontage along London Road and Cotton Lane.  Care will also need to be taken in the 
design, height, scale and position of the school building to ensure that it is of a high standard 
that respects the surrounding environment.  The impact on the setting of the identified listed 
buildings has been assessed with some harm identified.  However, the public benefits of the 
provision of the school at this site are considered to outweigh this harm.  Again, the school will 
need to be carefully designed to consider the preservation of views of the tower to the former 
Stone House Hospital building from London Road and to ensure that the scale and design of 
the school building can be respectful of this listed building.  The potential archaeology at the 
site has been considered in detail with further archaeological groundworks required by 
condition. 



(142) The impact on the residential amenities of existing and future residents has been 
considered.  The main impact would be from noise and activity associated with the proposed 
school.  Further noise assessments will be necessary at the detailed reserved matters stage 
and I have recommended conditions to secure this.  I anticipate that the proposal can 
incorporate mitigation measures to address potential noise issues from the school and also 
from existing noise sources to the new residential properties.  

(143) I consider that the future housing will meet local housing needs in terms of the 
proportion and type of affordable housing.  The density will also be reflective of the surrounding 
area and is suitable for this site in my view.  

(144) In terms of air quality, a robust set of mitigation measures, including the provision of a 
high number of EV charging points, has been offered to address any impact on air quality from 
additional traffic generated.  I am also mindful that the AQA does not assume that air quality 
will improve in the future and that this may well result in a lesser impact than predicted.  I 
therefore consider that the air quality impact would be acceptable.  

(145) The proposal would provide 19ha of public open space that would maintain and 
enhance ecology and biodiversity in that area of the site.  Both residential sites have the ability 
to offer ecology enhancements within those sites as well as the school.  An important wildlife 
corridor will be secured at the reserved matters stage of the development with the retention and 
reinforcement of tree and shrub planting along the southern and western boundaries and 
running in a north-south direction across the centre of the site.  High quality trees have been 
identified close to the northern boundary of residential site 2 and I have recommended a 
condition that these are retained with a view to securing a Tree Preservation Order at a later 
date.  Protected species and other wildlife has been considered as part of the proposal with 
measures secured to ensure that there is no harm in this respect.  
(146) Other issues such as contaminated land, flood risk, surface water drainage, the PROW 
diversion and mineral resources have been assessed and I am content that suitable conditions 
can be put in place to address any required additional works and/or details.  

(147) In summary, I consider that, subject to the conditions set out below and the Section 
106 agreement, the development would be acceptable and outline planning permission should 
be granted.

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval of outline planning permission subject to the conditions set out below (allowing for 
minor amendments to the wording of these conditions under delegated powers) and a Section 
106 Agreement securing the obligations set out at paragraph 131 of this report (allowing for 
minor changes to the obligations under delegated powers).

01 Approval of details of the layout, scale and appearance of the building(s) and the 
landscaping of the site (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained from 
the Local Planning Authority in writing before any development is commenced.  
Application for approval of the reserved matter(s) shall be made to the Local Planning 
Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.  The 
development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later.

01 In pursuance of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents: TBC

02 For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development.

School Site



03 No development on the school site shall take place until a Construction Method 
Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction 
period. The Statement shall provide for: 

a) The hours of construction 
b) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
c) Parking of construction vehicles
d) Routing of and access for construction and delivery vehicles to / from site
e) Timing of deliveries
f) Loading and unloading of plant and materials 
g) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 
h) Temporary traffic management / signage
i) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding 
j) Wheel washing facilities 
k) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction.

03 No details have been submitted with the application and such details are required prior 
to commencement in the interests of the amenities of the area and highway safety and 
convenience in accordance with Policies DP3 and DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

04 No development of the school site shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or 
successors in title, has secured the implementation of:

          i) archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and written 
timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority; 
and 

          ii)following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure preservation in 
situ of important archaeological remains and/or further archaeological investigation and 
recording in accordance with a specification and timetable which has been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority

04 To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and recorded 
and that due regard is had to the preservation in situ of important archaeological remains 
in accordance with Policy DP12 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

05 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 above (the reserved matters) for the school 
site shall include details of existing and proposed levels of the land and building(s), 
including a contoured site plan, and section drawings showing any required retaining 
walls.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

05 In order to secure a satisfactory form of development having regard to the sloping nature 
of the site and in the interests of visual amenities in accordance with Policy DP2 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan.

06 Before commencement of any building operations on the school site, a contaminated 
land assessment, including a site investigation and remediation methodology (if 
necessary) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  If during 
any works contamination is encountered which has not previously been identified then 
the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate remediation 
scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority.  Any remediation details shall be 
implemented as approved.

06 In the interests of safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan and/or the protection of Controlled Waters.

07 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 above (the reserved matters) for the school 
site shall include a detailed sustainable surface water drainage scheme for that site shall 
be submitted to (and approved in writing by) the local planning authority. The detailed 
drainage scheme shall demonstrate that the surface water generated by this 



development (for all rainfall durations and intensities up to and including the climate 
change adjusted critical 100 year storm) can be accommodated and disposed of within 
the curtilage of the site without increase to flood risk on or off-site. The drainage scheme 
shall also demonstrate that silt and pollutants resulting from the site use and construction 
can be adequately managed to ensure there is no pollution risk to receiving waters. The 
drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to 
first occupation of the development (or within an agreed implementation schedule).

07 To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the disposal of 
surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the risk of on/off 
site flooding and to ensure that groundwaters are protected in accordance with Policy 
CS25 and DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

08 No development within the school site shall take place over the current (at the date of 
this decision notice) alignment of Public Footpath DR9 until an Order for its permanent 
diversion has been made and confirmed, and the diverted route has been fully provided 
and certified.

08 To ensure that public rights of way are properly safeguarded in the public interest in 
accordance with Policies DP2 and DP4 of the adopted Local Plan.

09 Prior to the commencement of development on the school site, the results of a 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal ('PEA') for that site shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for written approval. The PEA shall include a review of the existing 
ecological survey data to assess if they are still valid or make recommendations as to 
any updated specific species surveys that need to be carried out. Where identified as 
necessary pursuant to the PEA, no works shall commence until the necessary detailed 
further specific species surveys have been carried out and the results of those surveys 
have been submitted as an update to the PEA and the Local Planning Authority has 
approved the updated PEA in writing.

09 In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy DP25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

10 Prior to the commencement of development on the school site, (including any ground 
works, site or vegetation clearance) a site-wide Ecological Mitigation Plan ('SWEMP') 
setting out proposed ecological mitigation relating to the development informed by the 
approved submitted surveys pursuant to condition (9) above shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The SWEMP shall include the 
following: 

(i) An over view of the habitats/species present at the site; 
(ii) Details of the required ecological mitigation; 
(iii) An assessment as to whether ecological mitigation necessitates sensitive lighting 
design; 
(iv) Proposed methodology for implementation of the ecological mitigation for each 
species and /or habitats; 
(v) Maps and plans to show the extent and location of proposed mitigation works; 
(vi) Timetables for implementation of proposed mitigation works sufficient to demonstrate 
that the works are aligned with the proposed timetable for works relating to construction; 

(vii) Persons responsible for implementing the mitigation works, including times during 
construction when specialist ecologists will need to be present on site to undertake / 
oversee the mitigation works; 
(viii) Interim management and monitoring proposals to ensure that habitats 
created/enhanced as part of the SWEMP will be managed appropriately.  

The ecological works as set out in the SWEMP shall only be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details.



10 In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy DP25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

11 Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be permitted 
other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning Authority which may 
be given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that there is no 
resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater or archaeology. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.

11 To avoid adverse impact on the Groundwater Source Protection Zone and principal 
aquifer through mobilisation of contamination or creation of new pathways and to 
safeguard potential archaeology within the site in accordance with policies DP5 and 
DP12 of  the adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017).

12 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 above (the reserved matters) for the school 
site shall include a package of ecological enhancement measures to be incorporated into 
the development. The enhancements must include (but not limited to) integrated bat and 
bird boxes and insect homes/hotels.

12 In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy DP25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

13 The details submitted in pursuance of condition 1 (reserved matters) for the school site 
shall include details and samples of all materials to be used externally.  The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

13 To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

14 The details pursuant to condition 1 (reserved matters) for the school site shall include a 
landscaping scheme including both hard and soft landscaping, boundary treatment, the 
retention and reinforcement with native species of trees and vegetation along the 
southern and western boundaries (with any fencing sited behind this planting) and a 
programme for its management, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority and shall be implemented prior to the first use of the school site 
(unless this falls outside of the planting season in which case it shall be implemented at 
the first opportunity during the following planting season, between October and March 
inclusive).  Such landscaping shall thereafter be maintained for a period of five years.  
Any trees, shrubs or grassed areas which die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased within this period shall be replaced within the next planting season 
with plants of similar species and size to that approved.

14 To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

15 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 for the school site shall include details of 
the car parking layout, number of spaces, circulation space, drop-off and collection space 
and turning space.  The approved car parking, circulation, drop-off/collection and turning 
space shall be provided prior to occupation of the school site hereby approved and kept 
available for such use at all times and no development, whether permitted by the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 or not, shall be 
carried out on that area of land or to preclude vehicular access thereto.

15 To ensure the permanent retention of satisfactory car parking, drop-off/collection facilities 
in accordance with the Local Planning Authority's standards and Policies DP2, DP3 and 
DP4 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.



16 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 for the school site shall demonstrate that 
the school building will secure a BREEAM 'Very Good' rating.

16 In the interest of minimising carbon emissions in accordance with Policy CS23 of the 
adopted Local Plan.

17 Prior to the occupation of the school site, and only if the classrooms are within 20m of 
London Road or Cotton Lane, details of sealed windows and a ventilation system to filter 
air to be provided for the classrooms within the school building, shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval in writing and shall thereafter be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details and thereafter maintained in perpetuity.

17 To address a risk to the health of the staff and pupils of the school by way of air pollution 
in accordance with  Policy DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

18 Prior to the occupation of the school site a maintenance manual for the proposed 
sustainable drainage scheme shall be submitted to (and approved in writing) by the local 
planning authority. The manual at a minimum shall include the following details:

o A description of the drainage system and its key components
o An as-built general arrangement plan with the location of drainage measures and 
critical features clearly marked
o Details of the future maintenance requirements of each drainage or SuDS component, 
and the frequency of such inspections and maintenance activities
o Details of who will undertake inspections and maintenance activities, including the 
arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage system throughout its 
lifetime. 

The drainage scheme as approved shall subsequently be maintained in accordance with 
these details.

18 To ensure that any measures to mitigate flood risk and protect water quality on/off the 
site are fully implemented and maintained (both during and after construction), in 
accordance with Policy CS25 and DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

19 No occupation of the school site shall take place until the access road, roundabout and 
signalised 3-arm vehicular access with A226 London Road as shown on figures 39082-
Lea54d 8.2, 39082-Lea54d 8.3 and 39082-Lea54d 8.4 (or as amended with the written 
agreement of the Local Planning Authority and which shall be the subject of a Road 
Safety Audit) of the submitted Transport Assessment has been completed and is fully 
operational and thereafter there shall be no obstruction exceeding 600mm within the 
approved visibility splays.

19 In the interests of highway safety and amenity in accordance with Policies DP3 and DP4 
of the adopted Local Plan.

20 No occupation of the school site shall take place until the bus stops on either side of 
London Road close to the proposed school access have been relocated in accordance 
with detailed plans and details of the type of bus stop shelter, seating and timetable 
information system to be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. 

20 To ensure that the students and staff using the school have access to a safe, convenient 
and attractive public transport alternative in accordance with Policy DP4 of the adopted 
Local Plan and to ensure that the transport impact of the development on the highway 
network are minimised in accordance with Policy DP3 of the adopted Local Plan.



21 No occupation of the school site shall take place until the enhanced pedestrian and cycle 
routes, including the two pedestrian crossings to Cotton Lane as shown on drawing nos. 
figures 39082-Lea54d 9.1, 39082-Lea54d 9.2, 39082-Lea54d 9.3, 39082-Lea54d 9.4, 
39082-Lea54d 9.5 and 39082-Lea54d 9.6 within the submitted Transport Assessment 
and in addition, the enhancement of the existing footway/cycleway along the eastern 
edge of the B2228 Cotton Lane between Bow Arrow Lane and the Littlebrook interchange 
and the eastern edge of Stone Place Road and Church Hill by maximising the width 
through the clearance of vegetation from the paths and repair work, have been provided 
in full, are complete and can be used as intended.

21 To ensure that the students and staff using the school have access to a safe, convenient 
and attractive routes to the site in accordance with Policy DP4 of the adopted Local Plan 
and to ensure that the transport impact of the development on the highway network are 
minimised in accordance with Policy DP3 of the adopted Local Plan.

22 No occupation of the school site shall take place until the improvements to the London 
Road/Cotton Lane signal junction as show on Figure 39082-Lea54d 7.1 of the submitted 
TA have been completed and are fully operational.

22 In the interests of highway safety and amenity in accordance with Policies DP3 and DP4 
of the adopted Local Plan.

23 Prior to the occupation of the school site, the extension of the 30 mph speed limit on the 
B2228 Cotton Lane beyond Bow Arrow Lane as shown on Figure 39082-Lea54d 9.3 of 
the submitted TA (or as amended with the written agreement of the Local Planning 
Authority and which shall be the subject of a Road Safety Audit) shall be implemented in 
full.

23 To create a safer route for pedestrians and cyclists travelling to the school site in 
accordance with Policy DP4 of the adopted Local Plan.

24 Prior to the occupation of the school site, the on-street parking as shown on drawing no. 
Figure 39082-Lea54d 11.1 within the submitted Transport Assessment shall be provided 
and maintained unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

24 To create a safe pedestrian and cycle environment for future users of the development 
in accordance with Policy DP4 of the adopted Local Plan.

25 Prior to occupation of the school site hereby approved, on-site facilities shall be provided 
within the curtilage of the site for the secure and weatherproof storage of bicycles in 
accordance with details to have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority beforehand.  Such facilities shall be maintained thereafter.

25 To encourage sustainable methods of transport in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP4 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

26 Prior to the occupation of the school site hereby approved, a School Travel Plan is to be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing and should cover 
the following issues:
- Travel Plan co-ordinator
- Travel Surveys
- Measures to be taken to encourage walking, cycling, use of public transport and reduce 
car travel by students and staff.
- Monitoring and review in collaboration with KCC Highways and Highways England.
- Programme for implementation.

The approved Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
implementation programme.



26 To encourage sustainable methods of transport and to ensure that the impact of the 
proposal on the free and safe flow of traffic on the local and strategic highway network is 
kept to a minimum and to minimise the impact of the development on air quality in 
accordance with in accordance with Policies DP3, DP4 and DP5 of the adopted Dartford 
Local Plan.

27 Prior to the occupation of the school site hereby approved, a car park management plan 
for the school shall be submitted for approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
which sets out measures to ensure that parking spaces are used in the most efficient 
way possible and that there is a controlled drop-off and pick-up arrangement at the start 
and end of the core school hours. The car park shall be managed in accordance with the 
approved management plan or any subsequent approved revision for the lifetime of the 
development.

27 In the interests of highway safety and amenity in accordance with Policies DP3 and DP4 
of the adopted Local Plan.

28 Prior to the occupation of the school site a Verification Report (VR) pertaining to the 
surface water drainage system, carried out by a suitably qualified professional, shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.  The VR shall 
demonstrate the suitable operation of the drainage system such that flood risk is 
appropriately managed and shall contain information and evidence (including 
photographs) of earthworks; details and locations of inlets, outlets and control structures; 
extent of planting; details of materials utilised in construction including subsoil, topsoil, 
aggregate and membrane liners; full as built drawings; and topographical survey of 'as 
constructed' features.

28 To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as constructed in accordance 
with Policy CS25 of the adopted Local Plan.

29 Prior to occupation of the school site hereby approved, a contaminated land closure 
report shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The closure 
report shall include details of the proposed remediation works and the quality assurance 
certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full in accordance with the 
approved methodology.  This shall include photographic evidence.  Details of any post 
remediation sampling and analysis to show the site has reached the required clean-up 
criteria shall be included in the closure report together with the necessary documentation 
detailing what waste materials have been removed from the site.

29 In the interests of safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan and/or the protection of Controlled Waters.

30 Where infiltration is to be used to manage the surface water from the development hereby 
permitted, it will only be allowed within those parts of the site where information is 
submitted to demonstrate to the Local Planning Authority's satisfaction that there is no 
resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters and/or ground stability. The development 
shall only then be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

30 To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with policies DP2, DP4 and 
DP5 of the adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017).

31 Prior to occupation of the school site hereby approved, details of any proposed external 
lighting (including floodlighting) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Such details shall include times of use for the floodlights, siting, 
angles, levels of illumination and any shields and shall identify those areas/features that 
are particularly sensitive for badgers and bats where lighting could lead to disturbance 
within or around their breeding sites and resting places or along important routes used 



to access key areas of their territory and provide a map clearly showing the dark 
areas/corridors which are to be retained within the development. Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.

31 In the interests of road safety, residential amenities, protection of wildlife and preserving 
the setting of the listed building to the west in accordance with Policies DP2, DP3, DP5, 
DP13 and DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

32 Prior to the use of the school site hereby approved, a minimum of 5 double socket electric 
vehicle (EV) charging points and 10 EV parking spaces shall be provided and made 
available for use within the school car park as well as cabling laid for the future provision 
of EV charging points for all of the car parking spaces within the school site.  An additional 
5 double socket EV charging points and 10 EV parking spaces shall be provided before 
the year 2027 unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

32 To secure a form of mitigation to address air quality impacts from the development in 
accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

33 Prior to the use of the school site, details of the opening and closing times of the school 
(which shall include the staggering of the release of pupils at the end of the core school 
day, before and after school clubs and use of the outdoor playing fields) shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.  The approved times 
shall be adhered to at all times unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

33 In the interests of highways safety and amenity and residential amenities in accordance 
with policies DP3, DP4 and DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

34 Prior to the use of the school site and following the approval of the layout of the school 
site or at the same time as the submission of reserved matters, a detailed Noise 
Assessment which considers the impact of noise generated by school activities relative 
to existing and future residential properties close to the site as well as the noise 
environment within the classrooms and suggests suitable mitigation measures where 
necessary shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.  The 
approved mitigation measures shall be implemented prior to the first use of the school 
site and thereafter maintained.

34 To safeguard the amenities of existing and future residents within the vicinity of the 
school site and to safeguard the learning environment within the school site in 
accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

35 The use of the school site hereby permitted shall be only for a secondary school and for 
no other uses (with the exception of ancillary uses such as community activities), 
including any other falling within Class D1 of the Schedule to the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, (or for any order amending, revoking and re-
enacting that Order) and any other use whether permitted by the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any 
order revoking or re-enacting that Order) or not.

35 In the interests of amenities and highway safety in accordance with Policies DP2, DP3, 
DP4 and DP5 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

36 The school building and site shall not be subdivided or a separate planning unit created 
within the boundaries of the school site.

36 In the interests of amenities and highway safety in accordance with Policies DP2, DP3, 
DP4 and DP5 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

Residential Site 1



37 No development on residential site 1 shall take place until a Construction Method 
Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction 
period. The Statement shall provide for: 

a) The hours of construction 
b) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
d) parking of construction vehicles
d) Routing of and access for construction and delivery vehicles to / from site
e) Timing of deliveries
f) Loading and unloading of plant and materials 
g) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 
h) Temporary traffic management / signage
i) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding 
j) Wheel washing facilities 
k) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction.

37 No details have been submitted with the application and such details are required prior 
to commencement in the interests of the amenities of the area and highway safety and 
convenience in accordance with Policies DP3 and DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

38 No development of residential site 1 shall take place until the applicant, or their agents 
or successors in title, has secured the implementation of:
i) archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and written 
timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority; 
and 
ii following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure preservation in 
situ of important archaeological remains and/or further archaeological investigation and 
recording in accordance with a specification and timetable which has been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority

38 To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and recorded 
and that due regard is had to the preservation in situ of important archaeological remains 
in accordance with Policy DP12 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

39 No occupation of residential site 1 shall take place until the access road, roundabout and 
signalised 3-arm vehicular access with A226 London Road as shown on Figure 39082-
Lea54d 8.2 of the submitted Transport Assessment has been completed and is fully 
operational.

39 In the interests of highway safety and amenity in accordance with Policies DP3 and DP4 
of the adopted Local Plan.

40 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 above (the reserved matters) for any part 
of the residential site 1 development hereby approved, shall include details of existing 
and proposed levels of the land and building(s), including a contoured site plan, and 
section drawings showing any required retaining walls.  Development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details.

40 In order to secure a satisfactory form of development and in the interests of visual 
amenities in accordance with Policy DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

41 Before commencement of any building operations on the residential site 1, a 
contaminated land assessment, including a site investigation and remediation 
methodology (if necessary) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.  If during any works contamination is encountered which has not previously 
been identified then the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an 
appropriate remediation scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority.  Any 
remediation details shall be implemented as approved.



41 In the interests of safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan and/or the protection of Controlled Waters.

42 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 above (the reserved matters) for residential 
site 1 shall include detailed sustainable surface water drainage scheme for that site shall 
be submitted to (and approved in writing by) the local planning authority. The detailed 
drainage scheme shall demonstrate that the surface water generated by this 
development (for all rainfall durations and intensities up to and including the climate 
change adjusted critical 100 year storm) can be accommodated and disposed of within 
the curtilage of the site without increase to flood risk on or off-site. The drainage scheme 
shall also demonstrate that silt and pollutants resulting from the site use and construction 
can be adequately managed to ensure there is no pollution risk to receiving waters. The 
drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to 
first occupation of the development (or within an agreed implementation schedule).

42 To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the disposal of 
surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the risk of on/off 
site flooding and to ensure that groundwaters are protected in accordance with Policy 
CS25 and DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

43 Prior to the commencement of development on the residential site 1, the results of a 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal ('PEA') for that site shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for written approval. The PEA shall include a review of the existing 
ecological survey data to assess if they are still valid or make recommendations as to 
any updated specific species surveys that need to be carried out. Where identified as 
necessary pursuant to the PEA, no works shall commence until the necessary detailed 
further specific species surveys have been carried out and the results of those surveys 
have been submitted as an update to the PEA and the Local Planning Authority has 
approved the updated PEA in writing.

43 In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy DP25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

44 Prior to the commencement of development on the residential site 1, (including any 
ground works, site or vegetation clearance) a site-wide Ecological Mitigation Plan 
('SWEMP') setting out proposed ecological mitigation relating to the development 
informed by the approved submitted surveys pursuant to condition (43) above shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The SWEMP shall 
include the following: 

(ii) An over view of the habitats/species present at the site; 
(ii) Details of the required ecological mitigation; 
(iii) An assessment as to whether ecological mitigation necessitates sensitive lighting 
design; 
(iv) Proposed methodology for implementation of the ecological mitigation for each 
species and /or habitats; 
(v) Maps and plans to show the extent and location of proposed mitigation works; 
(vi) Timetables for implementation of proposed mitigation works sufficient to demonstrate 
that the works are aligned with the proposed timetable for works relating to construction; 

(vii) Persons responsible for implementing the mitigation works, including times during 
construction when specialist ecologists will need to be present on site to undertake / 
oversee the mitigation works; 
(viii) Interim management and monitoring proposals to ensure that habitats 
created/enhanced as part of the SWEMP will be managed appropriately.  



The ecological works as set out in the SWEMP shall only be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details.

44 In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy DP25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

45 Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be permitted 
other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning Authority which may 
be given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that there is no 
resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater or archaeology. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.

45 To avoid adverse impact on the Groundwater Source Protection Zone and principal 
aquifer through mobilisation of contamination or creation of new pathways and to 
safeguard potential archaeology within the site to accord with policies DP5 and DP12 of  
the adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017).

46 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 above (the reserved matters) for the 
residential site 1 shall include a package of ecological enhancement measures to be 
incorporated into the development. The enhancements must include (but not limited to) 
integrated bat and bird boxes and insect homes/hotels.

46 In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy DP25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

47 The details submitted in pursuance of condition 1 (reserved matters) for the residential 
site 1 shall include details and samples of all materials to be used externally.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

47 To ensure that the development does not harm the visual amenity of the locality in 
accordance with Policies DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

48 Details pursuant to condition 1 (the reserved matters) for the residential site 1 shall be 
accompanied by a Noise Assessment which considers in detail the impact of existing and 
future noise sources on the future residents of the site taking into account the layout and 
orientation of the dwellings and suggests appropriate mitigation measures.

48 Various sources of noise have been identified at the outline stage and a further 
assessment is necessary to ensure that appropriate mitigation is secured for future 
residents of the development in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

49 The details pursuant to condition 1 (reserved matters) for the residential site 1 shall 
include a landscaping scheme including both hard and soft landscaping, including 
boundary treatment and a programme for its management, shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority and shall be implemented prior to the first use 
of the residential site 1 (unless this falls outside of the planting season in which case it 
shall be implemented at the first opportunity during the following planting season, 
between October and March inclusive).  Such landscaping shall thereafter be maintained 
for a period of five years.  Any trees, shrubs or grassed areas which die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased within this period shall be replaced within the 
next planting season with plants of similar species and size to that approved.

49 To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

50 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 for the residential site 1 shall include details 
of the car parking layout, number of spaces and turning space.  The approved car parking 
(including any carports and garages) and turning space shall be provided prior to 
occupation of the residential site 1 hereby approved and kept available for such use at 
all times and no development, whether permitted by the Town and Country Planning 



(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 or not, shall be carried out on that area of 
land or to preclude vehicular access thereto.

50 To ensure the permanent retention of satisfactory car parking facilities in accordance 
with the Local Planning Authority's standards and Policies DP2, DP3 and DP4 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan.

51 Prior to the occupation of the residential site 1 a maintenance manual for the proposed 
sustainable drainage scheme shall be submitted to (and approved in writing) by the local 
planning authority. The manual at a minimum shall include the following details:
o A description of the drainage system and its key components
o An as-built general arrangement plan with the location of drainage measures and 
critical features clearly marked
o Details of the future maintenance requirements of each drainage or SuDS component, 
and the frequency of such inspections and maintenance activities
o Details of who will undertake inspections and maintenance activities, including the 
arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage system throughout its 
lifetime. 

The drainage scheme as approved shall subsequently be maintained in accordance with 
these details.

51 To ensure that any measures to mitigate flood risk and protect water quality on/off the 
site are fully implemented and maintained (both during and after construction), in 
accordance with Policy CS25 and DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

52 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 (the reserved matters) shall include details 
of secure and weatherproof cycle parking for residential site 1.  Such facilities shall be 
maintained thereafter.

52 To encourage sustainable methods of transport in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP4 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

53 Prior to the occupation of the residential site 1 hereby approved, a Residential Travel 
Plan is to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing and 
should cover the following issues:
- Travel Plan co-ordinator
- Travel Surveys
- Measures to be taken to encourage walking, cycling, use of public transport and reduce 
car travel by residents.
- Monitoring and review in collaboration with KCC Highways and Highways England.
- Programme for implementation.

The approved Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
implementation programme.

53 To encourage sustainable methods of transport and to ensure that the impact of the 
proposal on the free and safe flow of traffic on the local and strategic highway network is 
kept to a minimum and to minimise the impact of the development on air quality in 
accordance with in accordance with Policies DP3, DP4 and DP5 of the adopted Dartford 
Local Plan.

54 Prior to the occupation of the residential site 1 a Verification Report (VR) pertaining to 
the surface water drainage system, carried out by a suitably qualified professional, shall 
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.  The VR shall 
demonstrate the suitable operation of the drainage system such that flood risk is 
appropriately managed and shall contain information and evidence (including 
photographs) of earthworks; details and locations of inlets, outlets and control structures; 



extent of planting; details of materials utilised in construction including subsoil, topsoil, 
aggregate and membrane liners; full as built drawings; and topographical survey of 'as 
constructed' features.

54 To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as constructed in accordance 
with Policy CS25 of the adopted Local Plan.

55 Prior to occupation of the residential site 1 hereby approved, a contaminated land closure 
report shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The closure 
report shall include details of the proposed remediation works and the quality assurance 
certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full in accordance with the 
approved methodology.  This shall include photographic evidence.  Details of any post 
remediation sampling and analysis to show the site has reached the required clean-up 
criteria shall be included in the closure report together with the necessary documentation 
detailing what waste materials have been removed from the site.

55 In the interests of safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan and/or the protection of Controlled Waters.

56 Where infiltration is to be used to manage the surface water from the development hereby 
permitted, it will only be allowed within those parts of the site where information is 
submitted to demonstrate to the Local Planning Authority's satisfaction that there is no 
resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters and/or ground stability. The development 
shall only then be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

56 To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with policies DP2, DP4 and 
DP5 of the adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017).

57 Prior to occupation of the residential site 1 hereby approved, details of any proposed 
external lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Such details shall include siting, angles, levels of illumination and any shields 
and shall identify those areas/features that are particularly sensitive for badgers and bats 
where lighting could lead disturbance within or around their breeding sites and resting 
places or along important routes used to access key areas of their territory and provide 
a map clearly showing the dark areas/corridors which are to be retained within the 
development. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

57 In the interests of road safety, residential amenities and protection of wildlife in 
accordance with Policies DP2, DP3, DP5, DP13 and DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local 
Plan.

58 Prior to the use of the residential site 1 hereby approved, each dwelling shall be provided 
with at least one parking space which shall be equipped with an electric vehicle (EV) 
charging point.

58 To secure a form of mitigation to address air quality impacts from the development in 
accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

59 Prior to the first use of the residential site 1 (larger site) an emergency access, pedestrian 
and cycle access from Cotton Lane via the shared access with the bowls club and rugby 
club into residential site 1 shall be provided and shall be fully operational.

59 To ensure that safe and convenient access is provided into residential site 1 for 
emergency vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists in accordance with Policies DP3 and DP4 
of the adopted Local Plan.

60 No occupation of the residential site 1 hereby approved shall take place until a strategy 
for the removal and disposal of foul waters from the site and a timetable for 



implementation has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in 
writing.  The approved details shall be implemented in full.

60 To ensure that the site addresses the current inadequacy of the waste water disposal 
infrastructure in accordance with Policy CS25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

61 No occupation of the residential site 1 hereby approved shall take place until a strategy 
for the provision of potable water to the site and a timetable for implementation has been 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.  The approved details 
shall be implemented in full.

61 To ensure that the site addresses the current inadequacy of the supply of water to the 
site in accordance with Policy CS25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

62 Prior to occupation of the residential site 1 hereby approved details of facilities for the 
storage and collection of waste and refuse within the curtilage of the site shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall 
be carried out and thereafter maintained in accordance with the approved details.

62 To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the appearance of the 
locality, and that adequate access can be gained by collection vehicles in accordance 
with Policy DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

63 Before occupation the dwelling(s) on residential site 1 shall comply with the National 
Space Standard/Building Regulations Optional Requirement. Evidence of compliance 
shall be notified to the building control body appointed for the development in the 
appropriate Full Plans application or Building Notice to enable the building control body 
to check compliance.

63 To achieve a satisfactory standard of living conditions for future occupiers, and in 
accordance with Policy CS17 of the Dartford Core Strategy.

64 No part of the residential site 1 development hereby approved shall be occupied until 
evidence has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority confirming that measures 
to achieve internal water usage rates of not more than 110 litres per person per day have 
been implemented and signed off under Building Regulations 2015 (or any subsequent 
amendments).

64 In accordance with the requirements of Policy DP11 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

65 No part of the residential site 1 development hereby approved shall be occupied until 
evidence has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority confirming that the Building 
Regulations:

  
Part M4 (2) or M4(3) Wheelchair Adaptable Dwellings have been implemented for at 
least one of the dwellings within residential site 1 and signed off under Building 
Regulations 2015 (or any subsequent amendments).

65 In accordance with the requirements of Policy DP8 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

Residential Site 2

66 No development on residential site 2 shall take place until a Construction Method 
Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction 
period. The Statement shall provide for: 
a) The hours of construction 
b) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
c) parking of construction vehicles



d) Routing and access for of construction and delivery vehicles to / from site
e) Timing of deliveries
f) Loading and unloading of plant and materials 
g) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 
h) Temporary traffic management / signage
i) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding 
j) Wheel washing facilities 
k) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction.

66 No details have been submitted with the application and such details are required prior 
to commencement in the interests of the amenities of the area and highway safety and 
convenience in accordance with Policies DP3 and DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

67 No development of residential site 2 shall take place until the applicant, or their agents 
or successors in title, has secured the implementation of:
i) archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and written 
timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority; 
and 
i) following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure preservation in 
situ of important archaeological remains and/or further archaeological investigation and 
recording in accordance with a specification and timetable which has been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority

67 To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and recorded 
and that due regard is had to the preservation in situ of important archaeological remains 
in accordance with Policy DP12 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

68 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 above (the reserved matters) for the 
residential site 2 shall include details of existing and proposed levels of the land and 
building(s), including a contoured site plan, and section drawings showing any required 
retaining walls.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.

68 In order to secure a satisfactory form of development having regard to the sloping nature 
of the site and in the interests of visual amenities in accordance with Policy DP2 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan.

69 Before commencement of any building operations on the residential site 2, a 
contaminated land assessment, including a site investigation and remediation 
methodology (if necessary) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.  If during any works contamination is encountered which has not previously 
been identified then the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an 
appropriate remediation scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority.  Any 
remediation details shall be implemented as approved.

69 In the interests of safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan and/or the protection of Controlled Waters.

70 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 above (the reserved matters) for the 
residential site 2 shall include detailed sustainable surface water drainage scheme for 
that site shall be submitted to (and approved in writing by) the local planning authority. 
The detailed drainage scheme shall demonstrate that the surface water generated by 
this development (for all rainfall durations and intensities up to and including the climate 
change adjusted critical 100 year storm) can be accommodated and disposed of within 
the curtilage of the site without increase to flood risk on or off-site. The drainage scheme 
shall also demonstrate that silt and pollutants resulting from the site use and construction 
can be adequately managed to ensure there is no pollution risk to receiving waters. The 
drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to 
first occupation of the development (or within an agreed implementation schedule).



70 To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the disposal of 
surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the risk of on/off 
site flooding and to ensure that groundwaters are protected in accordance with Policy 
CS25 and DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

71 Prior to the commencement of development on the residential site 2, the results of a 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal ('PEA') for that site shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for written approval. The PEA shall include a review of the existing 
ecological survey data to assess if they are still valid or make recommendations as to 
any updated specific species surveys that need to be carried out. Where identified as 
necessary pursuant to the PEA, no works shall commence until the necessary detailed 
further specific species surveys have been carried out and the results of those surveys 
have been submitted as an update to the PEA and the Local Planning Authority has 
approved the updated PEA in writing.

71 In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy DP25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

72 Prior to the commencement of development on the residential site 2, (including any 
ground works, site or vegetation clearance) a site-wide Ecological Mitigation Plan 
('SWEMP') setting out proposed ecological mitigation relating to the development 
informed by the approved submitted surveys pursuant to condition (71) above shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The SWEMP shall 
include the following: 

(iii) An over view of the habitats/species present at the site; 
(ii) Details of the required ecological mitigation; 
(iii) An assessment as to whether ecological mitigation necessitates sensitive lighting 
design; 
(iv) Proposed methodology for implementation of the ecological mitigation for each 
species and /or habitats; 
(v) Maps and plans to show the extent and location of proposed mitigation works; 
(vi) Timetables for implementation of proposed mitigation works sufficient to demonstrate 
that the works are aligned with the proposed timetable for works relating to construction; 

(vii) Persons responsible for implementing the mitigation works, including times during 
construction when specialist ecologists will need to be present on site to undertake / 
oversee the mitigation works; 
(viii) Interim management and monitoring proposals to ensure that habitats 
created/enhanced as part of the SWEMP will be managed appropriately.  

The ecological works as set out in the SWEMP shall only be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details.

72 In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy DP25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

73 Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be permitted 
other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning Authority which may 
be given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that there is no 
resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater and archaeology. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.

73 To avoid adverse impact on the Groundwater Source Protection Zone and principal 
aquifer through mobilisation of contamination or creation of new pathways and safeguard 
potential archaeology within the site to accord with policies DP5 and DP12 of  the 
adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017).

74 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 above (the reserved matters) for the 
residential site 2 shall include a package of ecological enhancement measures to be 



incorporated into the development. The enhancements must include (but not limited to) 
integrated bat and bird boxes and insect homes/hotels.

74 In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy DP25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

75 The details submitted in pursuance of condition 1 (reserved matters) for the residential 
site 2 shall include details and samples of all materials to be used externally.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

75 To ensure that the development does not harm the visual amenity of the locality in 
accordance with Policies DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

76 Details pursuant to condition 1 (the reserved matters) for the residential site 2 shall be 
accompanied by a Noise Assessment which considers in detail the impact of existing and 
future noise sources on the future residents of the site taking into account the layout and 
orientation of the dwellings and suggests appropriate mitigation measures.

76 Various sources of noise have been identified at the outline stage and a further 
assessment is necessary to ensure that appropriate mitigation is secured for future 
residents of the development in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

77 The details pursuant to condition 1 (reserved matters) for the residential site 2 shall 
include a landscaping scheme including both hard and soft landscaping, boundary 
treatment, the retention and reinforcement with native species of trees and vegetation 
along the southern boundary identified as category B trees in the submitted Tree Survey 
and Constraints Report submitted on 28th September 2018, the retention of the trees on 
the northern boundary of residential site 2 and identified as category A trees in the 
submitted Tree Survey and Constraints Report submitted on 28th September 2018 and 
details of tree protection measures for these retained trees and a programme for its 
management, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and 
shall be implemented prior to the first use of the residential site 2 (unless this falls outside 
of the planting season in which case it shall be implemented at the first opportunity during 
the following planting season, between October and March inclusive).  Such landscaping 
shall thereafter be maintained for a period of five years.  Any trees, shrubs or grassed 
areas which die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased within this 
period shall be replaced within the next planting season with plants of similar species 
and size to that approved.

77 To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

78 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 for the residential site 2 shall include details 
of the car parking layout, number of spaces and turning space.  The approved car parking 
(including any carports and garages) and turning space shall be provided prior to 
occupation of the residential site 2 hereby approved and kept available for such use at 
all times and no development, whether permitted by the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 or not, shall be carried out on that area of 
land or to preclude vehicular access thereto.

78 To ensure the permanent retention of satisfactory car parking facilities in accordance 
with the Local Planning Authority's standards and Policies DP2, DP3 and DP4 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan.

79 No use of the residential site 2 (accessed off London Road) shall take place until the 
priority junction vehicular access with ghost right turn facility from the A226 London Road 
as shown on Figure ‘TBC’ (or as amended with the written agreement of the Local 
Planning Authority and which shall be the subject of a Road Safety Audit) has been 
completed and is fully operational.



79 In the interests of highway safety and amenity in accordance with Policies DP3 and DP4 
of the adopted Local Plan.

80 Prior to the occupation of the residential site 2 a maintenance manual for the proposed 
sustainable drainage scheme shall be submitted to (and approved in writing) by the local 
planning authority. The manual at a minimum shall include the following details:
o A description of the drainage system and its key components
o An as-built general arrangement plan with the location of drainage measures and 
critical features clearly marked
o Details of the future maintenance requirements of each drainage or SuDS component, 
and the frequency of such inspections and maintenance activities
o Details of who will undertake inspections and maintenance activities, including the 
arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, or any other 
arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage system throughout its 
lifetime. 

The drainage scheme as approved shall subsequently be maintained in accordance with 
these details.

80 To ensure that any measures to mitigate flood risk and protect water quality on/off the 
site are fully implemented and maintained (both during and after construction), in 
accordance with Policy CS25 and DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

81 The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 (the reserved matters) shall include details 
of secure and weatherproof cycle parking for residential site 2.  Such facilities shall be 
maintained thereafter.

81 To encourage sustainable methods of transport in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP4 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

82 Prior to the first use of the residential site 2 hereby approved, a Residential Travel Plan 
is to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing and should 
cover the following issues:
- Travel Plan co-ordinator
- Travel Surveys
- Measures to be taken to encourage walking, cycling, use of public transport and reduce 
car travel by residents.
- Monitoring and review in collaboration with KCC Highways and Highways England.
- Programme for implementation.

The approved Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
implementation programme.

82 To encourage sustainable methods of transport and to ensure that the impact of the 
proposal on the free and safe flow of traffic on the local and strategic highway network is 
kept to a minimum and to minimise the impact of the development on air quality in 
accordance with in accordance with Policies DP3, DP4 and DP5 of the adopted Dartford 
Local Plan.

83 Prior to the occupation of the residential site 2 a Verification Report (VR) pertaining to 
the surface water drainage system, carried out by a suitably qualified professional, shall 
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.  The VR shall 
demonstrate the suitable operation of the drainage system such that flood risk is 
appropriately managed and shall contain information and evidence (including 
photographs) of earthworks; details and locations of inlets, outlets and control structures; 
extent of planting; details of materials utilised in construction including subsoil, topsoil, 
aggregate and membrane liners; full as built drawings; and topographical survey of 'as 
constructed' features.



83 To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as constructed in accordance 
with Policy CS25 of the adopted Local Plan.

84 Prior to occupation of the residential site 2 hereby approved, a contaminated land closure 
report shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The closure 
report shall include details of the proposed remediation works and the quality assurance 
certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full in accordance with the 
approved methodology.  This shall include photographic evidence.  Details of any post 
remediation sampling and analysis to show the site has reached the required clean-up 
criteria shall be included in the closure report together with the necessary documentation 
detailing what waste materials have been removed from the site.

84 In the interests of safety and amenity in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan and/or the protection of Controlled Waters.

85 Where infiltration is to be used to manage the surface water from the development hereby 
permitted, it will only be allowed within those parts of the site where information is 
submitted to demonstrate to the Local Planning Authority's satisfaction that there is no 
resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters and/or ground stability. The development 
shall only then be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

85 To prevent pollution of the water environment in accordance with policies DP2, DP4 and 
DP5 of the adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017).

86 Prior to occupation of the residential site 2 hereby approved, details of any proposed 
external lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Such details shall include siting, angles, levels of illumination and any shields 
and shall identify those areas/features that are particularly sensitive for badgers and bats 
where lighting could lead to disturbance within or around their breeding sites and resting 
places or along important routes used to access key areas of their territory and provide 
a map clearly showing the dark areas/corridors which are to be retained within the 
development. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

86 In the interests of road safety, residential amenities and protection of wildlife in 
accordance with Policies DP2, DP3, DP5, DP13 and DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local 
Plan.

87 Prior to the use of the residential site 2 hereby approved, each dwelling shall be provided 
with at least one parking space which shall be equipped with an electric vehicle (EV) 
charging point.

87 To secure a form of mitigation to address air quality impacts from the development in 
accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

88 No occupation of the residential site 2 hereby approved shall take place until a strategy 
for the removal and disposal of foul waters from the site and a timetable for 
implementation has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in 
writing.  The approved details shall be implemented in full.

88 To ensure that the site addresses the current inadequacy of the waste water disposal 
infrastructure in accordance with Policy CS25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

89 No occupation of the residential site 2 hereby approved shall take place until a strategy 
for the provision of water to the site and a timetable for implementation has been 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.  The approved details 
shall be implemented in full.



89 To ensure that the site addresses the current inadequacy of the supply of water to the 
site in accordance with Policy CS25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

90 Prior to occupation of the residential site 2 hereby approved details of facilities for the 
storage and collection of waste and refuse within the curtilage of the site shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall 
be carried out and thereafter maintained in accordance with the approved details.

90 To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the appearance of the 
locality, and that adequate access can be gained by collection vehicles in accordance 
with Policy DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

91 Before occupation the dwelling(s) on residential site 2 shall comply with the National 
Space Standard/Building Regulations Optional Requirement. Evidence of compliance 
shall be notified to the building control body appointed for the development in the 
appropriate Full Plans application or Building Notice to enable the building control body 
to check compliance.

91 To achieve a satisfactory standard of living conditions for future occupiers, and in 
accordance with Policy CS17 of the Dartford Core Strategy.

92 No part of the residential site 2 development hereby approved shall be occupied until 
evidence has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority confirming that measures 
to achieve internal water usage rates of not more than 110 litres per person per day have 
been implemented and signed off under Building Regulations 2015 (or any subsequent 
amendments).

92 In accordance with the requirements of Policy DP11 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

93 No part of the residential site 2 development hereby approved shall be occupied until 
evidence has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority confirming that the Building 
Regulations:

  
Part M4 (2) or M4(3) Wheelchair Adaptable Dwellings have been implemented for at 
least one of the dwellings within residential site 2 and signed off under Building 
Regulations 2015 (or any subsequent amendments).

93 In accordance with the requirements of Policy DP8 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

Open Space/public car parks

94 No development of the public open space shall take place until the applicant, or their 
agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of heritage 
interpretation work in accordance with a written specification and timetable which has 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

94 To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and recorded 
in accordance with Policy DP12 of the adopted Local Plan.

95 No development of the public open space shall take place until the applicant, or their 
agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of:
i archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and 
written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority; and 
ii following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure 
preservation in situ of important archaeological remains and/or further archaeological 
investigation and recording in accordance with a specification and timetable which has 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority



95 To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and recorded 
and that due regard is had to the preservation in situ of important archaeological remains 
in accordance with Policy DP12 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

96 The details submitted for the open space pursuant to condition 1 (the reserved matters) 
shall include details of the surfacing to the public right of way DR9 within the application 
site.  The surfacing works shall be completed prior to the first use of the public open 
space and thereafter maintained.

96 To secure a safe and usable pedestrian link from the residential site 1 to the public open 
space for the benefit of future residents and the general public in accordance with Policy 
DP4 of the adopted Local Plan.

97 The details submitted for the open space pursuant to condition 1 (the reserved matters) 
shall include details of all footpath and cycle routes through the open space, the surfacing 
of those routes, details of bins and seating, information boards, waymarkers, public art 
(which links to the heritage of the site), children's play features and the pond.  The 
approved details shall be implemented prior to the first use of the public open space and 
maintained thereafter.

97 In the interests of securing a high quality public open space that benefits the future 
residents of the wider development as well as the general public in accordance with 
Polices CS4 and DP14 of the adopted Local Plan.

98 The details pursuant to condition 1 (reserved matters) for the public open space shall 
include a landscaping scheme including both hard and soft landscaping, including 
boundary treatment, the retention and reinforcement with native species of trees and 
vegetation within the site, the provision of a wildlife corridor and a programme for its 
management, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and 
shall be implemented prior to the first use of the public open space (unless this falls 
outside of the planting season in which case it shall be implemented at the first 
opportunity during the following planting season, between October and March inclusive).  
Such landscaping shall thereafter be maintained unless agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Any trees, shrubs or grassed areas which die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased within this period shall be replaced within the 
next planting season with plants of similar species and size to that approved.

98 To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

99 Prior to the commencement of development on the public open space, the results of a 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal ('PEA') for that site shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for written approval. The PEA shall include a review of the existing 
ecological survey data to assess if they are still valid or make recommendations as to 
any updated specific species surveys that need to be carried out. Where identified as 
necessary pursuant to the PEA, no works shall commence until the necessary detailed 
further specific species surveys have been carried out and the results of those surveys 
have been submitted as an update to the PEA and the Local Planning Authority has 
approved the updated PEA in writing.

99 In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy DP25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

100 Prior to the commencement of development on the public open space, (including any 
ground works, site or vegetation clearance) a site-wide Ecological Mitigation Plan 
('SWEMP') setting out proposed ecological mitigation relating to the development 
informed by the approved submitted surveys pursuant to condition (98) above shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The SWEMP shall 
include the following: 



(iii) An over view of the habitats/species present at the site; 
(ii) Details of the required ecological mitigation; 
(iii) An assessment as to whether ecological mitigation necessitates sensitive lighting 
design; 
(iv) Proposed methodology for implementation of the ecological mitigation for each 
species and /or habitats; 
(v) Maps and plans to show the extent and location of proposed mitigation works; 
(vi) Timetables for implementation of proposed mitigation works sufficient to demonstrate 
that the works are aligned with the proposed timetable for works relating to construction; 

(vii) Persons responsible for implementing the mitigation works, including times during 
construction when specialist ecologists will need to be present on site to undertake / 
oversee the mitigation works; 
(viii) Interim management and monitoring proposals to ensure that habitats 
created/enhanced as part of the SWEMP will be managed appropriately.  

The ecological works as set out in the SWEMP shall only be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details.

100 In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy DP25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

101 Prior to the first use of the public open space and public car parks hereby approved, a 
Landscape & Ecological Management & Monitoring Plan ('LEMMP') shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the 
approved LEEMP shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. The 
content of the LEMMP shall include the following;- 
(i) Description and evaluation of features to be managed; 
(ii) Aims and objectives of the LEMMP;
(iii) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives; 
(iv) Prescriptions for management actions, together with a plan of management 
compartments; 
(v) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled 
forward over a 10-year period); 
(vi) Details of the body or organisation responsible for the implementation of the LEMMP; 

(vii) Details of species and habitat monitoring; 
(viii) A timetable for proposed LEMMP reviews and any necessary updates to the LEMMP 
arising from species and habitat monitoring.

101 In the interests of safeguarding and enhancing ecology and biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy DP25 of the Dartford Local Plan.

102 No external lighting shall be used within the public open space or public car parks unless 
the details have first been agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such details 
shall consider the impact on wildlife and in particular bats and shall be designed in such 
a way as to minimise the impacts thereto.  The approved lighting shall be maintained.

102 In the interests of visual amenities and minimising the impact of the development on 
ecology in accordance with Policies DP2 and DP25 of the adopted Local Plan.

INFORMATIVES

01 The developer is advised to consider the information contained within the Environment 
Agency's letter of 29th August 2018 in respect of piling and risks to groundwater and 
material waste management.



02 The applicant is advised to consider the concerns of the KCC PROW Officer in respect 
of the route of the diverted PROW DR9 through the proposed residential site 1 in respect 
of its relationship with roadways and the importance of securing a good pedestrian 
environment.

03 The developer is advised to consider the information contained within the letter from the 
Countryside Access Improvement Plan Officer dated 18th September 2018 in respect of 
the protection of the Public Right of Way DR9 from encroachment etc.

04 The applicant is advised to consider the information contained within the email from 
Thames Water dated 21st September 2018 in respect of building distances from 'water 
assets'.

05 It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby 
approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where 
required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in 
order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority.

06 The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in 
every aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore 
important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this 
aspect of the works prior to commencement on site.

07 The applicant is reminded that any works near to the overhead electric lines must be 
carried out in accordance with the Health and Safety Executive guidance document GS6 
and the Electricity at work regulations.

08 If planning permission is granted for the development which is the subject of this notice, 
liability for a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payment is likely to arise.  Persons with 
an interest in the land are advised to consult the CIL guide on Dartford Council's Website 
(http://tinyurl.com/DartfordCIL) for information on the charge and any exemptions or 
relief, and to submit the relevant forms (available from www.planningportal.gov.uk/cil) to 
the Council before commencement to avoid additional interest or surcharges.  If liable, a 
CIL Liability Notice will be sent detailing the charges, which will be registered as a local 
land charge against the relevant land.

09 The applicant is advised to consider the document entitled 'Special Requirements for 
Safe Working' provided by Esso in respect of the underground oil pipeline that lies 
approximately 35 metres to the east of the site.

10 Kent County Council recommends that all developers work with a telecommunication 
partner or subcontractor in the early stages of planning for any new development to make 
sure that Next Generation Access Broadband is a fundamental part of the project. Access 
to superfast broadband should be thought of as an essential utility for all new homes and 
businesses and given the same importance as water or power in any development 
design. Please liaise with a telecom provider to decide the appropriate solution for this 
development and the availability of the nearest connection point to high speed 
broadband. We understand that major telecommunication providers are now offering 
Next Generation Access Broadband connections free of charge to the developer. For 
advice on how to proceed with providing access to superfast broadband please contact 
broadband@kent.gov.uk

11 No furniture, fence, barrier or other structure may be erected on or across the Public 
Right of Way without the express consent of the Highway Authority. There must be no 
disturbance of the surface of the Public Right of Way, or obstruction of its use, either 
during or following any approved development without the express consent of the 
Highway Authority. No hedging or shrubs should be planted within 1 metre of the edge 
of the Public Right of Way. Any planning consent given confers no consent or right to 
close or divert any Public Right of Way at any time without the express permission of the 
Highway Authority.



12 The development subject to this notice falls within a highlighted proximity of a mains gas 
pipe which is considered a major hazard. 

The applicant/ agent/ developer is strongly advised to contact the pipeline operator 
PRIOR to ANY works being undertaken pursuant to the permission granted/ confirmed 
by this notice. 



@ A4° 1:5,000

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2018

Application No:: 18/01074/OUT

Address : Stone Lodge Complex, Cotton lane, Stone 

Date: 27 November 2018 Scale: Not to Scale



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

13 December 2018

Reference: 18/00956/COU Officer: Abigail Lavery

Location: Meeting Room Below 91 Hilltop Gardens
Dartford
Kent
DA1 5JF

Proposal: Change of use of the meeting lounge to a 2 bed adapted property and use of 
communal lawn for private garden with associated boundary treatment

Applicant: Local Authority Dartford Borough Council/ Housing

Agent: Mr Robert Hendry

Parish / Ward: Un-Parished Area Of Dartford / Joyce Green

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) The site is located in a residential area and is part of the Temple Hill housing estate. 
The building and its curtilage are owned by Dartford Borough Council 

(2) The site itself comprises an area of around 140 square metres and contains space 
previously used as a meeting room/ communal lounge area which is located on the north 
western corner of a part 2 storey, part single storey building at ground floor level. The building 
contains around 13 Council owned residential properties. Also included within the red line plan 
is a grassed area and some shrubbery. 

(3) The existing layout consists of a large lounge, a toilet, a laundry room, a store room, a 
kitchen and an office.

(4) The site is bordered to the north by a public footpath and surrounded by communal 
lawns and shrubbery. To the north east there is a small car park.

(5) There is a flat above the existing meeting room (No.91 Hilltop Gardens) and another is 
attached to its southern side (No.83).

THE PROPOSAL

(6) The proposal is for conversion of the ground floor space which has been in use as a 
communal lounge/meeting room area, to a 2 bedroom adapted residential property. 

(7) The external changes proposed are relatively minor and include: the replacement of 2 
No. windows in the western elevation with a set of glazed doors; the replacement of a set of 
glazed doors in the southern elevation with a window; blocking up of the existing entrance to 
the lounge; and alterations to the window layout on the northern elevation.

(8) In terms of internal changes the proposed flat will contain 2 bedrooms, a lounge and 
kitchen area, a store room and a bathroom. 



(9) In order to provide private amenity space for the flat, a grassed area containing planting 
immediately adjacent to the western side of the unit is to be enclosed as a private garden. This 
will be surrounded with a wall and some close boarded fencing atop the wall in between the 
piers.  

(10) As a Borough Council property the application has been made by the Housing 
Department, and therefore the application is required to be considered by the Development 
Control Board.

RELEVANT HISTORY

(11) The applicant has advised that the lounge/meeting room provided a facility to serve the 
surrounding bungalows and flats when the occupants were elderly. The occupants of these 
properties has now changed and this communal facility is no longer required and was last used 
in December 2016 and has been locked since. It also once housed laundry facilities however 
each tenant has now had a washing machine fitted so it is no longer required for this use.

(12) The meeting room is part of a block of flats which was erected in the late 1950s.

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(13) Environmental Health - no objections to the application

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(14) Neighbours were notified of the application on the 7th of September 2018. One letter 
of representation was received in response. The comments of the neighbour, who is adjacent 
to the site, refer to the cleaning of the windows and her desire that access is not granted to her 
garden in order to clean these. This is not a planning related matter. 

(15) Revised plans were received in October and in November 2018 and the description 
was amended accordingly. Consultation letters were sent again to all neighbours on the 26th 
of November 2018. Any additional representations will be reported in the update to Board.

RELEVANT POLICIES

(16) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(17) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy adopted 2011
CS10: Housing Provision

(18) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017
DP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
DP2: Good Design
DP5: Environmental and Amenity Protection 
DP7: Borough Housing Stock and Residential Amenity 
DP21: Securing Community Facilities

(19) Dartford Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document 2012

(20) The NPPF is also a material consideration. Paragraph 56 advises that "Good Design 
is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should 
contribute positively to making places better for people."

COMMENTS



Key Issues

(21) The key issues relate to the principle of the conversion; impact of the conversion of the 
amenities of surrounding residents, effect of the external changes on the character and 
appearance of the host building and wider area and the suitability of the unit for use as a 
dwelling is also a key issue. Parking is also a consideration.

Principle of the use

(22) The lounge/ meeting room has I understand only ever been a facility for the residents 
of the block that it falls within and is not a facility available to the wider community. The applicant 
advises that the former use of the floorspace is no longer required and so this is redundant 
floorspace As such I do not consider that this needs to be considered under Policy DP21 with 
regard to the loss of a community facility.

(23) With regard to the creation of a new residential unit, as a windfall site this is located on 
brownfield land, utilising an existing building with redundant floorspace. The property lies with 
Temple Hill with access to the facilities and public transport, including Fastrack, that serves the 
area.  I consider therefore that the proposal complies with Policies DP6 and CS10 and is 
sustainable development in the urban area maximising the use of redundant floorspace.

Amenity of surrounding neighbours

(24) The alterations to the unit will be largely internal. The external changes proposed are 
to fenestration and also boundary treatment.

(25) To the western elevation 3 of the existing 5 No. windows are to be retained and two of 
these will be replaced by a set of patio doors which will open into what will be the private garden 
for the flat. All of these windows will face into the proposed garden area thereby not overlooking 
private land belonging to any neighbour.

(26) The southern elevation contains a set of glazed doors and 2 No. windows. The windows 
will be retained and the doors replaced by 2 No. additional windows. I consider that the two 
which will face the garden of No.83 should be obscure glazed to prevent overlooking of this 
neighbour. I do note that they are already in situ however as they will now serve the private 
amenity space of the occupiers the nature of the relationship between this neighbour and what 
was the communal lounge will change. Due to the proximity of these windows to No.83 I 
consider that it would be beneficial to the amenities of both the site and the neighbour if these 
were obscured. The lounge will have three other windows and a set of glazed doors in total 
which will provide a more than adequate outlook for this room.

(27) The northern elevation presently contains 2 No. small windows and a larger window 
with multiple panes. The proposed fenestration will consist of 6 No. small windows. These 
windows will serve the 2 No. bedrooms proposed and will face the footpath and an area of 
shrubbery. This area is not private and therefore I consider that there will be no overlooking as 
a result. 

(28) The existing glazed doors to the eastern elevation are to be bricked up.

(29) The proposed wall which will enclose the garden will have an approximate height of 1.8 
metres. The southern side of the wall will also contain an access gate. The wall will be located 
to the northern side of an existing brick wall. The western elevation of the wall has not been 
provided however if Members are minded to approve the application then this can be a condition 
[3] of the approval. I consider that, based on its location, it will not result in harm to the amenities 
of any surrounding neighbours.

(30) I have reviewed all of the proposed external changes to the site and I am convinced 
that these will not result in harm to the amenities of surrounding occupiers.



(31) In terms of the proposed use of the site which will be as a residential unit instead of as 
a communal lounge I consider that this will also not harm the amenities of surrounding 
neighbours for the following reasons. 

(32) The site is part of an existing block containing residential properties and I consider that 
the conversion forms a logical part of this. The establishment of an additional unit within a 
residential area should not cause undue disturbance or a marked increase in levels of activity 
for neighbours. I also note that there have not been any neighbour objections received for 
reasons related to amenity impact.

Character and appearance of the building 

(33) The external changes are relatively modest and the form and size of the unit is to be 
retained. I do not consider that the alterations to the windows will be harmful to the visual 
amenities of the area.

(34) The proposed wall will be in keeping with other forms of boundary treatment in the 
vicinity and if members are minded to approve the application a condition will ensure that 
additional information is provided and that the wall is built in accordance with this. This is to 
ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

(35) It will be necessary to remove some shrubbery in order to provide the external amenity 
space for the flat. Therefore I also recommend a condition that a landscaping scheme be 
provided which includes replacement shrubbery to the other side of the wall.

Suitability of the unit as a dwelling

(36) The proposed flat will have 2 No. bedrooms, a bathroom and an open plan kitchen and 
lounge area. The internal floor area is approximately 110 square metres which exceeds the 
requirement for this property which is to be a 2 bed 4 person single storey dwelling according 
to the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS). The bedrooms are also of a decent size 
and exceed the requirements of the NDSS.

(37) The property will have a modest private garden with an area in the region of 60 square 
metres. Whilst there are not adopted standards in relation to minimum garden sizes I consider 
that this is a generous garden when viewed in comparison to the gardens at other properties in 
this block. I also consider that the provision of a garden is a benefit of the scheme to the 
occupiers as there are flats in the area which do not have private gardens. 

(38) Based on the internal size of the proposed flat, the good number of windows providing 
internal illumination and the external amenity space proposed I consider that the unit will offer 
occupiers an acceptable standard of living.

Parking 

(39) The Council's adopted parking standards, in respect of 1 and 2 bedroom properties, 
states that unallocated parking is preferred for flats.

(40) Parking for the dwellings in this area appears to be in the form of a small shared car 
park and on street parking in the adjacent roads. At the time of my site visit I saw that a bay 
was marked out as a disabled space. I consider that, if needed, a space could be allocated to 
this flat for the occupiers as it is likely that future users may require accessible parking as the 
property is to be an adapted dwelling. 

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS



(41) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(42) In determining the application regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty 
(PSED) as set down in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, in particular with regard to the 
need to:

-Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited 
under the Act;

-Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant characteristic and persons who 
do not share it. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine objectives 
of the Duty.

It is considered that the application proposals would not conflict with the objectives of the Duty.

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

(43) I am satisfied that the principle of the conversion is not contrary to planning policy and 
the detail of the proposal is appropriate in terms of the perceived key issues of neighbour and 
visual amenity, suitability of the unit as a dwelling and also parking. I consider that the scheme 
is compliant with the relevant policies of the Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017) as 
described above. I have considered all matters put before me in reaching this decision. I 
therefore recommend that the proposal be approved subject to the conditions set out below.

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.

01 In pursuance of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents: P002 V3, P00 V3, P008 V2, site location plan, block plan

02 For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development.

03 Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved, details of all boundary 
enclosures shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  
Development shall be carried out and thereafter maintained in accordance with the 
approved details.

03 To ensure that the proposed development does not harm the visual amenities of the 
appearance of the locality in accordance with Policy DP2 of the adopted Dartford Local 
Plan.

04 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a landscaping scheme 
including replacement planting to the western side of the site, shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority and shall be implemented prior to first 
occupation (unless this falls outside of the planting season in which case it shall be 
implemented at the first opportunity during the following planting season, between 



October and March inclusive).  Such landscaping shall thereafter be maintained for a 
period of five years.  Any trees, shrubs or grassed areas which die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased within this period shall be replaced within the 
next planting season with plants of similar species and size to that approved.

04 To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

05 All materials used externally in the infilling of windows shall match those of the existing 
building in colour and texture.

05 To ensure that the development does not harm the character and appearance of the 
existing building or visual amenity of the locality in accordance with Policy DP2 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan.



Crusader Court

Templars Court

28.7m

BM 32.47m

M
ar

sh
 S

tre
et

Jo
yc

e 
G

re
en

 W
al

k

HILLTOP

ST EDM
UNDS

ROAD

PO

KE
YE

S

KEYES ROAD

THAMES GATEVicarage

Surgery

23

51 9

2

7 to

10
0

10
4

10
6

109

121

118126
102

11
0

11
2

11
4

98

75

1 to 12

12

14
18

51

96

9593
63

65

56
57

88

86

53

64
54

26 to 36

20

27

67

21 22

83

84

15

33

90

13

92
89

94

25

32

78

19

33
 to

 4
4

26
 to

 3
8

51 to 61

13 to 22 23 to 32

1 to 49

12
0

12
4

10
8

12
2

101

115

11
6

13
4

52 to 62

40
 to

 5
0

103

113

39
 to

 4
9

25
 to

 3
7

76

17

91

29
3

52

35
41

LB

St Edmunds ChurchPost

24.5m

El Sub Sta

BM 26.64m

H
IL

LT
O

P 
G

A
R

D
EN

S

TCB

10
2

23

M
ar

sh
 S

tre
et

1

1 to 49

Crusader Court

11
4

90

9

2

12
2

10
0

1

2

2

92

98

14

7

Jo
yc

e 
G

re
en

 W
al

k

Vicarage 1 
to

 1
2

86

1

@ A4° 1:1,250

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2018

Application No:: 18/00956/COU

Address : Meeting Room Below 91 Hilltop Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 5JF 

Date: 27 November 2018 Scale: Not to Scale





DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

13 December 2018

Reference: 18/01149/FUL Officer: Abigail Lavery

Location: 7 New Barn Road
Southfleet
Kent
DA3 7LQ

Proposal: Raising height of roof and erection of extensions for conversion of existing 
bungalow into 5 bed two storey detached dwelling

Applicant: Mr A Booker

Agent: Anderson North Ltd

Parish / Ward: Southfleet Parish Council / Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) The site comprises a detached bungalow with a large rear garden and deep frontage. 
It is accessed off a private section of unmade road which is a spur from, and is still classified 
as part of, New Barn Road. The application site is one of two detached properties which are 
located on the southern side of this spur. There appears to be two detached properties to the 
west which are also accessed via this private section of road.

(2) The overall site area is around 1,100 sqm. The rear garden is some 25 metres deep 
and the front curtilage has an approximate depth of 15 metres, the plot widens from 16 metres 
at the front boundary to around 30 metres at the rear boundary. 

(3) The property is within the New Barn Area of Special Residential Character (ASRC). It 
is not within the Green Belt and the site is not subject to any Tree Preservation Orders.

(4) The existing bungalow is relatively wide and spans almost the full width of the plot with 
a 3 metre inset from the south eastern (side) boundary. The property has an attached garage 
to its western side and there are a few small outbuildings in the rear garden including 2 
greenhouses. At present the site is quite overgrown and the boundary treatment on all 
boundaries includes dense trees and shrubs. There are a number of particularly high trees to 
the front (north eastern) and side (south eastern) boundaries. The land immediately 
surrounding the dwelling is relatively even.

(5) The south eastern (side) boundary is bordered by the rear garden boundaries of Nos. 
3, 4, 5 and 6 New Barn Road. These are all detached properties with rear gardens each in the 
region of 30 metres in depth. The neighbour to the west shares its side boundary with the 
application property. This neighbouring property is a detached two storey dwelling which was 
originally a bungalow and was extended to form a two storey house (planning permission 
reference: 10/00560/FUL).

(6) To the northern side of the access road close boarded fencing demarcates the rear 
boundaries of houses in Ridgewood. Ridgewood is a 1990s residential development consisting 
of detached two storey houses. The rear gardens of the properties directly opposite the site 
(Nos.10 and 11 Ridgewood) are in the region of 15 metres in depth from the fence to the rear 
wall of the properties.



(7) The rear garden of the application property is bordered to the south by the rear gardens 
of properties on Studley Crescent. This road contains single storey and two storey dwellings, 
those immediately adjacent to 7 New Barn Road are bungalows with gardens in the region of 
12 to 15 metres long. These were erected in the late 1960s/early 1970s.

THE PROPOSAL

(8) The proposal is for extensions and alterations to the 3 bedroom bungalow including 
raising the height of the roof to form a two storey, 5 bedroom dwelling. The proposal will 
represent an increased footprint of around 40 square metres.

(9) The application seeks to raise the height of the main roof by approximately 2.2 metres 
resulting in an approximate new ridge height of 8.8 metres. The proposed eaves height to the 
front elevation is approximately 5.5 metres. Due to a very slight incline on site whereby the 
western side of the garden is slightly lower than the eastern side the rear eaves height will be 
5.2 metres on the eastern side of the house and 5.5 metres on the western side. 

(10) The proposed house is of a traditional design and will have a hipped roof with 2 No. 
double storey bay windows to the front elevation, also featuring hipped roofs. To the rear a part 
two storey, part single storey element is proposed on the eastern side of the house. The ground 
and first floor sections will project 5 metres and 3.4 metres from the main rear elevation 
respectively.

(11) The existing width of the bungalow including its attached garage is approximately 15.4 
metres and the proposed width of the house is 14.6 metres. The reduction is due to the offset 
from the shared boundary with No.8 New Barn road which will be in the region of 1 metre. 

(12) The front elevation, as noted above, will feature 2 No. two storey bay windows. The 
front door will feature glass panels either side of the main entrance. There are 5 No. windows 
proposed in the centre of the front elevation at first floor level which will provide a source of light 
to the landing area. So the first floor front elevations windows will only serve 2 habitable rooms.

(13) To the rear the existing windows at ground floor level will be replaced with 2 sets of bi-
fold doors, each featuring 6 panels. At first floor level 5 windows are proposed, only 2 of these 
windows will serve habitable rooms. The others serve dressing rooms and an ensuite  . Two of 
these will be located in the two storey rear element and three will be in the main rear elevation.

(14) Parking is indicated to be in the same location as the existing driveway. It is likely that 
the access gate will need to be widened in order to accommodate modern vehicles however as 
this alteration will not require planning permission it is not necessary to include this as part of 
the application.

RELEVANT HISTORY

(15) Erection of a single storey front, side and rear extension together with alterations to 
roof line over existing garage - 02/00303/FUL - Approved (not implemented)

(16) The property was built before the Second World War.

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(17) Southfleet Parish Council objects to the application on the grounds that:
- The dwelling is too large for its location
- The narrow private access track is not suitable for increasing traffic

There are also comments in relation to construction traffic, working hours, no burning of waste 
materials and also a Tree Preservation Order Inspection. 



NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(18) Consultation letters were sent to neighbours on 13th of September 2018. 5 letters of 
objection were received from 5 nearby properties in Ridgewood. These properties are to the 
north and north east of the site. They are all located on the other side of the private access road 
to the application property.

(19) A summary of the objections is as follows:

- Increased traffic 
- Loss of privacy and overlooking
- Loss of trees
- Impact on the Area of Special Residential Character 

Other concerns were raised in relation to structural issues, construction traffic, dust, the narrow 
width of the access, possible installation of security lights, damage to fencing amongst other 
matters which are not material planning considerations.

RELEVANT POLICIES

(20) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(21) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017
DP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
DP2: Good Design
DP5: Environmental and Amenity Protection 
DP7: Borough Housing Stock and Residential Amenity 
DP12: Historic Environment Strategy (Areas of Special Character)

(22) Dartford Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document 2012
Two spaces are required for this 5 bedroom home in this area south of the A2.

(23) New Barn Area of Special Residential Character Appraisal Supplementary Planning 
Guidance 2000

COMMENTS

Key Issues

(24) The key issues relate to; the impact of the proposal on neighbour amenity and design 
within the context of the Area of Special Residential Character (ASRC). Parking is also a 
consideration. 

Neighbour amenity 

(25) The property is detached with a relatively large curtilage. The front garden is some 15 
metres in depth and bordered to the north by the access road. Some of the representations 
received from properties at Ridgewood, which are two storey houses, have raised concerns in 
relation to overlooking and loss of privacy. I am convinced that the proposals will not result in 
overlooking or loss of privacy to the detriment of properties on Ridgewood.  

(26) The proposed windows at first floor level will be located at least 20 metres from the rear 
boundaries of Nos. 10 and 11 Ridgewood, which are the closest properties to the north of the 
site and further from the boundaries of No. 12 and 14. I also note that Nos. 10 and 11 have rear 
gardens in the region of 15 metres in depth. The new first floor windows, will therefore be in the 
region of 35 metres from the rear elevations of these properties at Ridgewood.  As discussed 
previously only 2 of these windows serve habitable rooms  (bedrooms), and I am satisfied that 



the distance of 20 metres between the windows and the rear garden boundaries will ensure 
that there is no unacceptable overlooking of these private gardens and the length of the gardens 
will also ensure that the distance to the private areas of the rear gardens exceeds 
recommended distances between properties.

(27) The windows proposed in the centre of the front elevation will be located above the 
stairs and internally the first floor hallway is set away from these by over 2 metres. There is also 
a small section of landing which will be around 1.2 metres from the windows. Even if views 
directly out of these windows were possible the separating distance between them and the rear 
gardens of Ridgewood would still be adequate to prevent any overlooking. However, I do 
consider that the position of these windows above the stairs will reduce their outlook.

(28) Due to the separating distance between the proposed first floor windows and the rear 
boundaries of houses at Ridgewood I do not consider that the trees are necessary to prevent 
harmful overlooking or loss of privacy. However, they do provide a good green setting and a 
greater level of privacy for both the application site and the surrounding houses as part of the 
ASRC. I consider therefore that it would be beneficial to ensure that a number of trees are 
retained on site, I would recommend that this is required by planning conditions and is 
discussed in greater detail as part of the consideration of design within the ASRC later in the 
report.

(29) In terms of the relationship with the neighbours to the south east on New Barn Road, 
these properties each have rear gardens in the region of 30 metres in depth and the proposed 
increased roof height will be between 3 and 5 metres away from the site's south eastern 
boundary (owing to the angled boundary line). I consider that this distance is adequate to 
prevent any harm to the amenities of these neighbours and I also note that various trees in their 
rear gardens will lessen the visibility of the proposal from these houses. 

(30) No.8 New Barn Road is the neighbour to the west which shares a side boundary with 
the site. It was converted to a house in 2010 and now has a maximum ridge height of around 
7.9 metres. This property, like the application site, sits on a relatively large plot and on a similar 
building line. The proposal will be a minimum of 3 metres from the flank elevation of No.8 with 
an eaves height of approximately 5 metres set in 1 metre from the boundary. 

(31) The windows proposed in both side elevations will be obscure glazed (as shown on the 
drawings). If members are minded to approve the application a condition [6] will ensure that 
these windows are provided as such.

(32) Given the scale of the dwelling at No.8 and the inset of the proposal from this neighbour 
I do not consider that the extensions will result in harm detrimental to this neighbour's amenities.

(33) The proposed first floor rear extension will be around 22 metres from the rear boundary 
of No.20 Studley Crescent to the south west. This distance is adequate to prevent overlooking 
of these neighbouring properties.

(34) Having visited the application site and also the neighbouring property 11 Ridgewood, 
and having reviewed aerial mapping, site photographs and neighbour representations, I am 
satisfied that the proposal will not result in harm to neighbour amenity in this location. 

Design within the context of the Area of Special Residential Character 

(35) Guidance in the preamble to policy DP2 of the Dartford Development Policies Plan 
(2017) at point 6.5 states: 
'Areas of Special Character on the Policies Map continue to be 'special' areas in Dartford in 
terms of their potential residential, townscape, historical or architectural interest in the locality. 
They do not have design guidance associated with them individually or on an area specific 
basis, but proposals should be designed to give close consideration to their specific character, 
and the site's built environment context.'



As such the appropriateness of the proposal will be assessed in terms of its context as part of 
the Area of Special Character and its immediate surroundings.

(36) In the New Barn Area of Special Residential Character Appraisal Supplementary 
Planning Document the general impression given 'is that the landscape has matured very well 
and provides a very good green setting for the buildings. The presence of mature trees and 
shrubs provides both ornament and privacy'. 

(37) The site is surrounded by trees both within its boundaries and in neighbouring gardens. 
This area is a good example of New Barn's mature landscaping which provides a good green 
setting for the buildings. The planting within the site has become particularly overgrown and 
therefore would require considerable management to make the plot usable. Having visited the 
site I do not consider that the various shrubbery and trees, including some high conifers, are 
worthy of protection. However, due to the area's designation as an Area of Special Character 
the retention of some of the mature landscaping and planting is important and therefore, if 
members are minded to approve the application, I recommend a condition [5] that a landscaping 
scheme be submitted for consideration by the local planning authority to ensure that a good 
level of planting is retained and/or provided on site. 

(38) Due to the fact that the trees and shrubs surrounding the house do not appear worthy 
of protection I do not consider it necessary that this information be provided prior to 
determination as satisfactory retention and replacement planting can be guaranteed through 
the use of a condition. I also note that the majority of the floor space proposed will be vertical 
as it is intended to build up and includes only modest extensions to the rear. It is therefore 
unlikely that many trees will be affected by the footings and foundations required for the 
extension work. The applicant has expressed a desire to retain as much greenery as possible 
however it is not considered necessary that the landscaping layout is agreed prior to permission 
being granted given that this is a householder application for an extension to a dwelling. The 
condition will ensure that the landscaping scheme is, however, submitted prior to occupation of 
the development and implemented in the first planting season.

(39) The site is located on a private road and is not visible from any public vantage points. 
The surrounding context is mixed and includes both two storey and single storey properties. 
The properties at Ridgewood are all two storey detached houses and the adjacent properties 
to the south and east at New Barn Road and Studley Crescent are bungalows with various 
extensions. These houses range in size from 3 No. bedrooms to 5 No. bedrooms. Due to the 
site's secluded location it does not logically read as part of either of these groups of houses, its 
immediate context is its closest neighbour to the west (No.8). No.8 has been converted to a two 
storey house with at least 4 bedrooms. 

(40) As the property does not form a logical part of the surrounding groups of houses and 
its closest neighbour has been converted to a two storey dwelling I do not consider that the 
conversion of the property would be contrary to policy guidance in relation to Areas of Special 
Character. Each application is considered on its own merit and I consider that the conversion 
of this property would not set a precedent for further conversions due to its location which is not 
part of a group of houses. I would also highlight that there are some larger detached properties 
which share the same private access; Colt Lodge and Paddock Lodge, these are located to the 
west of the site.

(41) One of the characteristics of the ASRC is the lower density pattern of development.  I 
note that the proposed additions will increase the number of bedrooms from 3 to 5 but that there 
will be no increase in the number of residential units on site. The current proposal does not 
therefore increase the density of the site. The current footprint of the existing property is around 
133 square metres on a plot of approximately 1,100 square metres. The total footprint as a 
result of the extensions will be approximately 170 square metres. The large front and rear 
garden will be retained which will ensure the openness of the plot is retained. 

(42) Whilst the proposed property will result in a different style of property on site there are 
design features which will be retained such as the bay windows, hipped roof and forward and 



rear projecting sections of roof. I consider that these demonstrate an attempt to reflect the 
bungalow's original design in a two storey property.

(43) As per the above I am convinced that the proposal will not harm the overriding 
impression of the New Barn ASRC which has a focus on openness, the green setting and the 
mature landscape. I also consider that the openness of the plot will be retained and that the 
proposed conversion is not contrary to the mixed character of the immediate and wider area.

Parking 

(44) Two allocated spaces are indicated within the front curtilage of the site. This complies 
with the Council's adopted parking standards for 5 bedroom houses in this area south of the 
A2. 

Other issues 

(45) Some concerns were raised in relation to increased traffic and the suitability of the 
private road to accommodate this. The proposal is to increase the size of one existing dwelling 
and not to increase the number of properties on site. I do not consider that this will result in an 
unacceptable increase in the level of traffic. Some of the concerns related to construction traffic 
however this is not a material planning consideration and is a matter for the owners to manage, 
particularly as this is a private drive.

(46) The external materials proposed have not been specified and therefore, if Members 
are minded to approve the application, I recommend a condition [3] that this is provided before 
the build proceeds beyond slab level.

FINANCIAL BENEFITS

(48) There will be no financial benefits as the applicant has applied for exemption for extension 
relief.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

(49) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(50) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT REQUIREMENTS

(51) In relation to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations) 2017) the proposal is not Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 development. It is not 
considered to require a screening opinion.

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

(52) I am satisfied that the proposal is appropriate in terms of neighbour amenity, design 
with the ASRC context and also parking. I consider that the scheme is compliant with the 
relevant policies of the Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017) as described above. I have 
considered



RECOMMENDATION:

Approval

01 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.

01 In pursuance of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents: 7-NEW-BARN-ROAD-01 rev A, 7-NEW-BARN-ROAD-02 rev A, 7-NEW-
BARN-ROAD-04 rev B, 7-NEW-BARN-ROAD-03 rev B

02 For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development.

03 Before the development proceeds beyond slab level details of all materials to be used 
externally shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

03 To ensure that the development does not harm the character and appearance of the 
existing building or the visual amenity of the locality in accordance with Policy DP2 of the 
adopted Dartford Local Plan.

04 The 2 car parking spaces, turning areas and means of access shown on the approved 
plans shall be provided prior to occupation of the building(s) hereby approved and kept 
available for such use at all times and no development, whether permitted by the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 or not, 
shall be carried out on that area of land or to preclude vehicular access thereto.

04 To ensure the permanent retention of satisfactory car parking facilities in accordance 
with the Local Planning Authority's standards and Policies DP2 and DP4 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan.

05 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a landscaping scheme 
including which trees on site are to be retained including any proposed planting, shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details (unless this falls outside of the 
planting season in which case it shall be implemented at the first opportunity during the 
following planting season, between October and March inclusive).  Such landscaping 
shall thereafter be maintained for a period of five years.  Any trees, shrubs or grassed 
areas which die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased within this 
period shall be replaced within the next planting season with plants of similar species 
and size to that approved.

05 To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality in accordance with Policies DP2 and 
DP25 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.

06 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved the window(s) in the side 
elevations (as shown on approved drawing No. 7-NEW-BARN-ROAD-04 rev B) of the 
extension shall be obscure glazed with a minimum obscurity level of 3 as referred to in 
the Pilkington Texture Glass Range leaflet, or nearest equivalent as may be agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such glazing shall be incapable of being opened 
with the exception of any top hung fan lights, and shall subsequently be maintained as 
such at all times.

06 To safeguard the privacy of adjoining residents in accordance with Policies DP2 and DP5 
of the adopted Dartford Local Plan.



CW

CF

79.7m

CR

RIDGEW
OODPaddock Lodge

83.9m

R
O

AD

THE BEECHES

NE
W

 B
AR

N

Rhode Farm

Coney Glade

The Lawns
Little Mead

Early Spring

Aquila

Tamar

Surlingham

Antenna

Haylands

Northavon

6

1

8

18

12

7

4
5

14

10

23

11

28

19

2

CF CW

1

1

CW

CF

8

5

@ A4° 1:1,250

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2018

Application No:: 18/01149/FUL

Address : 7 New Barn Road Southfleet Kent DA3 7LQ 

Date: 27 November 2018 Scale: Not to Scale



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD

13 December 2018

Reference: 18/01141/VCON Officer: Jas Bansil

Location: Adjacent 1 North Road
Dartford
Kent
DA1 3LS

Proposal: Application for variation of Condition 2 of planning permission 
DA/15/01167/FUL (granted on appeal) to allow the formation of a larger parking 
bay

Applicant: Mr R Rana

Agent: Mark Horner Architecture

Parish / Ward: Un-Parished Area Of Dartford / Heath

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval of Variation of Condition

SITE DESCRIPTION

(1) The application site is on North Road, close to its junction with Princes Road. A new 
dwelling has been erected in the side garden of No. 1 North Road in accordance with planning 
permission granted by the Planning Inspectorate. 

(2) North Road rises up from Princes Road and the dwellings sit higher than North Road 
itself. 

(3) There is a double yellow line on the junction with Princes Road, which ends in line with 
the parking area and vehicle access for which consent is being sought under this application. 

THE PROPOSAL

(4) The application is made under section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
for the variation of Condition 2 of planning permission DA/15/01167/FUL (granted on appeal) 
to allow the formation of a larger parking bay than that approved. The application seeks 
retrospective permission, as the works have already been carried out. The parking bay has 
been increased in width by some 3m towards Princes Road. The total width of the parking area 
is some 8.1m. The vehicle access has therefore moved closer to the junction with Princes Road. 
The access opening of the parking area matches its width. If the current application is approved, 
this would allow the applicant to substitute a revised drawing for that which has been permitted. 

RELEVANT HISTORY

(5) Planning permission was granted by the Planning Inspectorate on appeal for the 
demolition of an existing single storey side extension and erection of 1 No. 4 bed detached 
dwelling together with ancillary car parking and private amenity space. (ref 15/01167/FUL)  
Members may recall that the Development Control Board refused the application due to the  
unacceptable loss of private amenity space for the existing property (No.1 North Road).  
Subsequent details required by condition relating to parking, landscaping, enclosure, materials 
and contamination have been approved.



(6) A further application (16/01039/FUL) seeking revisions to the scheme approved at 
appeal was refused for the following reason under delegated authority:   "The proposed dwelling 
by virtue of its unsatisfactory design in a prominent position in the street scene is an obtrusive 
and undesirable feature, detrimental to the visual amenities of the locality and contrary to Policy 
B1 of the adopted Dartford Local Plan and emerging Policy DP2 of the Development Policies 
Plan Document."

(7)  Prior to this planning permission (ref 15/00641/FUL) was refused by the Board as the 
proposal would result in an unacceptable loss of private amenity space for the existing property 
(No.1 North Road) and the creation of the parking spaces fronting North Road were considered 
to be prejudicial to road safety and the free flow of traffic due to their proximity to the junction 
with Princes Road (B2174).

COMMENTS FROM ORGANISATIONS

(8) Kent Highway Services raise no objection to the revised parking bay and vehicle 
access. 

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION

(9) One objection has been received from a nearby neighbour. The neighbour queries how 
this can be built before planning permission is granted. The neighbour raises concern about the 
proximity of the access to the junction and states that the end of the space is very near the 
main turning into Princes Road and this was the main issue as to why the space could not be 
a wide as it is now as it is very dangerous when cars are turning into North Road.

RELEVANT POLICIES

(10) The Dartford Core Strategy 2011, the Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017 and 
the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016 form the Dartford's Development Plan and the 
application should be determined against this unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.

(11) Adopted Dartford Core Strategy adopted 2011
CS1: Sustainable Pattern of Development 
CS15: Managing Transport Demand

(12) Adopted Dartford Development Policies Plan 2017
DP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
DP2: Good Design
DP3: Transport Impacts of Development 
DP4: Transport Access & Design
DP5: Environmental & Amenity Protection
DP7: Borough Housing Stock & Residential Amenity
DP8: Residential Space & Design in New Development 

(13) Dartford Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document 2012

(14) The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires development to be 
determined in accordance with the adopted Local Plan and seeks to achieve well designed 
places.  

COMMENTS

Key Issues

(15) This application relates to a dwelling which was granted permission at appeal under 
reference 15/01167/FUL. The current application seeks permission for a larger parking area, 
and therefore vehicle access, for the previously approved new dwelling. The consent granted 
at appeal has already been implemented and the new dwelling has been built. Permission under 



this application is being sought for an enlarged parking area and vehicular access crossover as 
an amendment to the approved plans. 

(16) The government encourages the use of section 73 applications to amend planning 
permissions where the scale and/or nature of the proposal results in a development which is 
not substantially different from the one that has been approved. Where an application under 
section 73 is granted the effect is the issue of a new planning permission which repeats all the 
relevant conditions from the original planning permission. 

(17) I consider therefore that the key issues for assessment are the impact of the enlarged 
parking area and vehicular access to visual amenity and the street scene, to neighbouring 
amenity and to highway and pedestrian safety.  

Visual amenity and the street scene

(18) The parking area does appear a little unusual, because of the scale of the retaining 
wall parallel to the highway. However, this would have been required for the smaller parking 
area, which has already been approved, because of the difference in ground levels.  Although 
a larger parking area with a long rear wall, the garden and side retaining walls are stepped 
down creating a less enclosed parking area and creates a more open frontage to the property. 
There is a similar, albeit smaller, parking area on the opposite side of the road and therefore it 
is not considered that the parking area appears completely out of character, particularly as a 
smaller one has already been approved.  I consider that that the retaining walls and adjoining 
terraced garden have been completed to a high standard and do not detract from the visual 
amenity of the surrounding area.

Neighbouring amenity 

(19) The enlargement of the parking area, in my opinion, does not negatively affect 
residential amenity as it sits below the window level of the new dwelling, which will use the 
parking spaces and No. 1 and is well separated from other neighbouring dwellings. 

Highway and pedestrian safety 

(20) The enlarged parking area is not considered to have any greater impact to pedestrian 
visibility, as the side retaining walls are stepped down to allow views to the footway. The original 
proposal would also have required some form of retaining walls on either side because of the 
difference in ground levels.

(21) The enlarged parking area does make the vehicle access closer to the junction with 
Princes Road, which is a distributor road. Application 15/00641/FUL, which was for a similar 
development, was refused and one of the reasons related to the creation of the parking spaces 
fronting North Road in a similar location to those now provided which was considered prejudicial 
to road safety and the free flow of traffic due to proximity to the junction with Princes Road. This 
decision was based on comments from KCC highways which advised that a 20m gap from the 
junction to a new access should be provided. This current application results in the same 
separation (from the now enlarged parking bay and vehicle access to the junction with Princes 
Road) as that previously refused. The plans show a separation of 16m from Princes Road, 
below the previously recommended 20m.  However KCC Highways now advise that they are 
satisfied with the position of the vehicle access and parking area and it has been stated that it 
meets their vehicle crossing guidance, which requires 15m. I have discussed this matter with 
the Highway Authority with regard to their previous comments. KCC advise that their current 
advice is based on the KCC vehicle crossing guidance dated October 2018 which only requires 
a distance of 15m. They consider that this takes precedence over the older Kent Design 
guidance and that it would be unreasonable to refuse consent for the enlarged vehicular access 
and parking area. The Highway Authority also consider that most drivers approach a residential 
road cautiously.  Furthermore they note that there is a vehicle access immediately opposite that 
at the application site, albeit this impacts traffic from a residential road on to a distributor road.



(22) For the reasons mentioned it is not considered that the development would result in a 
detrimental impact to highway or pedestrian safety and would not warrant a refusal, particularly 
as there is no objection raised from the Highway Authority as it meets the current KCC vehicle 
crossing guidance.

Other issues

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

(23) I have considered the application in the light of the Human Rights Act 1998. I am 
satisfied that my analysis of the issues in this case and my consequent recommendation are 
compatible with the Act.

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

(24) Due regard has been had to the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010. It is considered that the application proposals would not undermine 
objectives of the Duty.

CONCLUSIONS AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

(25) It is not considered that the revision sought results in any detrimental impact to visual 
amenity and the street scene, to neighbouring amenity and to highway and pedestrian safety. 
With particular reference to highway matters, this recommendation is based on current KCC 
guidance and comments. I do not consider that the amendment to the parking results in a 
development which is substantially different from the one that has been approved and I do not 
consider that there are sufficient grounds for refusal. 

(26) I recommend that the variation of condition be allowed and the permission be granted, 
subject to the conditions previously imposed by the Inspector (although now numbered 
differently). The wording to some of the conditions has been changed to incorporate approval 
of details already submitted.

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval of Variation of Condition

01 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents: 

H-1169 01g; H-1169 02a; H-1169 03a;; H-1169 07a;  H-1169 27g; H-1169 29g; H-1169 
23g; H-1169 24g; H-1169 25g; H-1169 26g, and; H-1169 22r, H-1169 29r, H-1169 29g

01 For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of development.

02 Prior to occupation, in accordance with the contamination land submission, as approved 
under 17/01158/CDNA, a verification report to demonstrate that the works have been 
carried out and the site has been satisfactorily remediated shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

02 In the interests of safety in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted Local Plan.

03 The development shall be completed in accordance with the details approved under 
17/01177/CDNA of both hard and soft landscape works including details of means of 
enclosure and these works shall be carried out as approved or within the first planting 
season following the completion of the development.

03 In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy DP2 of the adopted Local 
Plan.



04 The car parking spaces, turning areas and means of access shown on the approved 
plans shall be provided prior to occupation of the dwelling hereby approved and kept 
available for such use at all times and no development, whether permitted by the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 or not, 
shall be carried out on that area of land or to preclude vehicular access thereto.

04 To ensure the permanent retention of satisfactory car parking facilities in accordance 
with the Local Planning Authority's standards and Policies DP2 and DP4 of the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan.

05 The development shall be completed in accordance with the details relating to materials 
approved under 17/01176/CDNA.

05 In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy DP2 of the adopted Local 
Plan.

06 The permeable surface details for the parking area shall be as per the details approved 
under 17/01584/CDNA.

06 In the interests of the local environment in accordance with Policy DP5 of the adopted 
Local Plan.



18.8m

17.1m

20.4m

21.9m

18.53m

18.9m

BM 21.34m

CLOSE

CW

PRINCES RO
AD

CRAYFORD ROAD M
AI

D
E

N
 L

AN
E

1f

Surgery

5

2

1

26

28

14

45

241

1b

38

25

24

21

37

10

324

13

33

16

17

1 to 6

19

31

11

253

1d7 3

9

8
229

41

Sub

EER, Boro Const, GL Asly Const & LB Bdy

LB

Und

ROMAN ROAD

l3

CF

U
nd

25

U
nd

1

1

14

7
2

1

LB

Und

1

13

CW

2

14

45

13

1

U
nd

1

2

13

1
14

2

2

13

Und

@ A4° 1:1,250

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2018

Application No:: 18/01141/VCON

Address : Adjacent 1 North Road Dartford Kent DA1 3LS 

Date: 27 November 2018 Scale: Not to Scale



Development Management Section 
Quarterly data – July 2018 to September 2018

The graphs on the following pages set out key performance indicators for the 
section:

Planning applications

 No. of applications received and decided
 % of major applications decided in 13 weeks (or with agreed target dates)
 % of minor and other applications decided in 8 weeks (or with agreed target 

dates)

Appeals

 % of all appeals dismissed

Enforcement

 No of complaints received – Categories 1, 2 and 3
 No of cases closed and on hand
 % cases resolved in 8 weeks



QUARTERLY DATA
19

1

17
0

19
4

22
1

17
4

17
5

22
6

22
4 23

6

20
2

23
1

22
1 23

1

21
4

15
4

18
3 19

6

24
5

17
1 18

5

21
5

19
3

16
8 18

2

23
6

22
2

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Sep-15 Dec-15 Mar-16 Jun-16 Sep-16 Dec-16 Mar-17 Jun-17 Sep-17 Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18

Figure 1 - Planning Applications Processed

Received

Decided

33
38

75

100 100 100 100 100 100

50

100 100

67

3
8

12

4
9

4 4
9

6
2 1

4 6
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Se
p-

15

D
ec

-1
5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

D
ec

-1
6

M
ar

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Se
p-

17

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

Se
p-

18
Figure 2 - Major Applications Decided in 13 weeks/EoT (%)

Target - 70%
National Average 88% 

DBC
Performance

DBC Target

Top Quartile

No. Decided



89
85

82

91 92
88

92

84
88

53

77

67

80

44

27

34

22 24 25 26
21 21

10

20
16

24

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Se
p-

15

D
ec

-1
5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

D
ec

-1
6

M
ar

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Se
p-

17

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

Se
p-

18

Figure 3 - Minor Applications Decided in 8 weeks/EoT (%)
Target - 79%

National Average 85% 

DBC Perform ance

DBC Target

Top Quartile

No. Decided

96 94 93
100 96 95 97 98 93

71

87 91 88

167

119

137

170

212

142
155

177

151

103

135

189

161

0

50

100

150

200

250

Se
p-

15

D
ec

-1
5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

D
ec

-1
6

M
ar

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Se
p-

17

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

Se
p-

18

Figure 4 - Other Applications Decided in 8 weeks (%)
Target - 89%

National Average 91% 

DBC Perform ance

DBC Target

Top Quartile

No.Decided



134
150

161

235

121
113

178 179

222

256

183

224 231

357

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Sep-15 Dec-15 Mar-16 Jun-16 Sep-16 Dec-16 Mar-17 Jun-17 Sep-17 Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18

Figure 5 - Outstanding Planning Applications and
Total Outstanding Applications

40

29

57

83

42

78

50

78

91

50

80
85

100

10 7 7 5 5 7 6 9 11
4 5

13

4

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Se
p-

15

D
ec

-1
5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

D
ec

-1
6

M
ar

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Se
p-

17

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

Se
p-

18

Figure 6 - Percentage of Appeals Dismissed Percentage dismissed

No. of decisions

   Apr – 
Jun 

2016

Jul- 
sept
2016

Oct – 
Dec 
2016

Jan-
Mar 
2017

Apr-
June 
2017

Jul- 
Sept 
2017

Oct-
Dec17

Jan-
Mar
2017

Apr-Jun 
18

Jul-sept 
18

No. of 
applications for 
costs

0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 0

Successful 
applications

0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0



ENFORCEMENT

89 89
78

151

105

82

62

75
69

55 58 57
50

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Se
p-

15

D
ec

-1
5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

D
ec

-1
6

M
ar

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Se
p-

17

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

Se
p-

18

Figure 7 Enforcement Complaints Received

Category 1

Category 2

Category 3

Tot al

79
70 66

140
153 148

132

111
100

126

91
102

115

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

Se
p-

15

D
ec

-1
5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

D
ec

-1
6

M
ar

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Se
p-

17

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

Se
p-

18

Figure 8 Enforcement Cases Outstanding 
Categores 1-3

No. of Outstanding Cases



64 65

47

63

48 48

39

30

18

26 25

47

25

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Se
p-

15

D
ec

-1
5

M
ar

-1
6

Ju
n-

16

Se
p-

16

D
ec

-1
6

M
ar

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Se
p-

17

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

Se
p-

18

Figure 9  % Enforcement cases closed in 8 weeks or less
Categories 1-3

% closed in 8 weeks

Definitions

Category 1 – high priority, any unauthorised development that causes immediate and 
irreparable harm in the locality, e.g., damage to a listed building, felling of protected 
trees.

Category 2 – medium priority, unauthorised development that causes some harm to 
the locality, but not to the extent that Category 1 applies, e.g., complaints relating to 
use of land for the storage of vehicles, erection of a domestic outbuilding, extension of 
a residential curtilage.

Category 3 - low priority, inconsequential breaches of planning control that cause little 
or no harm to the locality or local residents, e.g., the erection of fences or outbuildings 
within lawful domestic curtilages, minor variations from approved plans.



Performance monitoring: Key issues

 A high number of applications were received again between July and 
September 2018. However the team determined a similar number of 
applications over this period and the backlog of applications is being 
dealt with. Decision periods for minor and other applications are close 
to the Council’s targets again. The major applications % in 13 
weeks/with an extension of time has dropped slightly under the target 
in this quarter but as this is a low number of applications the 
percentage can easily be impacted on by the older applications. We 
are receiving a high number of major applications and so, subject to 
staffing, I would expect this to improve again. 

 The number of outstanding applications monitored for government 
statistics and reported here remains fairly consistent at 231, but I have 
also shown on figure 5 the total number of applications outstanding, 
which is 357 and includes submissions for conditions, TPOs, non-
material amendments, consultations by other authorities and bodies. 
All of which can take a significant amount of officer time. This number 
therefore gives a better indication of workload and applications 
outstanding.

 There were 4 appeal decisions in the quarter, 100% of which were 
dismissed. 

 The number of new enforcement complaints is falling slowly.  The 
number of outstanding cases rose again at the end of the quarter but a 
number were closes soon after this monitoring period.  Enforcement 
officers are continuing to monitor many of the other cases.

 The enforcement cases reported here as being outstanding relate to 
those categorised as 1, 2 and 3. However, some cases cannot be 
closed completely and require on-going monitoring. So as well as the 
115 outstanding Category 1-3 cases there are also currently cases 
which are subject to on-going monitoring. For instance this may apply 
to a use which may be intermittent or where a planning application has 
been submitted, following a decision the case will either be closed 
because there is no longer a breach or they will be re-categorised as 
Categories 2-3 and enforcement action will be progressed. This has 
the consequence of reducing the number of cases closed in 8 weeks 
but ensures that cases are followed up.





DELEGATED LIST
OF APPLICATIONS DETERMINED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS

Excluding Ebbsfleet UDC Applications

Date Report Compiled: 29-Nov-2018
Period for Report:  25/10/2018 to 29/11/2018

Plan Ref 18/01332/EDCCON Date Issued 02/11/2018
Location The Pier Ingress Site Greenhithe
Proposal Consultation on the provision of an additional area for car parking consisting of: 7 No. parking spaces 

for community centre; 6 No. visitor parking and; 2 No. van parking spaces within Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision No Objection
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/00676/EDCCON Date Issued 29/10/2018
Location Tunnels Under South Of London Road And West Of Craylands Lane Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on an application for infilling and complete sealing-up of two tunnels; one tunnel passing 

under London Road and one tunnel passing under Craylands Lane within Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision No Objection
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 18/01059/EDCCON Date Issued 29/10/2018
Location Land At London Road And West Of Craylands Lane Craylands Lane Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on an application for formation of development platform and installation of rockfall 

meshing
 system within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision No Objection
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 18/00515/EDCCON Date Issued 29/10/2018
Location Land At London Road And West Of Craylands Lane Craylands Lane Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on an application for the approval of conditions 12, 14 and 16 attached to planning 

permission EDC/17/0146 relating to a programme of archaeological work, a contaminated land 
assessment and foul water drainage details within Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC REF: 
18/0047)

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Objection
Officer Sue Wright

Page 1 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01497/OBB Date Issued 23/11/2018
Location Coachfields Northfleet Green Southfleet Kent  
Proposal Consultation on an application for erection of a detached feed barn and equipment store within 

Gravesham Borough Council

Ward Outside Borough Boundary
Decision Objection/No Objection
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 18/00901/OUT Date Issued 31/10/2018
Location 81 Summerhouse Drive Bexley Kent DA5 2EF 
Proposal Outline Application (with all matters reserved) for the erection of 2 No. four bedroom houses 

incorporating the demolition of 81 Summerhouse Drive

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Approval of outline permission
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01205/LDC Date Issued 09/11/2018
Location 55 Eden Road Bexley Kent DA5 2EQ 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed erection of a single storey rear extension 

and decking

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Permission Required
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01222/LDC Date Issued 13/11/2018
Location Knoll Hill House 1 Common Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7DE 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed replacement of existing garage door with

 a new window for conversion to habitable room in connection with dividing existing dwelling into 2 No.
 self-contained dwellings with associated alterations to elevations

Ward Wilmington
Decision Permission Required
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01349/LDC Date Issued 13/11/2018
Location 8 Dale Walk Dartford Kent DA2 6JA 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed part demolition of existing rear extension 

and erection of a single storey rear extension

Ward Brent
Decision Permission Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01187/TPO Date Issued 05/11/2018
Location 7 Parsons Close Longfield Kent DA3 7BB 
Proposal Application to remove dead branches of 1 No. Ash tree subject to Tree Preservation Order No.5 2016
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 2 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01271/TPO Date Issued 19/11/2018
Location 1-10 Axtane Close Sutton At Hone Kent  
Proposal Reduce the large low limbs over the doctors parking area by 2-3m cutting to growth points and lightly 

reduce an upper branch above to blend the crown in to 1 No T1 Walnut tree subject to Tree 
Preservation Order No.22 1983

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01057/TPO Date Issued 02/11/2018
Location 97 Tile Kiln Lane Bexley Kent DA5 2BD 
Proposal Application to reduce back to 1m behind the kerb line and lift to 4m over the pavement of 2 No. tree on 

rear side boundary subject of Tree Preservation Order No 10 1995

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01182/TPO Date Issued 25/10/2018
Location 3 Andrews Place Dartford Kent DA2 7WD 
Proposal Application to reduce the overall size of crown by up to 3 metres and thin crown by 20%, remove 

epicormic growth to crown break of 1 No. T1 London plane tree subject to Tree Preservation Order 
No.9 1995

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01068/FUL Date Issued 22/11/2018
Location 37 Birchwood Drive Wilmington Kent DA2 7NF 
Proposal Demolition of the existing detached bungalow and erection of a single-storey detached bungalow with 

additional rooms in the roof including dormer extensions and rooflights.

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01152/FUL Date Issued 19/11/2018
Location RSPCA 3 Market Place Dartford Kent DA1 1EX 
Proposal Installation of 2 no air conditioning condenser units on the Roof
Ward Town
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01157/FUL Date Issued 09/11/2018
Location 20 Pilgrims Way Dartford Kent DA1 1QA 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension incorporating demolition of existing rear conservatory
Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Page 3 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01164/FUL Date Issued 06/11/2018
Location 8 Festival Avenue Longfield Kent DA3 7HR 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension, single storey front porch and alterations to roof to include hip 

end to gable ends with mansard roof at rear with balconies in connection with providing additional 
rooms in the roof space together with erection of an attached car barn

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01169/FUL Date Issued 22/11/2018
Location 4 Watchgate Darenth Kent DA2 7JZ 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey rear extension and single storey front extension incorporating 

demolition of existing rear conservatory

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01195/COU Date Issued 07/11/2018
Location Russells Yard Whitehill Road Southfleet Kent  
Proposal Change of use from wood yard to storage use, for the stationing of shipping containers for individual 

long term storage use (retrospective application)

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01221/FUL Date Issued 25/10/2018
Location 47 Vale Road Dartford Kent DA1 2TU 
Proposal Erection of a rear conservatory incorporating demolition of existing rear conservatory
Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01253/FUL Date Issued 19/11/2018
Location 24 Brackendene Wilmington Kent DA2 7NB 
Proposal Erection of a single storey front porch extension
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 17/02082/FUL Date Issued 07/11/2018
Location Land South Of St Marys Road Stone Kent DA9 9AG 
Proposal Erection of 3 No. apartment buildings comprising 70 No. residential units with associated access, 

parking amenity and landscaping

Ward Stone
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Page 4 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01242/FUL Date Issued 23/11/2018
Location 194 St Vincents Road Dartford Kent DA1 1UX 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Newtown
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/00953/FUL Date Issued 06/11/2018
Location Willow Suite Littlebrook Hospital Greenacres Bow Arrow Lane Dartford Kent DA2 6PB 
Proposal Erection of an infill extension and roof alterations and remodelling / refurbishment to the existing 24 hour

 Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit for adult male patients, creating a secure entrance for the Willow Suite 
and relocating the ward office, waiting and search area, de-escalation and seclusion area. To serve the 
extension an external pedestrian path and access road leading to new parking is proposed near the 
building's new entrance. The refurbishment / remodelling of the existing Willow Suite building requires 
the replacement of windows and doors. The refurbishment / remodelling of the existing Gym and 
Therapy building requires the removal of the low level windows and a vent is required for the existing 
Gym roof. The proposal would also re landscape the central courtyard and create a new external 
amenity space

 Ward Newtown
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01240/FUL Date Issued 14/11/2018
Location 13 Barton Road Sutton At Hone Kent DA4 9EA 
Proposal Erection of a two storey side and part two/part single storey rear extension and front porch
Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01062/FUL Date Issued 01/11/2018
Location 161 Chastilian Road Dartford Kent DA1 3LW 
Proposal Erection of a part two storey/part single storey side/rear/front extension (incorporating demolition of 

existing ear conservatory) and provision of dormer window in rear elevation and roof lights in front 
elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Heath
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01166/FUL Date Issued 01/11/2018
Location 13 Marcet Road Dartford Kent DA1 3AH 
Proposal Erection of a two storey side extension (incorporating demolition of existing attached garage)
Ward West Hill
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01060/FUL Date Issued 14/11/2018
Location Darenth Road Quarry Darenth Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Construction of ready mix concrete plant on existing quarry site
Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Steven Bell

Page 5 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01107/FUL Date Issued 05/11/2018
Location 1 Gladstone Cottages Red Street Southfleet Kent DA13 9QF 
Proposal Conversion of rear part of integral garage to habitable room
Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01109/COU Date Issued 20/11/2018
Location 3 Westgate House Spital Street Dartford Kent DA1 2EH 
Proposal Change of use of premises from A2 (Financial) to A1 (Hairdressers)
Ward Town
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/00272/FUL Date Issued 19/11/2018
Location 76 Kirby Road Dartford Kent DA2 6HF 
Proposal Erection of a detached outbuilding for use as a dog grooming salon (sui generis) (retrospective 

application)

Ward Stone
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 17/01889/FUL Date Issued 25/10/2018
Location Court Wood House New Barn Road Southfleet Kent DA3 7LT 
Proposal Demolition of the existing house and some outbuildings and erection of a replacement 4 bedroom 

dwelling (retrospective application-revisions to previously approved planning application 14/01830/FUL)

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 18/01265/FUL Date Issued 26/11/2018
Location 7 Maryfield Close Bexley Kent DA5 2HY 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01159/FUL Date Issued 21/11/2018
Location 55 Elm Road Dartford Kent DA1 2RT 
Proposal Erection of a two storey side extension and single storey rear extension
Ward Princes
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 6 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01235/FUL Date Issued 29/11/2018
Location 43 Brentfield Road Dartford Kent DA1 1YJ 
Proposal Erection of a single storey side extension incorporation demolition of existing detached garage and 

alterations and extensions to roof to provide additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Newtown
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01110/FUL Date Issued 14/11/2018
Location 7 Cumberland Drive Dartford Kent DA1 1NB 
Proposal Erection of a two storey side extension, single storey rear extension, provision of dormer window in 

rear elevation and roof lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof 
space

Ward Brent
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01148/FUL Date Issued 22/11/2018
Location 9 The Oaks Stone Dartford Kent DA2 6PF 
Proposal Conversion of integral garage to habitable room (retrospective). Demolition of existing rear conservatory

 and front section of garage for erection of a part two/part single storey/part first floor side and rear 
extension. Provision of dormer windows in front and side elevations, roof lights in rear and side roof 
slopes and window in rear elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space and 
associated alterations to elevations

Ward Newtown
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01199/FUL Date Issued 05/11/2018
Location 8 The Dell Bexley Kent DA5 2AG 
Proposal Erection of a two storey rear extension
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01360/COU Date Issued 23/11/2018
Location Ground, First And Second Floors 20 High Street Dartford Kent DA1 1BY 
Proposal Change of use of first and second floors to Class B1(a) (office use)
Ward Town
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 18/00642/FUL Date Issued 19/11/2018
Location Hawley Kitchen Hawley Road Hawley Kent DA1 1PX 
Proposal Erection of timber decking (alterations to existing) and railing, erection of a front porch and new car 

park layout and landscaping (part retrospective)

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Page 7 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01219/FUL Date Issued 12/11/2018
Location Nevada Hook Green Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7AJ 
Proposal Alterations to dwelling and raising height of existing roof, provision of habitable space within roof space 

to be served by two rear gables, and conversion of existing garage to provide ancillary accommodation 
(Revisions to roof design of previously approved application reference DA/18/00065/FUL)

Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01254/FUL Date Issued 19/11/2018
Location 39 West Hill Drive Dartford Kent DA1 3DU 
Proposal Erection of a two storey side/rear extension
Ward West Hill
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01244/FUL Date Issued 15/11/2018
Location Kingsley Cross Road Hawley Kent DA2 7RS 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey rear/side extension incorporating demolition of existing attached

garage

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/00858/FUL Date Issued 25/10/2018
Location Sutton Place Cottage Main Road Sutton At Hone Kent DA4 9HB 
Proposal Erection of a detached two bay car barn with associated driveway
Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01171/FUL Date Issued 13/11/2018
Location 15 Tredegar Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7AY 
Proposal Erection of a single storey rear extension
Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01246/FUL Date Issued 25/10/2018
Location 3 Chatsworth Road Dartford Kent DA1 5AT 
Proposal Erection of a part two/part single storey rear extension incorporating demolition of existing rear lean-to
Ward Town
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 8 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01206/FUL Date Issued 29/11/2018
Location Asda Superstores Crossways Boulevard Dartford Kent DA9 9BT 
Proposal Provision of grocery collection lockers to be installed in space next to existing parking bays, collection 

bays to be installed in existing parking bays

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01180/FUL Date Issued 13/11/2018
Location 64 Water Mill Way Sutton At Hone Kent DA4 9BE 
Proposal Demolition of existing single storey rear extension and detached garage for erection of a three storey 

side/rear extension and single storey rear extension

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/00796/FUL Date Issued 23/11/2018
Location Mounts Cottage Mounts Court Mounts Road Greenhithe Kent DA9 9LX 
Proposal Erection of single storey extensions and alterations for conversion of former cottage to 2 bedroom 

dwelling with associated parking, amenity space and refuse store and alterations to car/bicycle parking 
and refuse storage approved under application refs: DA/06/01386/FUL and DA/09/00586/FUL in 
connection with conversion of Mounts Court to flats

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/00457/FUL Date Issued 13/11/2018
Location Land At Littlebrook Power Station Rennie Drive Dartford Kent DA1 5PT 
Proposal Redevelopment of the site to provide class B8 (storage and distribution) uses and ancillary class B1 uses 

with associated access, servicing, parking and landscaping and riverside enhancements

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Application Permitted
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01096/CDNA Date Issued 12/11/2018
Location 189 Hawley Road Dartford Kent DA1 1PB 
Proposal Submission of details relating to tree protection measures (condition 8) and hard and soft landscaping 

(condition 16) pursuant to planning permission DA/18/00271/FUL for demolition of the former 
ambulance station and associated residential property, change of use of land and buildings to vehicle hire
 and sales depot (sui generis), including refurbishment and extension of existing (retained) workshop 
building to provide three bay workshop and dry valet; siting of a single storey modular building sales 
office; bunded surface level fuel tank; jet wash, bin store, cycle parking and resurfacing works.

Ward Princes
Decision Application refused, reason not given
Officer Richard Elder

Page 9 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01153/FUL Date Issued 15/11/2018
Location Sutton House  Hawley Road Hawley DA1 1PX
Proposal Erection of one x 4 bedroom detached dwelling with integral garage
Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Refused - Negative impact to Green Belt, setting of Listed Building and unacceptable 

windfall development.
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01213/COU Date Issued 12/11/2018
Location 51 High Street Dartford Kent DA1 1DS 
Proposal Change of use from retail (Use Class A1) to Nails and beauty salon (Sui Generis) with ancillary staff and

 storage facilities

Ward Town
Decision Application Refused - Unacceptable impact to the town centre.
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01172/FUL Date Issued 05/11/2018
Location Hopeleigh Cottage Arnolds Lane Sutton At Hone Kent DA4 9HE 
Proposal Erection of a 2nd floor rear extension in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space
Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Application Refused - Inappropriate development in Green Belt; Unsatisfactory design
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01146/FUL Date Issued 12/11/2018
Location 22 Oakfield Park Road Wilmington Kent DA1 2ST 
Proposal Erection of a two storey side extension and alterations to roof from hip end to gable end for provision of

 a dormer window in rear elevation, window and Juliette balcony on side elevation of dormer and roof 
lights in front elevation in connection with providing additional rooms in the roof space

Ward Princes
Decision Application Refused - Overbearing and visually obtrusive design, contrary to policy DP2 and DP7
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/00775/FUL Date Issued 31/10/2018
Location Adjacent The Mount Cottage Barn End Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7PP 
Proposal Erection of 2 No detached 3 bed houses with associated parking and amenity space
Ward Wilmington
Decision Application Refused - Unacceptable degree of Overlooking, Poor Design and a windfall site
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01111/FUL Date Issued 02/11/2018
Location 265 Princes Road Dartford Kent DA1 2PY 
Proposal Erection of a first floor rear extension
Ward Heath
Decision Application Refused - Visually overbearing
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 10 of 23



Plan Ref 17/01929/COU Date Issued 08/11/2018
Location First Floor 46 Lowfield Street Dartford Kent DA1 1HJ 
Proposal Change of Use of first floor from night club (including use of existing vacant part) to Use Class D1 

(place of worship with ancillary offices and various ancillary community centre uses) for a temporary 
period of 5 years and demolish existing steel framed structure to provide additional parking

Ward Town
Decision Application Refused - Incompatible with the Strategic aims of revitalising the town centre with 

detrimental impacts to forthcoming neighbouring amenity and highway and pedestrian safety.
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/00798/FUL Date Issued 12/11/2018
Location 58 - 60 Colney Road Dartford Kent DA1 1UH 
Proposal Raising height of building and replacement new roof for change of use of first floor and part of ground 

floor to 3 No. self-contained flats (comprising 2 No. studio flats and 1 No. 3 bed flat) and change of use
 of remainder of ground floor from use class D1 to use class A1/B1 Unit and associated alterations

Ward Newtown
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01309/ADV Date Issued 15/11/2018
Location Unit A Langley Square Central Road Dartford Kent DA1 5FY 
Proposal Display of 3 No. internally illuminated fascia signs and various non illuminated ground floor internal 

door and window graphics

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 18/01207/ADV Date Issued 23/11/2018
Location Asda Superstores Crossways Boulevard Dartford Kent DA9 9BT 
Proposal Display of 'Collection Lockers' information text printed onto vinyl on lockers and 2 No. signs in car park

 directing customers to lockers

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Consent for Advert.
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/00624/LDC Date Issued 09/11/2018
Location 24A Common Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7DF 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate (existing use) for continued subdivision and separation

 of 24A Common Lane from 24 Common Lane

Ward Wilmington
Decision Certificate Granted
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 17/01956/ADV Date Issued 31/10/2018
Location McDonalds Restaurant Bean Road Greenhithe Kent DA9 9HY 
Proposal Provision of new signage suite (in connection with separate planning application DA/17/01955/FUL for 

proposed drive thru layout) comprising 1 No. gateway height restrictor, 10 No. freestanding signs, 1 
No. banner unit and 1 No. side-by-side directional.

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Refusal of Advert - Detrimental impact on character and appearance of the area and substantial harm to 

the setting of the Grade II listed church St Marys.
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Page 11 of 23



Plan Ref 17/01958/ADV Date Issued 31/10/2018
Location McDonalds Restaurant Bean Road Greenhithe Kent DA9 9HY 
Proposal Display of 1 No. freestanding internally illuminated 6.5m totem sign
Ward Greenhithe
Decision Refusal of Advert - Detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the area and substantial harm

 to the setting of the listed building St Marys
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 18/01299/NONMAT Date Issued 02/11/2018
Location Rowhill Stables Rowhill Road Wilmington Kent DA2 7QQ 
Proposal Application for a non material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/17/01680/COU in 

respect of various changes to windows, roof lights and internal layout

Ward Wilmington
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01424/NONMAT Date Issued 26/11/2018
Location 12 Havelock Road Dartford Kent DA1 3HX 
Proposal Application for a non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/18/00134/FUL in 

respect of reduction of part of side extension, change to front elevation from door to window and 
introduction of side gate

Ward Heath
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01387/NONMAT Date Issued 22/11/2018
Location Site At Junction Of King Edward Avenue And West Hill Dartford Kent
Proposal Application for a non-material amendment following grant of planning permission DA/16/00499/FUL in 

respect of condition 5 to achieve a 'good' rating for BREEAM

Ward West Hill
Decision Approval of non-material amendments
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01094/CDNA Date Issued 02/11/2018
Location 189 Hawley Road Dartford Kent DA1 1PB 
Proposal Submission of details relating to ventilation and fume extraction pursuant to condition 5 of planning 

permission DA/18/00271/FUL for demolition of the former ambulance station and associated residential 
property, change of use of land and buildings to vehicle hire and sales depot (sui generis), including 
refurbishment and extension of existing (retained) workshop building to provide three bay workshop and
 dry valet; siting of a single storey modular building sales office; bunded surface level fuel tank; jet 
wash, bin store, cycle parking and resurfacing works.

Ward Princes
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Page 12 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01095/CDNA Date Issued 23/11/2018
Location 189 Hawley Road Dartford Kent DA1 1PB 
Proposal Submission of details relating to external materials (condition 7) pursuant to planning permission 

DA/18/00271/FUL for demolition of the former ambulance station and associated residential property, 
change of use of land and buildings to vehicle hire and sales depot (sui generis), including refurbishment 
and extension of existing (retained) workshop building to provide three bay workshop and dry valet; 
siting of a single storey modular building sales office; bunded surface level fuel tank; jet wash, bin store,
 cycle parking and resurfacing works.

Ward Princes
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01097/CDNA Date Issued 02/11/2018
Location 189 Hawley Road Dartford Kent DA1 1PB 
Proposal Submission of details relating to external lighting pursuant to condition 14 of planning permission 

DA/18/00271/FUL for demolition of the former ambulance station and associated residential property, 
change of use of land and buildings to vehicle hire and sales depot (sui generis), including refurbishment 
and extension of existing (retained) workshop building to provide three bay workshop and dry valet; 
siting of a single storey modular building sales office; bunded surface level fuel tank; jet wash, bin store,
 cycle parking and resurfacing works.

Ward Princes
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01204/CDNA Date Issued 02/11/2018
Location Plot 3B Fawkes Avenue Questor Wilmington Kent  
Proposal Plot 3B - Submission of details relating to code of construction practice pursuant to condition 19 

planning permission DA/16/00190/FUL for erection of 2 No. business, industrial, storage and 
distribution units (use classes B1c, B2 B8), with ancillary office space, associated highway works, 
access, infrastructure, car parking and landscaping

Ward Princes
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01209/CDNA Date Issued 23/11/2018
Location The Bridge Plot 4 Rennie Drive Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to surface water drainage scheme pursuant to condition 3 of planning 

permission DA/18/00419/FUL for erection of two commercial buildings with a GEA of 4,211sqm with 
flexible permission for B1(c)/B2/B8 uses with associated access, service arrangements and landscaping

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/00855/CDNA Date Issued 19/11/2018
Location Former Mabledon Hospital Site Green Street Green Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to tree protection measures (condition 13) and arboricultural method 

statement (condition 14) pursuant to planning permission DA/15/00127/FUL for construction of a 
crematorium and cemetery including memorial gardens, wildlife areas, car parking and new access onto 
Green Street and ancillary works

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Page 13 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01216/CDNA Date Issued 19/11/2018
Location Land East Of Lowfield Street Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to contaminated land assessment pursuant to condition 29 of planning 

permission DA/16/01919/FUL for development comprising (a) detailed permission for the demolition of 
existing buildings, refurbishment of No. 26 Lowfield Street and the construction of  188 dwellings, retail
 units, office, cafe/micro-brewery, detailed landscape strategy, car parking, new internal access roads, 
sustainable urban drainage  systems; and associated infrastructure and earthworks (b) outline 
permission, with all matters reserved except access, for the demolition of existing  buildings and the 
erection of up to 360 dwellings, flexibility for the following Use Classes:- A1 (retail), A2 (financial and 
professional services), A3 (restaurants and cafes) and D1 (non-residential institutions) fronting 
Lowfield Street, new internal access roads, car parking, sustainable urban drainage systems; and 
associated landscaping, infrastructure and earthworks.

Ward Town
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 18/01211/CDNA Date Issued 23/11/2018
Location The Bridge Plot 4 Rennie Drive Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to tree protection scheme pursuant to condition 11 of planning permission 

DA/18/00419/FUL for erection of two commercial buildings with a GEA of 4,211sqm with flexible 
permission for B1(c)/B2/B8 uses with associated access, service arrangements and landscaping

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01344/CDNA Date Issued 07/11/2018
Location Motorline (Nissan And Skoda) Units 2-3 Rennie Drive Dartford Kent DA1 5FD 
Proposal Submission of details relating to BREEAM (final certificate) pursuant to condition 3 of planning 

permission DA/16/00169/FUL for proposed car dealership premises for the sale and display of new and 
used cars (Sui Generis use) comprising 2 car showroom buildings (incorporating workshops and MOT 
services, ancillary office space and welfare facilities) and valet building, with external parking areas, new
 vehicular access and landscaping

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/00916/CDNA Date Issued 29/10/2018
Location Phoenix Quarter Public Open Space Northern Gateway East And Mill Pond Sites (GlaxoSmithKline - 

Eastern Parcel) Bounded By Hythe Street, Mill Pond Road, Temple Hill And Central Road Dartford

Proposal Submission of details relating to soft landscaping to public open space and boundary treatments pursuant
 to conditions 11(l), 11(r), 13(2) and 13(5) of outline planning permission DA/11/00295/OUT  for 
redevelopment to provide a residential led mixed-use development comprising between 950-1050 
residential units (Class C3), with between 2,500sq m to 5,000 sq m of flexible non-residential uses 
comprising office uses (Class B1), retail, financial and professional services, restaurant, cafe and 
drinking establishment uses (Class A1/A2/A3/A4); and non-residential institutions/community and 
assembly and leisure uses (Class D1/D2); new landscaping, public and private open space; up to1,250 
car parking spaces, cycle parking, access and other associated infrastructure works

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Page 14 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01444/CDNA Date Issued 23/11/2018
Location The Bridge Plot 4 Rennie Drive Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to piling and foundation designs (condition 10) pursuant to planning 

permission DA/18/00419/FUL for erection of two commercial buildings with a GEA of 4,211sqm with 
flexible permission for B1(c)/B2/B8 uses with associated access, service arrangements and landscaping

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01193/CDNA Date Issued 07/11/2018
Location The Bridge Plot 4 Rennie Drive Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to remediation strategy (condition 4) pursuant to planning permission 

DA/18/00419/FUL for erection of two commercial buildings with a GEA of 4,211sqm with flexible 
permission for B1(c)/B2/B8 uses with associated access, service arrangements and landscaping

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01252/CDNA Date Issued 25/10/2018
Location 20 Station Road Longfield Kent DA3 7QD 
Proposal Submission of details of sound insulation pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/18/0001/FUL for erection of a first floor extension over part of the existing rear part of shop to 
provide 1 x 2 bed flat with external staircase and first floor terrace and alterations to existing flat at first 
floor level, by provision of new first floor windows and demolition of existing side extension and 
alterations to rear curtilage to provide parking.

Ward Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01036/CDNA Date Issued 12/11/2018
Location Land East Of Lowfield Street Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to tree protection measures pursuant to condition 9 of planning permission

 DA/16/01919/FUL for development comprising (a) detailed permission for the demolition of existing 
buildings, refurbishment of No. 26 Lowfield Street and the construction of  188 dwellings, retail units, 
office, cafe/micro-brewery, detailed landscape strategy, car parking, new internal access roads, 
sustainable urban drainage  systems; and associated infrastructure and earthworks (b) outline 
permission, with all matters reserved except access, for the demolition of existing  buildings and the 
erection of up to 360 dwellings, flexibility for the following Use Classes:- A1 (retail), A2 (financial and 
professional services), A3 (restaurants and cafes) and D1 (non-residential institutions) fronting 
Lowfield Street, new internal access roads, car parking, sustainable urban drainage systems; and 
associated landscaping, infrastructure and earthworks.

Ward Town
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 18/01372/CDNA Date Issued 29/10/2018
Location Northern Gateway North Central Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of revised details relating to external materials pursuant to condition 4 of planning permission

 DA/17/01793/FUL for erection of two employment units for B1c (light industrial), B2 (general 
industrial) and B8 (storage or distribution) Use Classes, of up to 15,939 SQ M (GIA) including ancillary 
offices and structures, servicing areas and access roads, car parking and landscaping

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Page 15 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01373/CDNA Date Issued 14/11/2018
Location Northern Gateway North Central Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of revised details relating to acoustic fencing pursuant to condition 15 of planning 

permission DA/17/01793/FUL for erection of two employment units for B1c (light industrial), B2 
(general industrial) and B8 (storage or distribution) Use Classes, of up to 15,939 SQ M (GIA) including 
ancillary offices and structures, servicing areas and access roads, car parking and landscaping

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 18/01375/CDNA Date Issued 15/11/2018
Location Northern Gateway North Central Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to flood evacuation plan pursuant to condition 25 of planning permission 

DA/17/01793/FUL for erection of two employment units for B1c (light industrial), B2 (general industrial)
 and B8 (storage or distribution) Use Classes, of up to 15,939 SQ M (GIA) including ancillary offices 
and structures, servicing areas and access roads, car parking and landscaping

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 18/01376/CDNA Date Issued 29/10/2018
Location Northern Gateway North Central Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to external lighting pursuant to condition 38 of planning permission 

DA/17/01793/FUL for erection of two employment units for B1c (light industrial), B2 (general industrial)
 and B8 (storage or distribution) Use Classes, of up to 15,939 SQ M (GIA) including ancillary offices 
and structures, servicing areas and access roads, car parking and landscaping

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Plan Ref 18/01259/CDNA Date Issued 19/11/2018
Location Asda Superstores  Crossways Boulevard Dartford DA9 9BT
Proposal Submission of details relating to external lighting pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/18/00500/FUL for provision of a hand car wash with cabin and canopy, and composite fencing

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01196/CDNA Date Issued 07/11/2018
Location 189 Hawley Road Dartford DA1 1PB
Proposal Submission of details relating to noise (condition 4) and contamination (condition 6) pursuant to planning

 permission DA/18/00271/FUL for demolition of the former ambulance station and associated residential 
property, change of use of land and buildings to vehicle hire and sales depot (sui generis), including 
refurbishment and extension of existing (retained) workshop building to provide three bay workshop and
 dry valet; siting of a single storey modular building sales office; bunded surface level fuel tank; jet 
wash, bin store, cycle parking and resurfacing works.

Ward Princes
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Page 16 of 23



Plan Ref 18/00920/CDNA Date Issued 23/11/2018
Location Stone Lodge Complex Cotton Lane Stone Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to contamination pursuant to condition 4 (Parts 1-4) of planning 

permission DA/17/02105/FUL for provision of a sports facility (Rugby Club) including a two storey 
clubhouse, two rugby pitches with 18m high floodlights, car parking, security fence, 6m high catch net,
 relocated substation and associated landscaping

Ward Stone
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 18/01218/CDNA Date Issued 02/11/2018
Location Plot 2 Applegarth Drive Questor Wilmington Kent
Proposal Plot 2 - Submission of details relating to code of construction practice pursuant to condition 19 of 

planning permission DA/16/00190/FUL for erection of 1 No. Unit.

Ward Princes
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 18/01228/CDNA Date Issued 23/11/2018
Location McDonalds Restaurant 40 Priory Centre Dartford Kent DA1 2HR 
Proposal Submission of details relating to external materials and lighting pursuant to condition 3 of planning 

permission DA/18/00924/FUL for straighten/extend the shopfront (3.42 sqm2) with new single sliding 
doors; new internal LED screen by entrance door; 2 No. full height glazing to replace existing windows; 
New shopfront stall rises with black glazed tiles; Existing fascia's to be re-clad in Trespa Ral 6015.

Ward Town
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Jas Bansil

Plan Ref 18/01202/CDNA Date Issued 29/10/2018
Location The Bridge Plot 4 Rennie Drive Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to external materials pursuant to condition 7 of planning permission 

DA/18/00419/FUL for erection of two commercial buildings with a GEA of 4,211sqm with flexible 
permission for B1(c)/B2/B8 uses with associated access, service arrangements and landscaping

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Richard Elder

Plan Ref 17/02127/CDNA Date Issued 14/11/2018
Location Former Fox And Hounds Green Street Green Road Dartford Kent DA2 7JR 
Proposal Submission of details relating to a contaminated land assessment, including site investigation and 

remediation report pursuant to condition 6 of planning permission DA/16/01120/FUL for demolition of 
former public house and erection of 6 x 2 bed houses with access, parking, amenity space and 
associated landscaping

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Page 17 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01220/CDNA Date Issued 14/11/2018
Location Former Fox And Hounds Green Street Green Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Submission of details relating to archaeological works pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/16/01120/FUL for demolition of former public house and erection of 6 x 2 bed houses with access, 
parking, amenity space and associated landscaping

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01243/CDNA Date Issued 02/11/2018
Location Unit 1 Rennie Drive Dartford Kent DA1 5FD 
Proposal Submission of details relating to earthworks closure report pursuant to condition 21 (in part) for outline 

application DA/15/01434/OUT for erection of building for car dealership premises (Sui Generis use) 
comprising showroom, workshop, MoT and ancillary facilities, external parking areas, altered and new 
vehicular access points, new drainage infrastructure and enhanced retained ecological habitat (all matters
reserved except means of access and landscaping).

Ward Littlebrook
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01155/CDNA Date Issued 02/11/2018
Location McDonalds 476 Princes Road Dartford Kent DA1 1YT 
Proposal Submission of details relating to noise management plan pursuant to condition 3 of planning permission 

DA/18/00414/VCON in respect of changing opening hours of the restaurant 0500 to 2300 Mondays to 
Sundays including Bank Holidays and the drive-thru facility from 0700 to 2300 Mondays to Sundays 
including Bank Holidays to between 0500 to 2300 Mondays to Sundays including Bank Holidays for both
 the restaurant and drive-thru facility

Ward Brent
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01191/P3Q Date Issued 06/11/2018
Location Northview Barn Clement Street Swanley Kent BR8 7PQ 
Proposal Application under Schedule 2, Part 3, Class Q of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for change of use from agricultural 
building to 1 No. 3 bed residential unit and associated development

Ward Sutton At Hone & Hawley
Decision Prior Approval Required and Refused
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01198/P3O Date Issued 30/10/2018
Location 2nd Floor Instone House Instone Road Dartford Kent  
Proposal Application under Schedule 2, Part 3, Class O of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 2015 (as amended) as to whether prior approval is required for change of use from
 office (Class B1A) to residential (Class C3) to 3 x 1 bed residential dwellings

Ward Town
Decision Prior Approval Approved
Officer Jas Bansil

Page 18 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01331/CPO Date Issued 07/11/2018
Location Craylands Primary School Craylands Lane Swanscombe Kent DA10 0LP 
Proposal Consultation on an application for details of a travel plan pursuant to condition 4 of planning permission 

DA/16/01413

Ward Greenhithe
Decision EDC - Raises Concerns
Officer Matthew Apperley

Plan Ref 18/01343/PDE Date Issued 26/11/2018
Location 29 Warren Road Wilmington Kent DA1 1PS 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

 Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Wilmington
Decision Prior Approval Not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01292/PDE Date Issued 05/11/2018
Location 52 King Edward Avenue Dartford Kent DA1 2HY 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

 Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward West Hill
Decision Prior Approval Not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01142/PDE Date Issued 02/11/2018
Location 26 Havelock Road Dartford Kent DA1 3HX 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

 Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Heath
Decision Prior Approval Not Required
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01316/PDE Date Issued 12/11/2018
Location Kielder Green Street Green Road Dartford Kent DA2 8DH 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

 Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Bean & Darenth
Decision Prior Approval Not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 19 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01382/PDE Date Issued 19/11/2018
Location 14 Junction Road Dartford Kent DA1 2BA 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

 Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Town
Decision Prior Approval Required and Approved
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01297/PDE Date Issued 12/11/2018
Location 8 The Oaks Stone Kent DA2 6PF 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

 Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Newtown
Decision Prior Approval Required and Refused
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01406/EDCCON Date Issued 27/11/2018
Location Northfleet West Sub Station Southfleet Road Swanscombe Kent  
Proposal Consultation on an application for approval of condition 18 attached to planning permission reference 

EDC/16/0045 relating to submission of a detailed Affordable Housing Strategy (Phase 2C) within 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Observations made
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/00909/TPO Date Issued 08/11/2018
Location 15 Watermans Way Greenhithe Kent DA9 9GJ 
Proposal Application to remove 1 No. Sycamore tree subject to Tree Preservation Order No.11 1990
Ward Greenhithe
Decision Refusal TPO - Unnecessary and unjustified
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01266/TPO Date Issued 29/11/2018
Location Portland Place Ingress Park Greenhithe Kent  
Proposal Application to cut-back the lime tree outside 4 Portland Place such that its height does not exceed the 

level of the top of railing to the front second floor balcony of 4 Portland Place and its width does not 
exceed the outer edge of the ground floor window and to cut-back the remaining 9 Lime Trees to similar
dimensions, subject to Tree Preservation Order No. 11 1990

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Consent for TPO

Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01267/TPO Date Issued 22/11/2018
Location Rear Of 12 -16 The Dell Greenhithe Kent  
Proposal Application to cut back 1.5m from boundaries of 12-16 The Dell of Various trees (G4) subject to Tree 

Preservation Order No.11 1990

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Steven Bell

Page 20 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01268/TPO Date Issued 22/11/2018
Location East Of Mount Nod London Road Greenhithe Kent  
Proposal Application to coppice 1 No. Holm Oak tree (T377) subject to Tree Preservation Order No.11 1990
Ward Greenhithe
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01270/TPO Date Issued 22/11/2018
Location Adjacent 19 Watermans Way Greenhithe Kent DA9 9GJ 
Proposal Application to cut back from building giving 1.5m clearance of 1 No. Sycamore tree (T1) subject to 

Tree Preservation Order No.11 1990

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Consent for TPO
Officer Steven Bell

Plan Ref 18/01337/LDC Date Issued 13/11/2018
Location 61 Willow Road Dartford Kent DA1 2QG 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed erection of a rear conservatory
Ward Princes
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/00971/LDC Date Issued 25/10/2018
Location 114 Phoenix Court Black Eagle Drive Northfleet Kent DA11 9AZ 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed use of property as a short-term let
Ward Swanscombe
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs Emma Eisinger

Plan Ref 18/01274/LDC Date Issued 13/11/2018
Location 68A East Hill Dartford Kent DA1 1RZ 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed change of use from Class A1 

(Hairdressers/shop) to Class A2 (Financial and Professional Services)

Ward Newtown
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Plan Ref 18/01352/LDC Date Issued 13/11/2018
Location 21 Wood Close Bexley Kent DA5 2HX 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed demolition of existing rear conservatory 

and erection a single storey rear extension, provision of dormer window in rear elevation, roof lights in 
front elevation and 2nd floor obscure glazed window in flank elevation in connection with providing 
additional rooms in the roof space together with erection of a detached outbuilding

Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Mrs B Lidster

Page 21 of 23



Plan Ref 18/01192/LDC Date Issued 13/11/2018
Location 9 Salmon Road Dartford Kent DA1 5JB 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed use of conservatory as an administration 

office for a care agency

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01263/LDC Date Issued 14/11/2018
Location Copplestone Barn End Lane Wilmington Kent DA2 7PP 
Proposal Application for a Lawful Development Certificate for proposed of erection of detached garage
Ward Wilmington
Decision Planning Permission not Required
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01161/PDE Date Issued 29/10/2018
Location 14 Junction Road Dartford Kent DA1 2BA 
Proposal Determination pursuant to Schedule 2, Part 1 (Class A.1 (g) of the Town and Country Planning (General

 Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as to whether prior approval is required for the erection 
of a single storey rear extension

Ward Town
Decision Application Withdrawn

Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/01123/TPO Date Issued 28/11/2018
Location 5 Radzan Close Dartford Kent DA2 7WT 
Proposal Application to fell 2 No. Sorbus (Mountain Ash) T1 & T2 subject to Tree Preservation Order No.9 1995
Ward Joydens Wood
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Abigail Lavery

Plan Ref 18/00710/S106CD Date Issued 02/11/2018
Location Land East Of Lowfield Street Dartford
Proposal S106 Submission for central park landscaping pursuant to Sch1 Clause 4.2 of s106 dated 6/9/17 

planning permission 16/01919/FUL

Ward Town
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Mrs Sonia Bunn

Plan Ref 18/01269/TPO Date Issued 07/11/2018
Location Nature Trail North East Of Mount Nod London Road Greenhithe Kent  
Proposal Application to remove leaning limbs and deadwood from over footpath of 1 No. Ash tree (T415) subject

 to Tree Preservation Order No.11 1990

Ward Greenhithe
Decision Application Withdrawn
Officer Steven Bell

Page 22 of 23



Plan Ref 15/01369/CDNA Date Issued 25/10/2018
Location Northern Gateway East (former GlaxoSmithKline - Eastern Parcel) Bounded By Hythe Street, Mill Pond 

Road, Temple Hill And Central Road Dartford

Proposal Submission of details relating to street lighting (Condition 11(o) and 13(4)), external lighting (condition 
13(11) for phases 1-5, landscaping to public realm/landscaping (condition 11(r) and 13(2)) for phases 1,
 2, 3, 4, 5a, 5b and 5d,   cycle parking (condition 13(12)) for phases 1-5 for outline permission 
DA/11/00295/OUT for redevelopment to provide a residential led mixed-use development comprising 
between 950-1050 residential units (Class C3), with between 2,500 sq m to 5,000 sq m of flexible non-
residential uses comprising office uses (Class B1), retail, financial and professional services, restaurant, 
cafe and drinking establishment uses (Class A1/A2/A3/A4); and non-residential institutions/community 
and assembly and leisure uses (Class D1/D2); new landscaping, public and private open space; up to 
1,250 car parking spaces, cycle parking, access and other associated infrastructure works.

Ward Joyce Green
Decision Approval of Details for Conditions
Officer Sue Wright

Page 23 of 23




	Agenda
	 Update
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 8 November 2018
	6 18/01074/OUT Stone Lodge Complex, Cotton Lane, Stone, DA2 6PD
	7 18/00954/COU  Meeting Room Below 91 Hilltop Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 5JF
	8 18/01149/ FUL 7 New Barn Road, Southfleet, Kent, DA3 7LQ
	9 18/01141/VCON  Land adjacent to 1 North Road Dartford Kent DA1 3LS
	10 Development Control Quarterly Statistics
	11 Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers

